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We are a company ot entrepreneurs, with
associates who value every customer
interaction. Whether we are helping a welder
pick out the right safety goggles or developing
a tri-blenkd mass-flow mixing system for a food
processing company, we take pride in our
ability to find the best ways to partner with
our customers to solve their problems. There
is nothing standard about Airgas’ customer

service and attention. We want every customer

to feel like ONE@ 1N @ Million.
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To Our Shareholders, Customers, Associates and Friends:

As | write this letter to you, we are keeping a weather eye
on the U.S. economy. Qur business is still strong, despite
a general slowing of U.S. manufacturing over the last

year. Clearly things aren't as bad on Main Street, where
we live, as they have been on Wall Street. As soon as the
presidential campaigns began, which seems like decades
ago, everyone stared talking about a recession. Thankfully,
the Main Street economy hasn't cooperated. Despite all
the doom and gloom sounded by presidential hopefuls,
there are some bright spots worth noting.

First, here in the U.S., we continue te enjoy a long-term,
secular booem in energy and infrastructure construction.
Second, U.S. manufacturers, especially those that
manufacture sophisticated equipment for export or for
.S, non-residential construction projects, are doing well
because of a lower dollar, strong economies overseas, and
a world-wide infrastructure boom.

These two trends - plus continued strength in the
healthcare, life sciences, research, environmental, food
and beverage markets — continue to support our same-
store sales growth.

Qur major challenge right now is not the strength of the
economy, but severe inflation in many of our key cost
components — electricity, diesel fuel and steel. Ours is an
energy-intensive business, with electricity representing 60
to 70 percent of the cost of producing oxygen, nitrogen
and argon - our principal gases. Add to that the cost of
diesel fuel to deliver products in our 5,000 trucks to more
than 1 million customers. Now factor in the steel used to
manufacture cylinders and bulk tanks, which we need to
store and transport gases, as well as the steel that is the
primary raw material in welding filler metals.

Airgas remains committed to staying ahead of the cost
curve with appropriate pricing actions. Rather than
worrying about a recession that may eventually appear,

Peter McCausland

we remain focused on managing the things we can control.
It's a commitment that will require a lot of work and
dedication in this environment.

We also will be launching a program to reduce our carbon
footprint and will be saying more about that soon.

Built for long-term success

We continue to build Airgas for the long term, confident in
our ahility to weather any economic season. By focusing
on customer service enhancement and operating efficiency
gains, we are emerging as a great company that can reach
its long-term goals.

Just look at what we were able to accomplish in fiscal
2008: record earnings, record free cash flow and record
acquisitions. Earnings were $2.66 per diluted share
compared to $1.92 in the prior year. Free cash flow more
than doubled to $225 milion compared to $107 million
last year. And in terms of acquired revenues, fiscal 2008
was our second record year in a row, with 18 acquisitions
adding more than $500 million in annual revenues.

The largest was the Linde U.S. packaged gas business,
which added $346 million in annual revenue, We also
completed 17 other acquisitions that added another $160
million in annual revenue. Most were in our core business,
with $30 million added to our safety products, ammonia
and refrigerants businesses. These 18 acquisitions don't
include the mid-year conversion of our joint venture into our
newest regional company, Airgas National Welders, which
added to a busy year for corporate development.

Even as we invested in acquisition growth, our operating
culture grew even stronger, which helped us achieve
strong organic performance in a slow economic
environment.

QOverall sales grew 25% to $4 billion, with same-store
sales growth of 7%.

Airgas Annual Report 2008
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We continued to generate double-digit growth in our five
strategic product categories — bulk, specialty and medical
gas, carbon dioxide and dry ice, and safety products, which
make up about 40% of our total revenue. These strategic
product categories generated an average 11% organic
growth for the year by focusing en non-cyclical customer
segments, such as healthcare, life sciences, research, food
and baverage, and environmental.

To help sustain future growth of these strategic products,
we continued to build two new air separation units (ASUs)
in Indiana and Kentucky to augment the 14 ASUs we
operate today, and we began construction on a new carbon
dioxide plant in Texas.

In addition, our straiegic accounts business grew 13%

as our national infrastructure, broad praduct offering and

expanding expertise in engineering supply chain solutions
continue to create real value for customers with multiple
locations or complex needs.

One of our newest growth platforms, Airgas Specialty
Products, grew same-store sales more than 25% by
providing ammonia products and services, refrigerants and
reclamation services to utilities, petrochemical companies
and cther customers.

In the past year, Airgas also launched some major initiatives
to improve our efficiency, like more effective routing of
delivery trucks, our ultrasonic cylinder testing program and
plant efficiency studies. These programs, plus our ongoing
efforts to streamline all our internal processes and integrate
newly acquired operations, enabled us io meet the goals
we established for operating cost savings.

Meeting the needs of key markets

As we focused on offering more products and services

to more customers, we have continued to fine-tune

our operating mode! to key customer segments. We

now have specialists focusing on key markets, such as
heaithcare, life sciences, utilities, chemnical and process
industries, construction, food and beverage. These new
marketing groups, which combine the strength of operating
companies and national and regional sales associates, are
now engineering the right solutions that meet the unique
needs of customers.

QOur construction group is a good example of this new
targeted approach. More than two years ago, we began our
construction strategy by broadening our product offering
and focusing our service to meet the needs of infrastructure
construction customers. Now we are ready for stage two,
by combining into a single group our rental company,
Red-D-Arc, and our national construction sales and
marketing teams, which work closely with regional
specialists and associates at our 25 construction stores
nationwide, We just announced plans t¢ add another
operating company, with the acquisition of Qilind Safety,

a leader in safety equipment rental and safety services

to this market. In addition, Red-D-Arc has acquired A&N
Plant, a European company renting positioning equipment
and welders throughout Europe, Asia and the Middle East,
opening international markets.

Our initial strategy has paid off with construction sales
growing 35% in fiscal 2008, mostly to contractors involved
in energy and infrastructure construction. Construction now
accounts for 13% of our total revenue. With our new group
and added offerings, we expect even more,

A focus on core customers

While we have focused on new markets, we haven't

taken our eye off of our bread and butter - the small- and
medium-sized customers that walk into our branches every
day. A few years ago, we launched the Core Strategy |
program to make sure that we were very good at the basics
of serving these customers - stocking and replenishing our
stores with the gas and hardgoods they expected, providing
product and process training to our associates, and aligning
metrics and compensation to motivate our associates to
achieve local success.

Just recently, we launched Core Strategy Il, which will

take a hard and comprehensive look at the entire customer
experience at Airgas, including all the people, processes
and factors that influence that expernience. This pro-

gram will reach beyond the customerfacing functions in
our organization and into all of the support functions and
activities that ultimately factor into the final result.
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We expect the Core Strategy Il program to eliminate costly
rework, increase customer loyalty and generate higher
sales through betier retention and cross-selling. We are a
very goad company, and | think Core Strategy il will make
us a great company, a customer-centric organization that
ireats every customer — no matter what its size — like it is
onhe in a million — which is the theme of this year’s annual
report.

My goal over the next 12 to 24 months is to help Airgas
reach the day when customers, potential customers and
our competition say about us: “They're really good. They
consistently deliver value, whether it be in routine supply
of gases and hardgoods, or by providing special services
or solutions to unique challenges. The people at Airgas are
responsive and are good listeners. Airgas is changing the
game in customer service”

The power of Airgas people

The success of all of these programs comes down to
people. Since fiscal 2005, all leadership positions at Airgas
but one have been filled by internal candidates, which |
think validates the way we are developing our associates
and speaks 1o the drive, dedication and intelligence our
pecple bring to their jobs. | would like to thank all Airgas
associates for their hard work last year. They delivered
again and the results show it.

In the near future, the Airgas employee ranks will include

a number of new additions from the U.S, military. We are
all very proud about our new association with Operatian
Hornefront, a charity that supports America’s soldiers by
providing emergency assistance and moral support to the
families our troops leave behind when they are deployed
and to wounded service members when they return home.

Airgas has pledged $100,000 annually to Operation
Homefront over the next three years, with 70 percent
going toward projects to assist wounded soldiers. We also
have set a goal to hire 100 veterans of the wars in Irag
and Afghanistan over the next 12 months — and will offer
the Airgas "Welding 101" course to any veteran of Irag
and Afghanistan service interested in exploring a possible
career in welding. This effort is our way of saying thank
you to the men and women wha have sacrificed s0 much
for all of us.
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Addressing key challenges

In addition 1o our associates, | would also like to thank our
customers for their patience during the year despite product
shortages, plant outages and significant cost pressures.

As we address these challenges and work to maintain our
strong forward momentum, we are grateful for the guidance
and support we received from our board of directors and
shareholders throughout the year, Their understanding of
our company has enabied our stock price to reflect the

hard work and positive changes we've made at Airgas. We
continued to meet our commitment to our shareholders

by increasing our dividend commensurate to our growth

in earnings and free cash flow, boosting the yearoveryear
dividend payout by 39%. We also reinstated our share
repurchase plan in the fourth quarter and repurchased about
500,000 shares for $21.6 million, at an average price of
about $44.

[ feel as though Airgas has a lot of internal momentum,
much more than at any other time in our history and that
this momenturn has the potential for generating sales and
profit growth in excess of historical performance. At Airgas,
we are doing the right things for the long term, and we are
seeing some impressive improvement in all aspects of our
operations. Let the pessimists say the sky is falling. As a
realist, | see a strong, well-positioned company that is on
the rise.

Peter McCausland
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
June 86, 2008
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We helped ONE research center speed
the search for an HIV vaccine...




Airgas provides bulk gas solutions to life sciences
customers who need higher velumes of medical gases
for research.

At the Children’s Hospital of Pittsburgh of UPMC,
our eBusiness ordering system streamlines the gas
purchasing process and speeds delivery of vital
medical gases.

In the medical world, you have to get it right the first time — every time.

That's why many leading medical centers and biopharmaceutical companies

turn to Airgas for turnkey solutions.

Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center is a central player
in the search for an HIV vaccine, and Airgas is a key partner
in this process.

To accelerate the hunt for a vaccine, seven years ago the
National Institutes of Health formed an international collab-
oration of scientists and educators as part of the HIV Vaccine
Trials Network (HVTN). The laboratory analysis of recent tri-
als requires the transfer of blood samples from an East Coast
medical research center to an Airgas cryorepository located
at the Hutchinson Center in Seattle, Washington. These
samples are crucial to finding a vaccine to prevent HIV
infection. HVTN performs tests on the samples and makes
them available to other research groups around the world.

The Hutchinson Center relied on Airgas to provide and in-
stall a cryogenic storage system that could accommodate the
samples and pass inspection by the National Institutes of
Health Division of AIDS. In addition, they counted on us
to provide expert advice to support the safe transfer of the
samples on their cross-country trip. In every case, we
delivered, and as a result HIV vaccine research is moving

ahead.

Airgas is engineering vital solutions for many other medical
and life sciences customers. When a large California biotech
company working on cancer antibodies wanted to expand
its 1ab space, Airgas bulk gas specialists created a custom-
ized delivery system that could provide higher volumes of
ultra-high purity nitrogen and medical-grade carbon dioxide
—in bulk quantities and in tight quarters.

For the Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh of UPMC,
our eBusiness team developed an electronic ordering
nrocess that streamlines medical gas purchasing, speeds
delivery and provides the customer with a traceable record
of all orders.

And when a Florida dentist needed a nitrous oxide delivery
system for his practice, Airgas associates Sheri Scott and
Bernie Eagleston not only installed it, but spent a day edu-
cating him and his staff on how to safely and properly use it.

From the world's largest AIDS research project to a small-
town medical practice, Airgas has the products and expertise

needed to help our healers do their jobs and improve the lives

of millions of patients.

Airgas Annual Report 2008
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With laser cutting equipment from Airgas, industrial
and metal working customers can achieve high quality
surface finishes.

We provide robotic welding systems and the gases
to run them so manufacturing customers can perform
their welding work up 1o four times faster.

America’s backbone is made of metal, and Airgas is engineering

solutions to meet the needs of the manufacturing plants, fabrication plants

and welding shops that keep our country standing tall.

When Verhoff Machine and Welding in Continental, Ohio,
won a contract 1o produce metal tank brackets for the U.S.
Army, it came with a caveat, Verhoff had to reach full produc-
tion speed in just four weeks — so the Verhoff operaticns staff
reached out to the Airgas branch in nearby Lima.

The Airgas team immediately adopted the customer's
urgency. Welding specialist Nathan Moyer conducted a
cycle-time analysis of different rohotic welding systems and
recommended one that could handle the bracket's unique
shape and the heavy workload. Then he and service techni-
cian David Phegley speni 10 straight days at Verhoff install-
ing the robot, programming the sofiware and testing the
system. They didn't just deliver a part - they did their part to
ensure that this machine shop met its military commitment.

That's one small example of how we're building trust with
our core customer base, which makes up about half of
Airgas' revenues. You can find other examples every day, in
every corner of the country.

In Oregon, Airgas was the only company that could provide
QECO with a total solution that would allow this defense
electronics company to recreate harsh environmental con-
ditions and conduct thermal shock testing on its products.
Cryogenic specialist Wes Hanken created a custom system
that includes liquid and gas nitrogen, piping, solar-powered
telemetry systems and ongoing engineering consultation.

In Alahama, Brewion Iron Works began experiencing produc-
tion slowdowns after it moved 10 a thicker, three-inch metal
for its lines of sprockets and pulleys for the pulp and paper
industry. After analyzing the cutting and welding processes,
Airgas process specialist Buddy Franklin suggested chang-
es to the gas, cutting torch, oxygen regulator and wire, and
today Brewton is cuiting 50% faster and welding 30% faster.

By engineering the right solutions, Airgas associates helped
Applied Photon Technologies, a flash lamp manufacturer in
California, cut product failure rates five-fold, and enabled an
aluminum company in Chio to increase compressor speeds
10 times.

Manufacturers are facing tougher competition and a tight-
ening economy. At Airgas, we act as a trusted partner,
helping metal fab shops and production factories make their
processes faster and smarter — and their businesses better
able to compete,

Airgas Annual Report 2008
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Airgas provides EPA protocol gases to utilities and power
companies, enabling these customers (0 measure their emis-
sions to ensure they are within the Environmental Protection
Agency guidelines.

When a key ammonia pipeling was shut down, Airgas
provided a major petrochemical company with nearly
700 bulk truckloads of ammonia over the course of
39 days.

Petrochemical companies depend on Airgas for supply chain manage-

ment expertise. With sophisticated cylinder tracking tools and dedicated

personnel, we enable these high-volume gas users to stay organized

and operational.

When one of America’s largest petroleum companies gave
Airgas two months to install a cylinder tracking system,
we stepped on the gas. Through our OUTLOOK® Services
program, we helped ConocoPhillips get its gas cylinder sup-
ply and costs under control.

With OUTLOOK Services, we take on the burden of managing
the gas supply. Utilizing advanced cylinder management
tools like Airgas Inventory Management (AIM™), we can
identify the location and life cycle of every cylinder and
streamline the cylinder logistics process. Since we began
offering this service in 1994, we have saved packaged gas
customers more than $26 million in expenses and helped
them reduce inventories, gas consumption and gas-relaied
incidents. For ConccoPhillips, AIM will even notify them
ahead of time when cylinders with short-lived gas blends
need to be reordered.

OUTLOOK Services has a number of user-friendly features

available for customers. For Marathon Petroleumn - and
many other customers - we provide a dedicated truck and
a driver to manage their gases, clean cylinders and dewars,
customized full/empty tags, gas status and gas usage
reports, and a guarantee of 100% accuracy on all invoicing
and certifications. In this way, we'te helping them create
efficiencies to save time and money.

But there are times when even these solutions aren'i enough.
In emergencies, petrochemical customers need a company
like Airgas that can think and act fast. In early 2008, a 15-
mile anhydrous ammonia pipeline running to a large petro-
chemical manufacturer in Texas had to be shut down for an
inspection. Ten Airgas associates spent more than 5,500
hours working with the customer to safely clear the pipe-
line for inspection ang coordinate a continuous movement of
ammonia — by truck - to meet the petrochemical company's
needs during the pipeline shutdown. In all, they delivered
about cne bulk truck of ammenia every hour for nearly 40
straight days and completed the pipeline evacuation one
week ahead of schedule, saving the customer millions of
dollars in downtime.

Increasingly, customers warnt to outsource the most demand-
ing functions of supply chain management to experts. Airgas
offers the most comprehensive program in the indusiry for
managing the supply of gases, welding and safety products.
As a result, we are poised to grow with our customers as a
critical business pariner.

Airgas Annual Report 2008
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Airgas’ cryogenic equipment allows for faster food
{reezing, reduced dehydration and less maintenance
and downtime.

Our gases and engineering experiise make it possible
for food processors to keep their foed fresher for longer
with Modified Atmosphere Packaging.

You can eat king crab in Kansas and a Nebraska-bred burger in New York.

Frozen foods have changed the culinary landscape of this country, and

Airgas provides the freezing and cooling solutions food processors need to

preserve their delicious products.

Twenty years ago, Robert Webb went into business selling
aysters from a roadside stand in Panama City, Fiorida. Today,
his customers include national food service companies and
his market extends far beyond local residents and passing
motorists.,

Airgas’ equipment and expertise are helping Webb's Sea-
food open up its ovster business even further. When the
fast-growing company approachad us about the possibility
of freezing oysters on a half shell, we helped create a first-of-
its-kind solution.

Our bulk gas specialists and applications engineers installed
a food freezing tunnel fed by liquid nitrogen for the assembly
line. After running through a mild heat treatment and be-
ing shucked, Webb's oysters are cryogenically frozen by our
system o0 seal in all the flavors — with no freezer burn and a
long shelf life. It's the latest in oyster processing technology,
and with Airgas’ customized solution, suddenly the world is
Robert Webhb's oyster.

For all types of food processcrs, Airgas provides a full line
of freezing and cooling equipment to meet the most chal-
lenging requirements. Our cryogenic equipment allows for
faster freezing. reduced dehydration and low maintenance

and downtime. Our frozen foed application support ieam can
help determine the best gas and technology salutions. When
Italia Foods wanted to expand its line of frozen pastas, an
Airgas team developed a custom-engineered freezing appli-
cation to accommodate this new growth.

Airgas also provides Modified Atmosphere Packaging (MAP)
solutions to increase shelf life, enhance production efficiency
and help customers meet the growing demand for foods that
are preserved without additives or preservatives. A number
of beef and pork packagers in the Midwest are using our
innovative mass-flow mixing system that combines three
different gases tc package their meats.

At the far end of the food chain, supermarkets use Alrgas’
individual quick freezing {IGF) systems to keep their prod-
uct fresh and we give them much more than an off-the-shelf
solution. For Roundy's Supermarkets in Wisconsin, we not
only installed an IQF system in its production facility, but
supported it with testing, equipment sizing and an on-
going supply of bulk gas to improve their product handling
capabilities.

From gases to equipment to expertise, we have what it
takes for our customers to stay below zero - and ahead of
the competition.

Airgas Annual Report 2008
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We helped ONE construction comb:ﬁy -
push water back up a mountain...

VY S e

Construction worker wearing fall protecticn equipment from Airgas.
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Airgas has more than 500 products designed
for the construction market - from chop saws
to rental welders.

Airgas construction specialists like Scott Radtke sell

canstruction supplies used to build bridges, stadiums,
malls and power plants like this one in Cannon Falls,
Minnesota.

Construction companies must move fast to build — and rebuild — America's

infrastructure Olf highways, buildings, bridges, dams, power plants and pipe-

lines. Airgas is 1keeping pace so these customers can stay ahead of Mother

Nature and the ticking clocks that rule their business.

The Tom Sauk Reservoir sits like a giant concrete bowl at
the top of Missouri's 1,900-foot Proffit Mountain. In Decem-
ber 2005, a failure of the|upper reservoir sent nearly 1.5 bil-

lion gallons of water rushing down the mouniainside. Today,
teams of contractors are rebuilding the power-generating
teservoir, and Airgas is on-site providing the power tools,
safety products and gases they need to complete this engi-
neering feat.

Working with Ozark Constructors, the lead contractor for
the project, Airgas established twe temporary construction
stores — stocked with more than $100,000 of construction-
related supplies — at the bage of the mountain. We re-supply
the stores three times a week, so the 400-plus construction
workers working on the mountain each day can find what

they need, when they need it, without any wasted time.

Six hundred miles away|in Saginaw County, Michigan, a
similar set of trailers prow}de contractors with access to more
than 500 Airgas products|as they work to expand a semicon-
ductor complex. Business is hooming for solar panels and
computer chips, and this customer needs more production
space - pronto — to manufaciure the polycrystalline silicon
that powers these products. The store, which is staffed by

Airgas personnel, ensures that workers won't have to travel
20 miles to the nearest hardware store every time they need
a hammer, welding wire or personal protective equipment.

If Airgasisn't on location at a construction site, we're neaby.
We have 25 dedicated Airgas constructicn stores up and
running, with another 15 in the planning stages. Located
in construction hotspots like Las Vegas, Nevada and
Savage, Minnesota, these stores are staffed by construction
specialists and stocked with coastruction supplies and
rental welding machines.

We've got the right products on the shelves — and the right
people at our stores. Airgas drivers make gas deliveries 1o
highway contractors who are in different places each day,
and Airgas store personnel are con our customers’ clocks.
When Welded Construction installed a gas pipeline below
the Missouri River, account manager Darryl Langdon visited
the worksite on weekends, nights and holidays to make sure
workers always had enough welding and safety supplies to
keep the project moving forward.

There's a constant need for speed in construction — and
Airgas is fast becoming ihe go-to supplier for this market.

Airgas Annual Report 2008
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Airgas at a glance

Industrial Gases:
* Nearly 10 million cylinders supporting our custamers’ needs

»  Over 325 high-pressure ¢ylinder fill plants

» 19 acetylene manufacturing facilities

» Full range of industrial gases, including welding, shielding and
cutting gases

* Gas applications specialists with in-depth experience in
diverse industries

Bulk Gases:

* Airgas Merchant Gases focuses on production and
distribution of merchant volumes, providing a complete line
of bulk gases, storage tanks, related equipment and logistics
capabilities

* 14 air separation units to supply our distribution infrastructure
and independent bulk customers

+ Leading manufacturer of liquid carbon dioxide in the
Southeast

+«  Qwver 60 bulk gas specialists

= Application engineers providing gas application expertise
across mu'tiple industries

= Equipment design engineers with in-depth knowledge of
customer storage, supply systems and application equipment

«  Qver 12,000 bulk tanks

Specialty Gases:

= Largest U.S. specialty gas network, including 8 national

specialty gas facilities, approximately 85 regional labs,
1 research and development center and 2 equipment centers

+  Two-thirds of these specialty gas labs are ISO 9001:2000
registered, and 3 are also 1SO 17025 certified

* Products include research-grade, ultra-high purity and
specialty-blend gases, including gases for diving operations

» Applications in research, biotechnolegy, catibration and
emission monitoring

+ Supplier of related specialty gases equipment

Specialty Products;

+ Leading supplier of ammonia products and services in the

U.S. for nitrogen oxide abatement {DeNOx), metal finishing,
water treatment, chemical processing and refrigeration

«  Supplier of a full range of refrigerant products and services,
including reclamation and reuse of refrigerant gases

« Other products include process chemical gases

Medical Gases:

+ The leading U.S. distributor of medical gases and related
products through Airgas Puritan Medical divisions in every
regicn

« Serving hospitals, medical institutions, home healthcare
distributors, physicians’ practices, original medical equipment
manufacturers and other medical businesses

* More than 250 FDA-certified medical gas fill plants, including
over 30 medical-only facilities

« A full range of medical gases for respiratory therapy in liquid
and compressed gas forms, medical gas equipment, home
respiratory therapy equipment and related supplies

+ FDA compliant medical bulk gas systems, installation and
maintenance

Primary Gases:

* Nitrogen *  Oxygen

+ Argon +  Helium

* Hydrogen + Acetyleng

* Fuel gases * Nitrous oxide

* Carbon dioxide

Dry Ice:

* Leading U.S. producer of dry ice for customers in food
processing, food service, pharmaceutical and biotech
industries

« Largest wholesale distributor of dry ice to grocery and other
retail outlets naticnwide

Red-D-Arc?:
* Largest provider of welding and welding-related rental
products and services in North America

« A full range of rental welding and positioning equipment for
a variety of processes and applications as well as expert
product and process selection assistance

* Available through over 40 Red-D-Arc Service Centers and in
Airgas construction stores

* Products include welders, welding positioners, generators,
power distribution panels and specialty welding-related
equipment such as pipe bevellers, electrode ovens and
plasma cutters




butor of
arcdgoods

Airgas is the largest U.S. distri
packaged gases and welding h

INDUSTRIAL MANUFACTURING 25%

Serving a broad customer base

CONSTRUCTION 13%

MEDICAL 9%

REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 27%

PETROLEUM AND CHEMICALS 7%

AIRGAS...

Known locally nationwide, withjmore than 1,100 locations,

INTERMOUNTAIN
WEST
WEST (GASPRQ]

V;Velding Hardgoods:
Sales of welding hardgo
$1.2 billion

6 distribution centers str
branches and customers

\ ods, teols and abrasives approaching

eamline the supply chain to Airgas

Major distributer for lead
national buying power

ing welding hardgoods brands, with

Radnor® private-label praducts in welding hardgoods and
safety products, generating about $160 million in annual sales

Safety Products:
One of the largest U.S. cliistributors of safety products with
about 500 million in annual sales

Major distributor of lgading brands of personal protective
equipment and products! including head protection, eyewear,
footwear, respiratory pro'tection, environmental protection and
work safety products

Distributing approximately 25,000 products, all with same-day
| shipping, through branch and retail sales, as well as catalog,
eBusiness and telesales channels

Approximately 250 safety professionals integrated with our
national network to meet all our customers’ safety needs

FOOD PRODUCTS 6%

RETAIL AND WHOLESALE 4%

OTHER 3%

ANALYTICAL 2%

TRANSPORTATION 2%

UTILITIES 2%

Based on FY08 sales

-
EAST

NORTH CENTRAL

GREAT LAKES

IO AMERICA

NATIOMAL WELDERS

MID SOUTH

SOUTHWEST

SDUTH

Construction & MRO Supplies and Services:

Complete line of supplies for construction and maintenance/
repair operations (MRO) including industrial gases, shielding
and cutting gases, welding filler metals, power tools, rental
welders, workwear, head-to-toe protection and ermergency
response supplies

Construction specialists with national experience in
supplying a wide range of projects from 1,000-mile natural
gas pipelines to 60,000-seat stadiums

Special services including supply chain strategies, certified
welding inspectors and welding process specialists

OUTLOOK® Services:
Tailored programs to help customers manage supply chain
for gases, equipment and safety products

Substantially reduces total cost of ownership for customers

Services include site survey and assessment, transition
management, tctal gas management and cnsite
management of gas, eguipment and supplies
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Airgas Operating Companies and Presidents

Airgas East
Frederick E. Manley

Airgas Great Lakes
Kevin J. McBride

Airgas Intermountain
Douglas L. Jones

Airgas Mid America
J. Robert Hilliard

Airgas Mid South
Tarry L. Lodge

Airgas Nor Pac
Dan L. Tatro

Airgas North Central
Ronald J. Stark

Airgas Northern California
& Nevada
J. Samuel Thompson

Airgas South
L. Jay Sullivan

Airgas Southwest
J. Brent Sparks

Airgas West/Gaspro
Glen E. Irving

Airgas National Welders
Andrew R. Cichocki

Airgas Carbonic/Dry Ice
Philip J. Filer

Airgas Safety
Donald S. Carlino, Jr.

Airgas Specialty Products
Charles E. Broadus, Jr.

Red-D-Arc
Mitch M. Imielingki

{from Right to Left)

Peter McCausland / Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Robert M. McLaughlin / Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Robart H. Young, Jr. / Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Leslie J. Graff / Senior Vice President, Corporate Development

DwightT. Wilson / Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Robert A. Dougherty / Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer
Michael L. Molinini / Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Corporate Officers

Max D. Hooper
Division President, West

B. Shaun Powers
Division President, East

Ted R. Schulte
Division President, Gas Operations

HKelly P. Justice
Senior Vice President,
Airgas Puritan Medical

James A. Muller
Seniar Vice President,
Specialty Gas and Life Sciences

Michael E. Rohde
Senior Vice President,
Distribution Operations

Thomas $. Thoman
Senior Vice President,
Airgas Merchant Gases

Patrick M. Visintainer
Seniar Vice President, Sales

Todd R. Craun
Vice President,
Asscciate General Counsel

David E. Levin
Vice President, Hardgoods

Thomas M. Smyth
Vice President, Contraller

Joseph C. Sullivan
Vice President, Treasurer

Carey M. Verger
Vice President, Director of Tax

E. David Coyne
Director, Internal Audit




Al ydo, 1.

Financial Highlights

\irgas, Inc and Subsidiaries
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1) Definiuons of and reconcilianons between these inancial meines and their most comparable measure under generally accepled accounting pringiples are presented on pages 71 and 72
2} The computation of Return on Capital in fiscal 2004 excludes a special charge recaovery of $776 thousand reflecting lower estunates of the ulumate <ost of prior years” restuctuning activ'iies

>tockholder Return Performance

lelow 15 a graph companng the yearly change i the cumulative tatal stockbolder return on the Company's comman stack against the cumulaty;
otal return of the S&F MidCap 400 Chemicals Index and the S&P MidCap 400 Index for the five-year period that began Apnl 1, 2003 and endle
JAarch 317, 2008.

‘he Company believes the use of the S&P MidCap 400 Chemicals Index and the S&P MidCap 400 Index for purposes of this performanc
omparison is appropriate because Airgas is a component of the indices and they include companies of similar size to Airgas.

300 - R
250 e e . Airgas
S&P MidCap 400 Chemicals

200 __ _ - . . i S&P MidCap 400
150 -
100

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
farch 31 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 plili]
irgas $ 100.00 3 116.04 4 131.11 $ 216.20 $  234.81 $ 25534
&P MidCap 400 Chemicals $ 10000 % 13i.23 $ 167 55 $ 172.83 $ 210.88 § 22822
&P MidCap 400 % 100.00 3 149,10 $ 164.65 % 200.25 $ 21716 $ 202 02

& graph above assurmes that $100 was nvested on Apr: 1, 2003, nArgas, Inc commen siock, the SEP tAidCap 00 Chemcals Indew, and the $EP "NidCap 200 'ndex




Sclected fincncial data jor the Company: are presented in the tabile befow and
stoubd e vead it conjunction with Management's Discussion anel Annlvsis of

Fitrcial Condivion and Besubts of ¢ Yeerations dud the Company’s Consolidared

Selecte d Fin ancial Data Fivancial Starcoents and notes therete includvd freroin,
(hn thousands, except per share antonnts):
Years Ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006™ 2005 2004
Operating Results
Net sales $ 4,017,024 $ 3,205,051 $ 2,829,610 $ 2,367,782 $ 1,855,360
Depreciation and amortization 189,775 147,343 127,542 111,078 87,447
Special charge (recovery), net — — — - (776)
Operating income 476,146 341,452 268,758 202,454 168,544
Interest expense, net 89,860 60,180 53,812 51,245 42,357
Discount on securiization of trade recevables 17,031 13,630 9,371 4711 3,264
Loss on debt extinguishment — 12,099 — — —
Other income, net 1,507 1,601 2,462 1,129 1,472
Income taxes 144,184 99,883 77,866 54,261 47,659
Minonty interest n earmings of

consahdated affihate (3,230 (2,845) (2,656) (1,808) {452}
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate — — — — 4,365
Income from continuing operations 223,348 154,216 127,515 91,558 80,649
Income (loss) frem discantinued operations,

net of tax — — {1,424) 464 (457)
Cumulatwve effect of a change in accounting

pnnciple, net of tax — — (2,540) — —
Met earnings $ 223,348 $ 154,416 $ 123,551 b3 92,022 $ 80,192
Net Earnings per Common Share
Basic

Earmings from continuing operations b3 274 $ 198 $ 1.66 $ 1.22 $ Pl

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations — - (002) 0.01 oon

Cumulative effect of a change In

accounting priaciple — — (0.03) — —

Net earnings per share $ 274 3 198 $ 1.61 $ 1.23 $ 110
Diluted

Earmings from continuing operations $ 2 66 $ 1.92 $ 1.62 3 1.19 $ 108

Earmings (loss) from discontinued operations — — (0.02) oM (@01)

Cumulatwe effect of & change in

accounting pnnciple - — (0.03} — —

Net earnings per share b3 266 % 192 $ 1.57 $ 1.20 3 107
Jvidends per common share declared

and pad * b3 039 3 028 $ 0.24 % 0.18 $ 016
Balance Sheet Data at March 31:
Norking capttal $ 132,323 $ 121,543 S (17,138) 3 132,969 3 88,826
otal assets 3,979,261 3,333,457 2,474,412 2,291,863 1,960,606
-urrent portion of long-term debt 40,400 40,296 131,901 6,948 6,140
ong-term debt 1,539,648 1,309,719 635,726 801,635 682,698
Yeferred Income tax liabihty, net 439,782 373,246 327,818 282,186 253,529
dther nan-current abilities 80,104 39,963 30,864 24,391 28,756
Ainonty interest in affiiate — 57,191 57,19 36,19 36,191
tockhelders” equity 1.413,336 1,125,382 947,159 814,172 691,901
apital expenditures for years ended March 31, 267,378 238,274 208,603 167,977 93,74¢

) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of (4} The resulls for fiscal 2005 mclude miegration costs relaied tg the acquisiion of the U S packaged

Operators and i the notes to the Corvany's Consaldated Frnancal Statements, the results for
liscal 2008 nclude a ore tme, non-cash ¢harge of $2 5 milton, or $0 03 per d:uied share. reigied
1e the Matonal Welders Exchange Transacnon through which the joint venture became 3 100%
owned subsidiary Alsa included in the rasults Tor fiscal 2008 1s a tax beneht of 31 3 million, or
$0 01 per d.luted share, due 10 4 change in Texas state wcome 1ax law Fscal 2008 acquisition
nfegralon osts, prnaipally related to the Linde Bulk Gas and Lade Package Gas acquisitions,
were $10 1 miuon (362 millon after tax). Stock -based tompensation eapense in fiscal 2008 was
S166m aon (S11 3 million after tax), or $0 13 per diluted shara

As discussed e Blanagerent’s Discussion and Anaysis of Faancal Cond tion and Results of
Operations and 1 the nates to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, the results (or
liscal 2007 nclude a charge of $12 1 me o ($7.9 mill-on after lax), or approx-mately $6.10 per
g yied share, for tte ear'y extinguishment of debt and a tax benefic of $0 02 per diluted share
related o @ change in Texas state come tax law The Company also adepted Statement of
Finanaial Accourting Standards No 123R, Share Based Payment, uthzing the modified prospective
rethod i fiucal 2007 Under the madi ed prospecuve methed, no stock based compensator
expense was reflected in pangds pror to fiscal 2007 Stock-hased compensal-on expense 1n fiscal
2007 was $15.4 miihon ($10 9 nuthan afrer 1ax), of $0 13 per diluted share

Tre results for fiscal 2006 include an after tax charge of $2 5 milion as a resu.t of the adoption of
firaeca! Accouriirg Standatds Board Interpretabion Ko 47, Accounting for Canditional Asset
Retwement Obligations, an iterprotation of FASB Statement No, M3, which was reconded as a
cumalaive elfeci of a thange m accounting princ:ple, an atter tax loss of $1 9 millon on the divast

ture of Rutlard Tog!, which was reporied as a dscont nued aperaton, and an eshmated loss of $2 2
wIhon ($1 4 mdlon alter 1ax) related to hurmcanes Katnna and Rita Working capital decreased in
[15¢al 2006 compareel 10 2005 nrimanily doo 1n an i asen wy sho copes cnepe cd e | - i

(s

6

gds bus.ness of The BOC Group, Inc and enmp'eyee separation ¢osty of $6 4 milion (54 millan akier
lax). Fiscal 2005 a%0 reflected a lull year of hational \Welders a3 & tonso!duted afihate See Mote
13 1o the Consolidared Financial Statements

The res'ts for fiscal 2004 nelude a fourth quarter special charge recovery of $776 thousend (5480
thousard atier tax] reflectng lower estmates of the uiimate cost of proor years' restructunng
dctaties. Frscal 2004 results also incfude the fourth quarter consohidation of the Natonal Welders
Joint venture in accordance with Finangial Account ng Standards Board Interpretation No 46R,
Comaldation of Vanable Interest Enttres, (*FIN 46R") See Note 13 to [he Conse’ dated F ngnca’
Statements Pnor to the adoption of FIN 46R, the Company used the equity method of accounung
for its nvestment in Nanonal Welders, Accordingly, the consoldabion of Nananal Welders under
FIid 367 did nio! have an impads on the Corr pany's nel parnings

I the fourth quarter of liscal 2008, the Company paid a reqular quarterly cash dosdend of $0 12
per share. During the lirst thiee quarters of hscal 2008, liscal 2007, fiscal 2008, hiscal 2005 and
fisea! 2004, the Company paid s stockholders 1eguiar quarier’y cash dwiderds of S0 09, $0 07,
$0 06. 50 045 and S0 04 ger sho-s, respectvely In addition, on 'lay 20, 2008, the Company's
Board of Directors declared a rogular Quarterly cash dividend of $0 12 per share payable June 30,
2008 1o stackholders of record us of June 2, 2008 Fulure dwidend decloations and associated
amounts pad vill deperd upor the Company's earmings, inanciz' conditon, ‘oan coverants,
capital ieguirements and ather factors deemed refevant by management and the Compary’s Board
ol Directors




Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Results of Operations: 2008 Compared to 2007

Overview
Airgas, Inc. and its subsidiaries {“Airgas” or the “Company”) had
net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008 (“fiscal 2008” or
“current year”) of $4 billi(:mI compared to $3.2 billion for the fiscal
year ended March 31, 2007 (“fiscal 2007” or “prior year”). Net
sales increased by 25% in fiscal 2008 driven by the impact of
current and prior year acquisitions and strong same-store sales
growth, Acquisitions accounted for 18% of overall sales growth,
primarily driven by the two[Linde AG acquisitions, described
below. Same-store sales growth contributed 7% to the increase in

total sales, driven equally b)i pricing and higher sales volumes.
Sales growth related to pricing reflected price increases, which
were designed to offset rising product, operating and distribution
costs. Higher sales volumes resulted from continued strength in
the following: energy and infrastructure construction, medical,
food products, environmental, analytical and life sciences
customer segments, as well as modest growth of other industrial
markets served by the Company. The Company’s strategic
products and related growth initiatives, described below, also
contributed significantly to[overall sales growth in fiscal 2008.

Strong operating leverage on sales growth resulted in a 120 basis
point expansion in the operating income margin to 11.9% in
fiscal 2008 compared to 10.7% in the prior year. Net earnings per
diluted share grew 39% to $2.66 in fiscal 2008 versus §1.92 in the
prior year. Fiscal 2008 inclulded a one-time, non-cash charge of
$0.03 per diluted share relalted to the conversion of National
Welders Supply Company, Inc. (“National Welders”) from a joint
venture to a 100% owned subsidiary, and $0.01 per diluted share
tax benefit related to a change in state tax law. Fiscal 2007
included a charge of approximately $0.10 per diluted share from
the redemption of the Company’s 9.125% senior subordinated
notes and a $0.02 per diluted share tax benefit from a change in
state income tax law.

Acquisitions
Fiscal 2008 was a landmark acquisition year for the Company with
a total of 18 businesses acquired that generate aggregate annual
revenues of more than $50(|) million. The largest of these
acquisitions was the June 3|0, 2007 acquisition of the U.S.
packaged gas operations of Linde AG (“Linde Packaged Gas”) for
$310 million in cash. The acquisition of Linde Packaged Gas
included 130 locations in 18 states, with more than 1,400
employees. The acquired business is involved in the distribution of
packaged gases and related|hardgoods. Linde Packaged Gas
generated $346 million in annual revenues during calendar year
2006. Of the 130 locations Im:quircd, 113 locations were merged
into the operations of seven regional companies in the
Distribution business segment while 17 branches were merged

" into the operations of Natilonal Welders, included in the All Other
Operatiens business segment. In addition, during fiscal 2008, the
Company acquired 17 other businesses and settled acquisition

Airgas, Inc. AL

holdback liabilities for cash consideration of $170 million. These
other acquired businesses generated aggregate annual revenues of
more than $160 million.

Fiscal 2008 financial results also reflect the impact of prior year
acquisitions. The most significant of these was the March 9, 2007
acquisition of the divested U.S. bulk gas assets of Linde AG
{“Linde Bulk Gas”) for $495 million in cash. The Linde Bulk Gas
acquisition included eight air separation plants and related bulk
gas business with about 300 employees. The acquired business
produces and distributes oxygen, nitrogen and argon and
generated $176 million in annual revenues during calendar year
2006, The acquired business was renamed "Airgas Merchant Gases”
and now manages production, distribution and administrative
functions for seven of the air separation plants. One air separation
plant and its aligned sales were transferred to National Welders.
Airgas Merchant Gases is reflected in the Company’s All Other
Operations business segment. Most of the acquired Linde Bulk Gas
customers and related service equipment were transferred to
existing Distribution business units. Airgas Merchant Gases
principally operates as an internal supplier of bulk oxygen,
nitrogen and argon to the business units in the Distribution
business segment.

National Welders Exchange Transaction

On July 3, 2007, the preferred stockholders of National Welders
exchanged their preferred shares of National Welders for 2.47 mil-
lion shares of Airgas common stock {the “National Welders
Exchange Transaction”). Upon the exchange, National Welders,
formerly a consolidated joint venture, became a 100% owned sub-
sidiary of Airgas. As part of the negotiated exchange, in addition to
the shares of Airgas common stock the preferred stockholders had
the option to acquire, the Company issued an additional 144 thou-
sand Airgas shares (included in the 2.47 million shares) to the
preferred stockholders, which resulted in a one-time net after-tax
charge of §2.5 million, or §0.03 per diluted share. In connection
with the National Welders Exchange Transaction, the Company
amended its senior credit facility to increase the size of its U.S. dol-
lar revolving credit line by $100 million to refinance National
Weldets' debt assumed in the transaction. See Note 13 to the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of
the National Welders Exchange Transaction.

Strategic Products

Sales of strategic products generated strong growth of 10% in
fiscal 2008, Strategic products include safety products, medical,
specialty and bulk gases as well as carbon dioxide and dry ice. The
Company has focused on these preducts over the last decade to
broaden its product portfolio and diversify against traditional
industrial cyclicality. Many of the strategic products are sold to
customers in non-cyclical sectors of the economy, including
medical, life sciences, food processing and environmental markets.
In addition, some of these products represent a strong cross-selling
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Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

oppertunity within our broad base of existing customers. The
Company believes its focus on these strategic products and
markets will help to mitigate the impact of a slowing economic
envirenment.

Supply Constraints

The industrial gas industry is working through supply constraints
related to certain gases, such as hetium, argen and carbon dioxide.
Throughout fiscal 2008, there has been an industry-wide helium
shortage resulting in a significant increase in helium costs and
reduced volumes available for sale. More recently, the Company’s
helium supply constraints have been mitigated through new
supply agreements and relaxed allocations. The Company’s
position in argon is also constrained, but has improved recently, as
new sources have eased some of the supply issues and gas
production capacity is at its highest during the winter months due
to lower ambient air temperatures. The Company believes that it
will continue to be able to keep its customers supplied by
constantly evaluating and improving product sourcing strategies.

In some areas of the country, carbon dioxide is also under pressure,
as old supply sources have been depleted without being replaced. In
October 2007, the Company announced an agreement with Shell
Oil to build a 450 ton-per-day plant in Deer Park, Texas, to better
serve the Houston and South Texas areas. The Deer Park plant is
expected to begin operating by January 2009. The Company also
announced a joint marketing atliance with Renew Energy, LLC,
Wisconsin’s newest and largest ethanol plant, which will enable
Airgas’ carbon dioxide subsidiary to market beverage-grade liquid
carbon dioxide co-product from the plant. The Company began
distributing carbon dioxide under the marketing alliance in March
2008. The Company will continue to search for new supply sources
of carbon dioxide in areas in which supply is limited.

Reinstated Stock Repurchase Plan

In November 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a
stock repurchase plan {the “Repurchase Plan”) that provided the
Company with the authorization to repurchase up to $150 million
of its common stock. The Repurchase Plan was suspended in July
2006 while the Company consummated its acquisitions of Linde
AG’s U.S. bulk and packaged gas assets. In March 2008, the
Company reinstated its Repurchase Plan and repurchased 496
thousand shares for $21.6 million. As of March 31, 2008, the
Company has the remaining authorization to spend up to $116
million on future purchases of its common stock under the
Repurchase Plan.
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Income Statement Commentary

Net Sales

Net sales increased 25% in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007
driven by acquisition growth of 18% and strong same-store sales
growth of 7%. Pricing and volume sales gains contributed equally
to same-store sales growth. The Company estimates same-store
sales based on a comparison of current period sales to prior period
sales, adjusted for acquisitions and divestitures. The pro forma
adjustments consist of adding acquired sales to, or subtracting sales
of divested operations from, sales reported in the prior period. The
table below reflects actual sales and does not include the pro forma
adjustments used in calculating the same-store sales metric. The
intercompany eliminations represent sales from the All Other
Operations business segment to the Distribution business segment.

(In thousands} 2008 2007 Increase
Oistribution § 3344064 § 2,691,814 § 652,250 24%

All Other Cperations 839,757 579,671 260,086 45%
Intercompany
eliminations (166,797) (66,434) (100,363)
$ 4,017,024 § 3,205,051 § 811,973 25%

The Distribution business segment’s principal products include
industrial, medical and specialty gases, and process chemicals;
cylinder and equipment rental; and hardgoods. Industrial, medical
and specialty gases are distributed in cylinders and bulk
containers. Equipment rental fees are generally charged on
cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers, bulk and micro-bulk tanks,
tube trailers and welding equipment. Hardgoods consist of
welding consumables and equipment, safety products, and
maintenance, repair and operating (*MRO") supplies.

Distribution business segment sales increased 24% compared to the
prior year driven by sales contributed by both current and prior
year acquisitions of $431 million and same-store sales growth of
$221 million {79%). Sales growth from acquired businesses was
principally attributable to the acquisitions of Linde Bulk Gas and
Linde Packaged Gas customers that are now served by the
Distribution business segment. The increase in Distribution same-
store sales resulted from gas and rent same-store sales growth of
$135 million (8%} and higher hardgoods sales of $86 million (6%).
Strong same-store sales growth in the Company’s core gas and
welding hardgoods business reflected broad-based demand from
industrial markets as well as strong demand in the energy and
infrastructure construction sectors, which include projects such as
power plants, refineries, pipelines, water treatment plants, bridges
and airports. The Distribution business segment’s sales were also
driven by strong sales growth of strategic products. Fiscal 2008
acquisitions are expected to contribute more than $180 million to
the Distribution business segment sales growth in fiscal 2009.
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The Distribution segment’s gas and rent same-store sales growth
of 8% reflects both price increases and volume growth, which
contributed equally to sales growth. Sales of strategic gas products
increased 12% driven by buik, medical and specialty gas sales
gains. Bulk gas sales volumes were up 14% reflecting volume
growth from enhanced production capabilities and expanded
geographic market coverage associated with the Linde Bulk Gas
acquisition, The Company’s strong position as a bulk gas
distributor also helped increase the number of new bulk customer
contracts signed during the year. Medical gas sales grew 9%
attributable to continued success with the hospital, physician and
dental care markets, all of which have strong future growth
prospects. The Walk-Oz-Bonlxt@ medical cylinder program tailored
for the respiratory therapy market also contributed to medical gas
sales. Strong specialty gas sales growth of 12% was driven by
demand from key customers in bio-tech, life sciences, research,
and environmental monitoring markets. The Company expects
these specialty gas markets to continue to propel specialty gas sales
growth in the future. Renta] revenues benefited from the
Company’s rental welder business that generated 24% same-store
sales growth in the current year. The Company’s rental welder
business was helped by its sales concentration in energy and
infrastructure construction.

Hardgoods same-store sales growth of 6% reflects both volume and
price gains, which contributed about equally to growth. The
Company’s successful Radnor® private label brand of products
generated sales growth of 24% in the current year, reaching a total
of $159 million. Sales of Radnor brand products were helped by the
stocking of these products in the branch stores obtained from the
Linde Packaged Gas acquisition. Same-store sales of safety products
increased 8% resulting from the success of the telemarketing
operations {telesales) and effective cross-selling of safety products
to new and existing customers. Hardgoods same-store sales growth
slowed to 4% in the fourth quarter driven by lower volumes
reflecting the recent slowness in certain industrial markets.

The All Other Operations business segment consists of the
Comypany’s Gas Operations Division, Airgas Merchant Gases and
National Welders. The Gas Operations Division produces andfor
distributes certain gas products, principally carbon dioxide, dry
ice, nitrous oxide, specialty gases, anhydrous ammonia, refriger-
ants and related supplies, sFrvices and equipment. The Linde Bulk
Gas business acquired in March 2007 and renamed “Airgas
Merchant Gases” manages production, distribution and adminis-
trative functions for the ac'quired air separation plants. Airgas
Merchant Gases principally acts as an internal wholesale supplier
to the Distribution busineds segment. The business units in the
Distribution business segment manage the customer relationships
and bill the bulk gas customers. Accordingly, the majority of the
operating profits related to bulk gas sales are reported in the
Distribution business segment. National Welders is a producer and
distributor of industrial, medical and specialty gases and hard-
goods principally in North Carolina and South Carolina.

Airgas, Inc. QIR

Fiscal 2008 sales of the All Other Operations’ business segment
increased $260 million (45%) compared to the prior year resulting
from acquisitions and same-store sales growth. Acquisitions
contributed 36% to the segment’s sales growth, which was
primarily driven by sales of $109 million of acquired sales from
Airgas Merchant Gases. Sales of Airgas Merchant Gases to the
Distribution business segment also drove much of the increase in
intercompany sales, which are eliminated in consolidation. The
addition of National Welders’ portion of the acquired Linde
Packaged Gas business contributed $44 million to acquired sales.
Other acquisitions in this segment included refrigerant businesses,
which contributed $37 million to acquired sales. Same-store sales
growth of 9% was driven by sales gains of anhydrous ammonia,
refrigerant and carbon dioxide products. Sales volume gains of
ammonia resulted from strong demand from customers in the
chemical production industry. Sales growth of refrigerants was
driven by higher volumes, particularly in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2008, as customers sourced product in advance of the
warmer summer months. Sales growth of carbon dioxide and dry
ice reflected continued success in the food processing, food and
beverage service, pharmaceutical and biotech industries.

Gross Profits

Gross profits do not reflect depreciation expense and distribution
costs. As disclosed in Note { to the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements, the Company reflects distribution costs as an
element of Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses and
recognizes depreciation on all its plant and equipment in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings line “Depreciation.” Other
companies may report certain or all of these costs as elements

of their Cost of Products Sold and, as such, the Company's gross
profits discussed below may not be comparable to those of

other entities.

Gross profits increased 28% principally from acquisitions and sales
growth. The gross margin in the current year increased 90 basis
points to 52.0% compared to 51.1% in the prior year, with the
increase driven primarily by a favorable shift in product mix
towards higher-margin gas as well as the impact of pricing.

(In thousands) 2008 2007 Increase

Distribution $ 1,671,883 $ 1,336,447 § 335,436 25%

All Qther Operations 418,715 301,514 117,201 39%
$ 2,000,598 9§ 1,637,961 § 452,637 28%

The Distribution business segment’s gross profits increased 25%
compared to the prior year. The Distribution business segment’s
gross margin was 50% versus 49.6% in the prior year. The 40 basis
point increase in the gross margin reflected the favorable shift in
product mix toward gas and rent as well as the impact of price
increases. Gas and rent as a percentage of the Distribution business
segment’s sales was 54.1% in the current year as compared to
52.0% in the prior year.
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The All Other Operations business segment’s gross profits
increased 39% primarily from acquisitions, Gross profit growth of
30% from acquisitions was principally due to Airgas Merchant
Gases, the addition of National Welders' portion of the Linde
Packaged Gas acquisition and the acquired refrigerant businesses.
The remaining gross profit growth of 9% was primarily driven by
strong sales growth of anhydrous ammenia, refrigerant and
carbon dioxide products. The segment’s gross margin decreased
210 basis points to 49.9% versus 52.0% in the prior year driven by
the addition of Airgas Merchant Gases, which has lower gross
margins than the other businesses in the All Other Operations
business segment. Airgas Merchant Gases acts as an internal
wholesale supplier of bulk gases to business units in the
Distribution business segment.

Operating Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative (“SD&A”) expenses consist
of labor and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing
and distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs
associated with a variety of administrative functions such as legal,
treasury, accounting, tax and facility-related expenses.

As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expense decreased 40 basis
points to 35.5% coipared to 35.9% in the prior year reflecting
improved cost leverage and effective cost management. SD&A
expenses increased $276 million (24%) primarily from operating
costs of acquired businesses and higher variable expenses
associated with the growth in sales volumes. Acquisitions
contributed estimated incremental SD&A expenses of
approximately $186 million in the current year, including
integration expenses of $10 million principally related to the Linde
Packaged Gas acquisition, The increase in SD&A expense
attributable to factors other than acquisitions was approximately
$90 million, or an increase of 7%, primarily due to salaries and
wages and distribution-related expenses. The increase in salaries
and wages reflected increased operational headcounts, wage
inflation, and overtime to fill cylinders, deliver products and
operate facilities to meet increased customer demand. The increase
in distribution expenses was attributable to higher fuel and vehicle
repair and maintenance costs. Higher fuel and vehicle
maintenance costs were related to the increase in miles driven to
support sales growth. Average diesel fuel prices were also higher
versus the prior year.

Depreciation expense of $176 million increased $37 million (27%}
compared to the prior year. Acquired businesses added
approximately $28 million to depreciation expense. The remainder
of the increase primarily reflects the curtent and prior year’s
capital investments in revenue generating assets to support
customer demand, primarily cylinders, bulk tanks and rental
welders, as well as the addition of new fill plants and branch stores,
Amortization expense of $14 million was $5 million {64%;) higher
than the prior year driven by the amortization of customer lists
and non-compete agreements associated with acquisitions.
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Operating Income

Operating income increased 39% in the current year driven by
higher sales levels and margin improvement. Improved cost leverage
on sales growth was the primary contributor to a 120 basis point
increase in the operating income margin to 11.9% compared to
10.79% in the prior year. Acquisition integration costs principally
associated with the Linde Packaged Gas acquisition reduced the
operating income margin by approximately 25 basis points.

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Distribution $ 388,100 % 266,708
All Other Operations 28,046 74,744

$ 476,146 % 341,452

Increase
$ 121,392 46%
13,302 18%
$ 134,694 39%

Operating income in the Distribution business segment increased
46% in the current year. The Distribution business segment’s
operating income margin increased 170 basis points to 11.6%
compared to 9.9% in the prior year. The significant margin
improvement was driven by continued operating profit leverage on
sales growth, effective management of costs and pricing and the
addition of the distribution customers from the Linde Bulk Gas
business, which contributed approximately 80 basis points of the
operating margin increase. Acquisition integration costs primarily
related to the Linde Packaged Gas acquisition reduced the
Distribution business segment’s operating income margin by
approximately 25 basis points.

Operating income in the All Other Operations business segment
increased 18% compared to the prior year, principally driven by
acquisitions. The segment’s operating income margin of 10.5%
was 240 basis points lower than 12.9% in the prior year. Airgas
Merchant Gases’ internal transfer pricing on sales to the
Distribution business segment was responsible for 150 basis points
of the operating income margin decline. Another factor
contributing to the decline in the operating income margin was
the addition of National Welders’ portion of the Linde Packaged
Gas acquisition and its related integration costs.

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade
Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade
receivables totaled $107 million representing an increase of 45%
compared to the prior year. The increase primarily resulted from
higher average debt levels associated with acquisitions and a larger
securitization program, partially offset by lower weighted-average
interest rates related to the Company’s variable rate debt
instruments and the refinancing of the 9.125% senior
subordinated notes in the prior year. See the discussion of the
refinancing of the senior subordinated notes under the section
Loss on Debt Extinguishment, below.
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The Company participates in a securitization agreement with three
commercial banks to sell up to 5360 million of qualifying trade
receivables. The amount of putstanding receivables under the
agreement was $360 million at March 31, 2008 versus $264 million
at March 31, 2007. Net procleeds from the sale of trade receivables
were used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving
credit facilities. The discount on the securitization of trade
receivables represents the difference between the carrying value of
the receivables and the proceeds from their sale. The amount of
the discount varies on a molnthly basis depending on the amount
of receivables sold and market rates.

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company
manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in
interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the interest
rate swap agreements and the trade receivables securitization, the
Company’s ratio of fixed to :variable rate debt at March 31, 2008
was 40% fixed to 609 variable. A majority of the Company’s
variable rate debt is based on a spread over the London Interbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Balsed on the Company’s fixed to variable
interest rate ratio, for every 25 basis point increase in LIBOR, the
Company estimates that its annual interest expense would increase
approximately $3 million.

Loss on Debt Extinguishment

On October 27, 2006, the Company redeemed its $225 million
9.125% senior subordinated notes at a premium of 104.563% with
borrewings under the Company'’s revolving credit facility. In
conjunction with the redcn]'ption, the Company recognized a
charge on the early cxtingui'shment of debt of $12.1 million (§7.9
million after tax), or approximately $0.10 per diluted share, The
charge related to the redemption premium and the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs.

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 38.9% of pre-tax earnings in the
current year compared to 38.8% in the prior year. The current and
prior year periods include tax benefits associated with a change in
the Texas state income tax law, which reduced the effective tax rate
by 0.3% and 0.7%, respectivlely. The prior year tax benefit resulted
from the initial change in the law and the current year tax benefit
was based on additional guidance issued by the state of Texas. These
tax benefits reflect the reduction of deferred tax liabilities previously
established for temporary differences under the prior state tax law.
The fiscal 2007 tax rate also reflects the absence of state tax benefits
associated with the loss on the extinguishment of debt.

Airgas, Inc. AL

Net Earnings

Net earnings were $223 million, or $2.66 per diluted share, com-
pared to $154 million, or $1.92 per diluted share, in the prior year.
The current year included a one-time, non-cash charge of $0.03
per diluted share related to the conversion of National Welders
from a joint venture to a 100% owned subsidiary, and $0.01 per
diluted share tax benefit related to a change in Texas state income
tax law. The prior year period included a charge of approximately
$0.10 per diluted share from the early extinguishment of debt and
a $0.02 per diluted share tax benefit from a change in Texas state
income tax law.

Results of Operations: 2007 Compared to 2006

Overview

The Company had net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31,
2007 (“fiscal 2007") of $3.20 billion compared to $2.83 billion for
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 (“fiscal 2006"). Net sales
increased by 13% driven by strong same-store sales growth and the
impact of acquisitions. Same-store sales growth contributed 8% to
the increase in total sales. Same-store sales growth was driven
equally by pricing initiatives and higher sales volumes. Price
increases were initiated in response to rising product, operating
and distribution costs. Higher sales volumes resulted from the
continued strength of the industrial economy, the non-residential
construction environment, and the continued success of the
Company’s growth initiatives. Acquisitions continue to be an
important component of the Company’s growth contributing 5%
to the overall increase in net sales. Operating income margin
expanded 120 basis points in fiscal 2007 to 10.7% compared to
9,5% in fiscal 2006 reflecting continued operating leverage. Solid
sales growth and operating expense discipline resulted in income
from continuing operations of $154 million, or $1.92 per diluted
share, compared to $128 million, or $1.62 per diluted share, in
fiscal 2006.

Accounting Change

Effective April 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment,
{“SFAS 123R™), using the modified prospective method. The
standard requires the Company to estimate the value of stock
options issued to employees, including options to purchase shares
under its Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and recognize stock-
based compensation expense over the period in which the options
vest. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company used the
intrinsic value method outlined in Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, 10
account for stock-based compensation. In fiscal 2007, the
Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $15.4
million ($10.9 million after tax), or $0.13 per diluted share. Since
the Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective
method, no stock-based compensation expense was reflected in
earnings prior to April 1, 2006.
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Acquisitions

During fiscal 2007, the Company completed 13 acquisitions with
combined annual sales of approximately $336 million. These
acquisitions included the September 2006 purchase of Houston,
Texas-based Aeriform Corporation, a distributor of industrial
gases and related hardgoods. Aeriform, with 29 iocations and 240
employees in Texas, Louisiana, Oklahoma and Kansas, generated
annual revenue of $65 million. In November 2006, the Company
purchased the Union Industrial Gas Group, a distributor of
industrial gases and related hardgoods. The Union Industrial Gas
Group, with 14 locations and 100 employees in New Mexico, Texas
and Louisiana, had annual revenue of $38 million. In January
2007, the Company purchased CFC Refimax, a leading full-service
refrigerant supplier and reclamation company. CFC Refimax,
based in Atlanta, Georgia with 50 employees, generated annual
reveniue of $19 million. In March 2007, the Company completed
the Linde Bulk Gas acquisition. The Linde Bulk Gas acquisition,
consisting of eight air separation units (ASUs) and 300 employees,
produced annual revenue of $176 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. The total aggregate purchase price for the
fiscal 2007 acquisitions was $688 million, of which $495 million
was paid for the Linde Bulk Gas acquisition.

Financing

In July 2006, the Company amended and restated its senior credit
facility with a syndicate of lenders. The increased berrowing
capacity under the senior credit facility provided the Company
with financing to close the March 2007 Linde Bulk Gas
acquisition, refinance $100 million of its 7.75% medium-term
notes in September 2006, and redeem its $225 million 9.125%
senior subordinated notes {the “Notes™).

The Notes, which would have matured on October 1, 2011, were
redeemed at a premium of 104.563% of the principal amount with
borrowings under the Company’s credit facility. In conjunction
with the redemption of the Notes, the Company recognized a
charge on the early extinguishment of debt of $12.1 million ($7.9
million after tax}, or approximately $0.10 per diluted share. The
charge related to the redemption premium and the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs.
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Income Statement Commentary

Net Sales

Net sales increased 13% in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006
driven by strong same-store sales growth of 8% and acquisition
growth of 5%. Same-store sales growth reflected pricing initiatives,
volume growth, and strategic product sales gains, driven by the
continued strength of the industrial production, energy and
infrastructure construction markets served by the Company. The
Company estimates same-store sales based on a comparison of
current period sales to prior period sales, adjusted for acquisitions
and divestitures. The pro forma adjustments consist of adding
acquired sales to, or subtracting sales of divested operations from,
sales reported in the prior period. The table below reflects actual
sales and does not include the pro forma adjustments used in
calculating the same-store sales metric. The intercompany
eliminations represent sales from All Other Operations to the
Distribution business segment.

{In thousands) 2007 2006 Increase
Distribution $ 2691814 § 2395938 § 295,876 12%
All Other Operations 579,671 493,430 86,241 17%
Intercompany
eliminations (66,434} (59,758) {6,676)
$ 3,205,051 § 2,829,610 § 375,441 13%

Distribution business segment sales increased 12% compared to
fiscal 2006 driven by same-store sales growth of $200 million (8%)
and sales contributed by acquisitions of $96 million {4%). The
increase in Distribution same-store sales resulted from higher
hardgoods sales of $95 million (8%) and gas and rent sales growth
of $105 million (8%). Broad demand from industrial, energy, and
infrastructure construction sectors helped the Company’s core gas
and welding hardgoods business. Several of the Company’s
business units reported double-digit growth. Sales growth was also
driven by double-digit growth of strategic products sales. Fiscal
2007 acquisitions attributable to the Distribution business
segment historically generated annual revenue of approximately
$300 million. The largest of the fiscal 2007 acquisitions closed in
the second half of the fiscal year, with the Linde Bulk Gas
acquisition closing in March 2007.

The Distribution business segment’s gas and rent same-store sales
increase of 8% reflects both price increases and volume growth.
Sales of industrial gases during fiscal 2007 remained strong
reflecting demand from the Company’s core industrial markets,
Sales of strategic gas products increased 11% in fiscal 2007 driven
by bulk, medical and specialty gas sales gains. Bulk gas sales
volumes were up related to growth in micro-bulk and the signing
of new bulk customer contracts. Medical gas sales growth was
attributable to higher demand from the hospital sector as well as
success of the Walk-O:-Bout® medical cylinder program. Rental
revenues benefited from the Company’s rental welder business that
generated 33% same-store sales growth in fiscal 2007, The
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rebuilding effort in the Gulf Coast area, power plant construction
projects and the strong infrastructure construction market
contributed to the increase in demand for welding machines, gases
and consumables.

Hardgoods same-store sales growth reflects continued volume and
pricing gains. The Company:’s successful Radnor® private label
brand of products generated sales growth of 11% in fiscal 2007,
reaching a total of $128 million. Same-store sales of safety
products increased 10% reflecting the success of the telemarketing
operations (telesales) and eftective cross-selling of safety products
to new and existing customers.

All Other Operations business segment’s sales increased $86
million {17%) compared to fiscal 2006 resulting from same-store
sales growth and acquisition{;. Same-store sales growth of 8% was
driven by continued sales gains of National Welders and growth in
carbon dioxide products. Sales of dry ice and liquid carbon
dioxide were strong contributors to sales growth in fiscal 2007
reflecting success in the food processing and industrial carbon
dioxide markets and the Company’s nationwide network of
Penguin dry ice retail locations. Sales growth from acquisitions
primarily reflects a fiscal 2006 acquisition of a packaged gas
distributor by National Weldlcrs. Fiscal 2007 acquisitions reflected
in the All Other Operations business segment include CFC
Refimax, and the Linde Bulk|Gas business. Fiscal 2007 acquisitions
did not significantly impact the fiscal years’ sales growth as they
closed in the fourth quarter.

Gross Profits
Gross profits increased 15% principally from sales growth and

acquisitions. The gross margin was 51.1% compared to 50.5% in
fiscal 2006.

(In thousands) 2007 2006
Distribution $ 1,336,447 $ 1,172,503
All Other Operations 301,514 255,129

$ 1.637,961 $ 1,427,632

Increase
$ 163,944 14%
46,385 18%
$ 210,329 15%

The Distribution business segment’s gross profits increased $164
million (149%) compared to fiscal 2006. The Distribution segment’s
gross margin was 49.6% versus 48.9% in fiscal 2006. The increase
in the gross margin of 70 basis points reflected the impact of price
increases as well as a favorable shift in product mix toward and
within gas and rent. Gas and rent as a percentage of the
Distribution business segment’s sales was 52.0% compared to
51.7% in fiscal 2006.

The All Other Operations business segment’s gross profits
increased $46 million (18%) primarily from strong sales growth at
National Welders and sales volume growth of carbon dioxide
products. The segment’s gross margin increased 30 basis points to
52.0% versus 51.7% in fiscal 2006 driven by improvement in
pricing and margin expansiop, particularly with respect to the
anhydrous ammonia product line acquired in June 2005.
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Operating Expenses

As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expense decreased 50 basis
points to 35.9% compared 1o 36.4% in fiscal 2006 reflecting
improved cost leverage and effective cost management. The
decrease in SD&A expense as a percentage of sales occurred
despite $15.4 million, or approximately 50 basis points, of stock-
based compensation expense in fiscal 2007 (as described in the
Overview section above). There was no stock-based compensation
expense in fiscal 2006. SD&A expenses increased $118 million
{11%) primarily from higher variable expenses associated with the
growth in sales volumes and the operating costs of acquired
businesses. Acquisitions contributed estimated incremental SD&A
expenses of approximately $30 million in fiscal 2007. The increase
in SD&A expense attributable to factors other than stock-based
compensation and acquisitions was approximately $72 million, or
an increase of 7%, primarily attributable to salaries and wages and
distribution-related expenses. The increase in salaries and wages
reflected increased operational headcounts and overtime to fill
cylinders, deliver products and operate facilities to meet increased
customer demand. The increase in distribution expenses was
attributable to higher fuel and vehicle repair and maintenance
costs, which were up approximately $12 million versus fiscal 2006.
Higher fuel costs were directly related to the rise in diesel fuel
prices and the increase in miles driven to support related sales
growth, Operating expenses in fiscal 2006 included $2.2 million
associated with hurricanes Katrina and Rita.

Depreciation expense of $139 million increased $16 million {13%})
compared to fiscal 2006. Acquired businesses added approximately
$3 million of depreciation expense. The remainder of the increase
primarily reflects fiscal 2007 and 2006 capital investments in
revenue generating assets to support customer demand, primarily
cylinders, bulk tanks and rental welders, as well as the addition of
new fill plants and branch stores. Amortization expense of $9
million was $3 millien higher than fiscal 2006 driven by the
amortization of customer lists and non-compete agreements
associated with acquisitions.

Operating Income

Operating income increased 27% in fiscal 2007 driven by higher
sales levels and margin improvement. Improved cost leverage on
sales growth was the primary contributor to a 120 basis point
increase in the operating income margin to 10.7% compared to
9.5% in fiscal 2006.

{In thousands) 2007 2006 Increase

Distribution $ 266,708 § 208466 § 58,242 28%

All Other Operations 74,744 60,292 14,452 24%
$ 341,452 § 268,758 § 72,694 27%

Operating income in the Distribution business segment increased
28% in fiscal 2007. The Distributicn business segment’s operating
margin increased 120 basis points to 9.9% compared to 8.7% in
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fiscal 2006. The significant margin improvement was driven by
continued operating profit leverage on sales growth and effective
management of costs and pricing.

Operating income in the All Other Operations business segment
increased 24% compared to fiscal 2006. The segment’s operating
income margin of 12.9% was 70 basis points higher than 12.2% in
fiscal 2006. The increases in operating income and operating
margin were driven by the strong business momentum of National
Welders and the improved anhydrous ammonia business.

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade
Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade
receivables toraled $74 million representing an increase of 17%
compared to fiscal 2006. The increase primarily resulted from
higher average debt levels associated with acquisitions, a larger
securitization program and higher weighted-average interest rates
related to the Company’s variable rate debt instruments, partially
offset by the refinancing of higher fixed rate debt, as discussed in
the Overview section.

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with three

commercial banks to sell qualifying trade receivables. The amount

of outstanding receivables under the agreement was $264 million

at March 31, 2007 versus $244 million at March 31, 2006. Net
proceeds from the sale of trade receivables were used to reduce

‘ borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. The

' discount on the securitization of trade receivables represents the
difference between the carrying value of the receivables and the
proceeds from their sale. The amount of the discount varies on a
monthly basis depending on the amount of receivables sold and

‘ market rates,

Loss on Debt Extinguishment

On Qctober 27, 2006, the Company redeemed its $225 million
9.125% senior subordinated notes at a premivm of 104.563% with
borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility. In
conjunction with the redemption, the Company recognized a
charge on the early extinguishment of debt of $12.1 million ($7.9
million after tax), or approximately $0.10 per diluted share. The
charge related to the redemption premium and the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs.

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 38.8% of pre-tax earnings in
fiscal 2007 compared to 37.4% in fiscal 2006. The fiscal 2007
effective income tax rate reflects a tax benefit associated with
changes in state income tax law in Texas, which reduced the
effective tax rate by 0.7%. Additionally, the fiscal 2007 tax rate
refiects the limited deductibility of stock-based compensation
associated with the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan and
the absence of state tax benefits associated with the loss on the
extinguishment of debt. The lower tax rate in fiscal 2006 reflected
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favorable changes in valuation allowances associated with state tax
net operating loss carryforwards and a favorable adjustment to
previously recorded tax liabilities.

Income from Continuing Operations

Income from continuing operations in fiscal 2007 was $154 mil-
lion, or $1.92 per diluted share, which reflects an after-tax loss of
$7.9 million from the early extinguishment of debt, or $0.10 per
diluted share, stock-based compensation expense of $10.9 million
after tax, or $0.13 per diluted share, and $1.8 million, or $0.02 per
diluted share, tax benefit associated with changes in state income
tax law. Income from continuing operations in fiscal 2006 was
$128 million, or $1.62 per diluted share. Stock-based compensa-
tion expense was not recognized in fiscal 2006.

Loss from Discontinued Operations

In December 2005, the Company divested its business unit
Rutiand Tool & Supply Co., Inc. (“Rutland Tool”). Consequently,
the operating results of Rutland Tool for fiscal 2006 are reflected as
discontinued operations. For fiscal 2006, the loss from discontin-
ued operations, net of tax, was $1.4 million, which principally
represented a loss on the sale of the business.

Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle

Effective March 31, 2006, the Company adopted Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation of FASB
Statement No, 143, ("FIN 47"), and recorded a $2.5 millicn after-
tax charge ($0.03 per diluted share) as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle.

Net Earnings

Fiscal 2007 net earnings were $154 million, or $1.92 per diluted
share, compared to $124 million, or $1.57 per diluted share, in
fiscal 2006,
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Fiscal 2008 Cash Flows
Net cash provided by opera.ing activities was $550 million in fiscal
2008 compared to $326 million in fiscal 2007. Net earnings
adjusted for non-cash and nlon-operating items provided cash of

$508 million versus $384 m%llion in the prior year. Working capital
resulted in a use of cash of $51 million versus a use of $77 million
in the prior year. The use oficash for working capital in fiscal 2008
principally reflects a higher level of inventory and trade receivables
associated with sales growth. In connection with an amendment in
fiscal 2008 that expanded the size of the trade receivables
securitization program, the Company increased the amount of
receivables sold under the program, which provided cash of $96
million. The cash provided by the securitization program was used
to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit line.
Consolidated cash flows provided by operating activities were used
to repay debt incurred thrm‘lgh the acquisition of businesses, as
well as to fund investing activities such as capital expenditures.

Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2008 totaled $739
million and primarily consisted of cash used for acquisitions and
capital expenditures. Cash of $480 million was paid in the current
year for 18 acquisitions, including the Linde Packaged Gas
acquisition, and acquisition holdback settlements. Capital
expenditures of $267 million reflected investments to support the
Company’s sales growth initiatives, such as air separation plants
being constructed in Carrollton, Kentucky and New Carlisle,
Indiana. The Company has also continued to invest in its core
business through purchasiné cylinders and bulk tanks.

Financing activities provided net cash of $207 million primarily
from net borrowings under |the Company's portfolio of debt
funding sources (see Financilal Instruments discussed below).
Other sources of cash effectively offset the uses of cash within
financing activities.

Dividends

At the end of June, September and December 2007, the Company
paid its stockholders regularlquarterly cash dividends of $0.09 per
share. In January 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors declared
a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.12 per share, representing a
33% increase from the previous quarterly dividend. The dividend
declared in January 2008 was paid at the end of March 2008. On
May 20, 2008, the Company’ls Board of Directors declared a regular
quarterly cash dividend of $0.12 per share, which is payable on
June 30, 2008 to stockholders of record as of June 12, 2008. During
fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Coi‘npany paid its stockholders regular
quarterly cash dividends of $0.07 and $0.06 per share, respectively.
Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid will
depend upon the Company’é earnings, financial condition, lean
covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant
by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.
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Financial Instruments

Senior Credit Facility

The Company maintains a senior credit facility with a syndicate of
lenders. The $1.7 billion senior unsecured credit facility (the
“Credit Facility”} permits the Company to borrow up to $1,066
million under a U.S. dollar revolving credit line, up to C$40
millien {U.S. $39 million) under a Canadian dollar revolving
credit line and up to $600 million under two or more term loans.
The Company used borrowings under the term loan provision of
the Credit Facility to finance the $100 million maturity of its
7.75% medium-term notes on September 15, 2006, The remaining
$500 million term loan was used to finance the Linde Bulk Gas
acquisition that closed on March 9, 2007. The Credit Facility will
mature on July 25, 2011,

As of March 31, 2008, the Company had approximately $1,371
million of borrowings under the Credit Facility: $859 million
under the U.S. dollar revolver, C$25 million (U.S. $24 million}
under the Canadian dollar revolver and $488 million under the
term loans. The term loans are repayable in quarterly installments
of $22.5 million through June 30, 2010. The quarterly installments
then increase to $71.2 million from September 30, 2010 to June 30,
2011, Principal payments due in fiscal 2009 on the term loans are
classified as “Long-term debt” in the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets based on the Company’s ability and intention to
refinance the payments with borrowings under its long-term
revolving credit facilities. The Company also had outstanding
letters of credit of $35 million issued under the Credit Facility. The
U.S. dollar borrowings and the term loans bear interest at LIBOR
plus 75 basis points and the Canadian dollar borrowings bear
interest at the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance Rate plus 75 basis
points. As of March 31, 2008, the average effective interest rates on
the U.S. dollar borrowings, the term loans and the average
Canadian dolar borrowings were 3.62%, 3.45% and 4.50%,
respectively.

Total Borrowing Capacity

As of March 31, 2008, approximately $171 million remained
unused under the U.S. dollar revolving credit line and approxi-
mately C$15 million (U.S. $15 million) remained unused under
the Canadian dollar revolving credit line. As of March 31, 2008, the
financial covenants of the Credit Facility permitted the Company
to increase its total borrowings under the Credit Facility or
through other debt instruments by approximately $847 million.
The Credit Facility contains customary events of default, including
nonpayment and breach covenants. In the event of default, repay-
ment of borrowings under the Credit Facility may be accelerated.

The Company’s domestic subsidiaries, exclusive of a bankruptcy
remote special purpose entity {the “domestic subsidiaries”},
guarantee the U.S. and Canadian borrowings. The Canadian
borrowings are also guaranteed by the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries. The guarantees are full and unconditional and are
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made on a joint and several basis. The Company has pledged 100%
of the stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its
foreign subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under the Credit
Facility. The Credit Facility provides for the release of the
guarantees and collatera] if the Company attains an investment
grade credit rating and a similar release on all other debt.

The Company continues to look for acquisition candidates. The
financial covenant calculations of the Credit Facility include the
pro forma results of acquired businesses. Therefore, total
borrowing capacity is not reduced dollar-for-dollar with
acquisition financing.

The Company continually evaluates alternative financing and
believes that it can obtain financing on reasonable terms. The
terms of any future financing arrangements depend on market
conditions and the Company’s financial position at that time.

Money Market Loans

The Company has an agreement with a financial institution that
provides access to short-term advances not to exceed $30 million
for a maximum term of three months. The agreement expires on
June 30, 2008, but is expected to be extended subject to renewal
provisions contained in the agreement. The amount, term and
interest rate of an advance are established through mutual
agreement with the financial institution when the Company
requests such an advance. At March 31, 2008, the Company had an
outstanding advance under the agreement of $30 million, which
bears interest at 3.32%.

The Company also entered into an agreement with another
financial institution that provides access to short-term advances
not to exceed $35 million. The advances are generally for overnight
or up to seven days. The amount, term and interest rate of an
advance are established through mutual agreement with the
financial institution when the Company requests such an advance.
At March 31, 2008, there were no short-term advances outstanding
under this agreement.

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2008, the Company had $150 million of sentor
subordinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) outstanding with a
maturity date of July 15, 2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a
fixed annual rate of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15
and July 15 of each year. The 2004 Notes have an optional
redemption provision, which permits the Company, at its option,
to call the 2004 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. The first
scheduled optional redemption date is July 15, 2009 at a price of
103.125% of the principal amount.
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The 2004 Notes contain covenants that could restrict the payment
of dividends, the repurchase of common stock, the issuance of
preferred stock, and the incurrence of additional indebtedness and
liens. The 2004 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed
jointly and severally, on a subordinated basis, by each of the wholly
owned domestic guarantors under the Credit Facility.

Acquisition and Other Notes

The Company’s long-term debt also included acquisition and
other notes principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of
businesses acquired and are repayable in periodic installments. At
March 31, 2008, acquisition and other notes totaled $29.3 million
and had an average interest rate of approximately 6%, and an
average life maturity of approximately two years.

Refinancing of National Welders’ Debt

Effective July 3, 2007, the Company amended its Credit Facility to
increase the size of its U.S. dollar revolving credit line by $100
million to $1,066 million. As discussed in Note 13 to the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, National Welders
became a 100% owned subsidiary of the Company on July 3, 2007.
Concurrently, National Welders’ debt of $87.5 million was
refinanced by the Company under the expanded U.S. dollar
revolving credit line.

Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with three
commercial banks to which it sells qualifying trade receivables on a
revolving basis. In December 2007, the Company amended the
agreement adding its 100% owned subsidiaries, National Welders
and Airgas Merchant Gases, LLC, as originators of trade receiv-
ables and expanded the size of the facility to $360 million. The
agreement will expire in March 2010, but may be renewed subject
to renewal provisions contained in the agreement. During the year
ended March 31, 2008, the Company sold $3.75 billion of trade
receivables and remitted to bank conduits, pursuant to a servicing
agreement, $3.65 billion in collections on those receivables. The
amount of receivables sold under the agreement was $360 million
at March 31, 2008 and $264 million at March 31, 2007.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest
rates, The Company’s involvement with derivative instruments is
limited to highly effective fixed interest rate swap agreements used
to manage well-defined interest rate risk exposures. At March 31,
2008, the Company had nineteen fixed interest rate swap
agreements with a notional amount of $602 million. These swaps
effectively convert $602 million of variable interest rate debt
associated with the Company’s Credit Facility to fixed rate debt. At
March 31, 2008, these swap agreements required the Company to
make fixed interest payments based on a weighted average effective
rate of 4.94% and receive variable interest payments from the
counterparties based on a weighted average variable rate of 2.90%,
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The remaining terms of each of these swap agreements range from
2 to 30 months. The Company monitors its positions and the
credit ratings of its counterparties and does not anticipate non-
performance by the counterlparties.

As of March 31, 2008, the Company’s ratio of fixed to variable rate
debt was 40% fixed to 60% variable, including the effect of the
interest rate swap agreements and the trade receivables
securitization. A majority of] the Company’s variable rate debt is
based on a spread over LIBOR. Based on the Company’s fixed to
variable interest rate ratio at March 31, 2008, for every 25 basis
point increase in LIBOR, the Company estimates that its annual
interest expense would increase by approximately $3 million.

Other

Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make judgments, assumptions and esti-
mates that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements describes the significant
accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Estimates are used for, but not
limited to, determining the net carrying value of trade receivables,
inventories, goodwill, other intangible assets and business insur-

ance reserves. Uncertainties about future events make these
estimates susceptible to chan&ge. Management evaluates these esti-
mates regularly and believes they are the best estimates,
appropriately made, given the known facts and circumstances. For
the three years ended March|3 1, 2008, there were no material

ment. However, actual results could differ from these estimates
under different assumptions|and circumstances. The Company
believes the following accounting estimates are critical due to the
subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for these matters,
their susceptibility to change and the potential impact that differ-
ent assumptions could have on operating performance.

changes in the valuation methods or assumptions used by manage-
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Trade Receivables

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts,
which includes sales returns, sales allowances, and bad debts. The
allowance adjusts the carrying value of trade receivables to fair
value based on estimates of accounts that will not ultimately be
collected. An allowance for doubtful accounts is generally
established as trade receivables age beyond their due date. As past
due balances age, higher valuation allowances are established
lowering the net carrying value of receivables. The amount of
valuation allowance established for each past due period reflects
the Company’s historical collections experience and current
economic conditions and trends. The Company also establishes
valuation allowances for specific problem accounts and
bankruptcies. The amounts ultimately collected on past due trade
receivables are subject to numerous factors including general
economic conditions, the condition of the receivable portfolio
assumed in acquisitions, the financial condition of individual
customers, and the terms of reorganization for accounts emerging
from bankruptcy. Changes in these conditions impact the
Company’s collection experience and may result in the recognition
of higher or lower valuation allowances. Management evaluates
the allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. The Company has a
low concentration of credit risk due to its broad and diversified
customer base across multiple industries and geographic lecations,
and its relatively low average order size. No individual customer
accounts for more than 0.5% of the Company’s annual sales.
Historically, the Company’s sales returns, sales allowances, and bad
debts have been in the range of 1.4% to 1.7% of sales.

inventories

The Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market. The majority of the products the Company carries in
inventory have long shelf lives and are not subject to technological
obsolescence, The Company writes its inventory down to its
estimated market value when it believes the market value is below
cost. The Company estimates its ability to recover the costs of
items in inventory by product type based on its age, the rate at
which that product line is turning in inventory, its physical
condition as well as assumptions about future demand and market
conditions. The ability of the Company to recover its cost for
products in inventory can be affected by factors such as future
customer demand, general market conditions and the relationship
with significant suppliers. Management evaluates the
recoverability of its inventory at least quarterly. In aggregate,
inventory turns at just over four times per year.

Goodwill and Other intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in
accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets, (“SFAS 142”). Under SFAS 142, goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but
are instead tested for impairment at least annually. The Company
has elected to perform its annual tests for indications of goodwill
impairment as of October 31 of each year or whenever indicators
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of impairment exist. Goodwill impairment is recognized when the
carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its “implied fair vaiue.”
Implied fair value is estimated based on a discounted cash flow
analysis for each reporting unit. The discounted cash flow analysis
requires estimates, assumptions and judgments about future
events. The Company's analysis uses internally generated budgets
and long-range forecasts, which are the same budgets and forecasts
used for managing operations, awarding management bonuses and
seeking alternative or additional financing. The Company’s
discounted cash flow analysis uses the assumptions in these
budgets and forecasts about sales trends, inflation, working capital
needs, and forecasted capital expenditures along with an estimate
of the reporting unit’s terminal value (the value of the reporting
unit at the end of the forecast period) to determine the implied
fair value of each reporting unit. The Company’s assumptions
about working capital needs and capital expenditures are based on
historical experience. Terminal values reflect an assumed perpetual
growth rate consistent with long-term expectations for inflation.
The discount rate used to determine the present value of the
estimated future cash flows is a risk adjusted rate consistent with
the weighted average cost of capital of peer group companies for a
term equal to the forecast period.

The Company believes the assumptions used in its discounted cash
flow analysis are appropriate and result in reasonable estimates of
the implied fair value of each reporting unit. However, the Company
may not meet its sales growth and profitability targets, working
capital needs and capital expenditures may be higher than forecast,
changes in credit markets may result in changes to the Company’s
discount rate and general business conditions may result in changes
to the Company’s terminal value assumptions for its reporting units.
Based on the October 31, 2007 assessment, the Company does not
expect that such changes would result in the recognition of goodwill
impairment in the Company’s reporting units.

Business Insurance Reserves

The Company has established insurance programs to cover
workers’ compensation, business automobile, and general liability
claims. During fiscal 2008 and 2007, these programs had self-
insured retention of $1 million per occurrence. During fiscal 2006,
the Company’s self-insured retention was $500 thousand per
occurrence with an additional aggregate retention of $2.2 million
for claims in excess of $500 thousand. For fiscal 2009, the self-
insured retention will remain $1 million per occurrence with no
additional aggregate retention. The Company reserves for its self-
insured retention based on individual claim evaluations
establishing loss estimates for known claims based on the current
facts and circumstances. These known claims are then “developed”
through actuarial computations, to reflect the expected ultimate
loss for the known claims, as well as incurred but not reported
claims. Actuarial computations use the Company’s specific loss
history, payment patterns, insurance coverage, plus industry trends
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and other factors to estimate the required reserve for all open
claims by policy year and loss type. Reserves for the Company’s
self-insurance retention are evaluated monthly. Semi-annually, the
Company obtains a third-party actuarial report to validate that the
computations and assumptions used are consistent with actuarial
standards. Certain assumptions used in the actuarial computations
are susceptible to change. Loss development factors are influenced
by items such as medical inflation, changes in workers’
compensation laws, and changes in the Company’s loss payment
patterns, all of which can have a significant influence on the
estimated ultimate loss related to the Company’s self-insured
retention, Accordingly, the ultimate resolution of open claims may
be for amounts motre or less than the reserve batances, The
Company’s operations are spread across a significant number of
locations, which helps to mitigate the potential impact of any
given event that could give rise to an insurance-related loss. Over
the last three years, business insurance expense has generally been
in the range of 0.6% to 0.9% of sales.




Management's Discussion and Analysis continued

Contractual Obligations
The following table presen

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Airgas, Inc. AL

ts the Company’s contractual obligations as of March 31, 2008:

@

{1

[¥]

a3

(8

]

. (In thousands) Payments Due by Peried
. Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 Year™ 1 to 3 Years™ 3 to 5 Years® More than 5 Years®
Long-term debt™ $1,580,048 $ 40,400 $ 341,6% $ 1,046,695 $ 151,257
Estimated interest payments on
long-term debt® 208,150 59,605 106,293 30,020 12,232
Estimated payments on
interest rate swap agreements® 20,850 13,635 5.851 1,364 —
' Non-compete agreements® 17,744 3,712 5,758 3,533 4,141
Letters of credit®™ 35,099 35,099 — — —
Operating leases ® 292,799 76,530 129,127 62,747 24,395
Purchase obligations:
Liquid bulk gas supply agreements™ 862,164 115,916 188,938 174,048 383,262
Liquid carbon dioxide supply agreements® 202,092 17,184 29,027 24,224 131,657
Ammonia supply agreementls "’ 21,706 21,706 — — —
Other purchase commltments‘“” 11,754 11,754 — — —
Construction commltments“" 46,854 46,854 — — —
. Total Contractual Obligations $ 3,298,660 § 442,395 $ 806,690 $1,342,631 $ 706,944

The less than one year ralates to obllgatlons due in fisca! 2009. The 1 to 3 years column relates to
obligations due in fiscal years endmg March 31,2010 and 2011. The 3 to 5 years column relates
10 obligations due in fiscal years ending March 31, 2012 and 2013. The more than 5 years column
relates to obligations due in fiscal years ending March 31, 2014 and beyond.

Aggregate long-term debt |nslrumems are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
March 31, 2008. Long-term debt mdudes capital lease obligations, which were not material and,
therefore, did not warrant separate disclosure. Principal payments on the term loan under the
Credit Facility are not reflected in 1he “Less than 1 year” column above due to the Company's
ability and intention te refinance the payments with borrowlings under its long-term revolving
credit line, See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more informatian regarding
long-term debt instruments.

The future interest payments on the Company's long-term debt obligations were estimated based
on the current outstanding prmupal reduced by scheduled maturities in each period presented
and interest rates as of March 31, l2008 The estimated interest payments may differ materially
from those presented above based on actual amounts of lang-term debt autstanding and actual
interest rates in future periods.

Payments or receipts under interesirate swap agreements result from changes in market interest
rates compared lo contractual rates angd payments to be exchanged between the parties 1o the
agreements. The estimated rece:pts in future periads were determined based on forward LIBOR
rates as of March 31, 2008. Actual receipts or payments may differ materially from those pre-
sented above based on actual mlel'est rates in future periods. At March 31, 2008, the net liability
associated with the portfolio of i |nleresl rate swap agreements will increase or decrease between
$4.2 million and $4.5 million for every 50 basis point increase or decrease in LIBOR.

Non-compete agreements are obligations of the Company to make scheduled future payments,
generally to former owners of acquwred businesses, contingent upon their compliance with the
covenants of the non-compete agreement.

Letters of credit are guarantees of payment to third parties. The Company's letters of credit princi-
pally hack obligations associated with the Company's self-insured retention on workers’
compensation, automebile and general fiabitity claims. The letters of credit are supparted by the
Company’s Credit Facility.

The Company's operating leases at;
vehicles under long-term operating
lian related to its leased vehicles.

March 31, 2008 include approximately $168 million in fleet
leases, The Company guarantees 3 residual value of $29 mil-

In addition to the gas volumes sup;lled by the recently acquired Alrgas Merchant Gases (formerly
Linde Gas LLC), the Company purchases industrial, medical and specialty gases pursuant to
requirements contracts from national and regional producers of industrial gases. The Company
has a long-term take-or-pay supply agreement, in effect through August 33, 2017, with Alr
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Products and Chemicals, Inc. {"Air Products”) to supply the Company with bulk liquid nitragen,
oxygen and argon. Additionally, the Company purchases helium and hydrogen gases from Air
Producis under long-term supply agreements. Based on the volume of fiscal 2008 purchases, the
Air Products supply agreements represent appreximately $50 million annually in liquid bulk
gas purchases.

The Company also has long-term take-or-pay supply agreements with Linde to purchase axygen,
nitrogen, argon, helium and acetylene. The agreements expire at various dates through Juty 2019
and represent almost $50 million In annual bulk gas purchases. Additionally, the Company has
long-term take-or-pay supply agreements 1o purchase oxygen, nitrogen and argon from other
major producers, Annual purchases under these contracts are approximately $16 million and they
expire at various dates through 2024.

The purchase commitments for future periods contained in the table above reflect estimates
based on fiscal 2008 purchases. The supply agreements noted above contain periodic adjustments
based on certain econamic indices and market analysis. The Company believes the minimum prod-
uct purchases under the agreements are well within the Company’s normal product purchases.
Actual purchases in future periods under the supply agreements could differ materially from those
presented in the 1able due to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying sales levels
as well as changes in economic canditions.

The Company is a party to long-term take-or-pay supply agreements for the purchase of liquid
carbon dioxide with approximately 15 suppliers that expire at various dates through 2044. The
purchase commitments for future periods contained in the table above reflect estimates based on
fiscal 2008 purchases. The Company believes the minimum product purchases under the agree-
ments are well within the Company’s normal product purchases. Actual purchases in future
periods under the carbon dioxide supply agreements could differ materially from those presented
in the table due ta fluctuations in demand requirements related 10 varying sales levels as well as
changes in economic conditions. Certain of the liguid carban dioxide supply agreements contain
market pricing subject to certain economic indices.

The Company purchases ammonia from a variety of sources. With one of those sources, the
Company has minimum purchase commitments under & supply agreement. The term of the agree-
ment is through December 31, 2008 and automatically renews for successive one-year terms
unless terminated by either party upon 180 days written notice,

{10) Other purchase commitments primarily include property, plant and equipment expenditures.

{113 Construction commitments represent outstanding commitments te customers to build and oper-
ate air separation plants in New Carlisle, IN and Carreliton, KY, and construct a beverage grade
liquid carbon dioxide plant in Deer Park, TX, which 15 expected to be completed in early calendar
year 2009.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As disclosed in Note 4 to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, the Company participates in a securitization agree-
ment with three commercial banks to sell, on a revolving basis, up
to $360 million of qualifying trade receivables. The agreement
expires in March 2010, but may be renewed subject to provisions
contained in the agreement. Under the securitization agreement,
on a monthly basis, trade receivables are sold to three commercial
banks through a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity. The
Company retains a subordinated interest in the receivables sold,
which is included in “trade receivables” on the accompanying con-
solidated balance sheet. At March 31, 2008, the amount of retained
interest in the receivables sold was approximately $164 million, net
of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $22 million.

The securitization agreement is a form of off-balance sheet
financing. The discount taken by the commercial banks reduces
the proceeds from the sale of trade receivables and is generally at a
lower cost than the Company can borrow under its Credit Facility.
The table below reflects the amount of trade receivables sold at
March 31, 2008 and the amount of the anticipated discount to be
taken, based on market rates at March 31, 2008, on the sale of that
quantity of receivables each month through the expiration date of
the securitization agreement. The Company is not aware of any
existing circumstances that are reasonably likely to result in the
termination or material reduction in the availability of this
program prior to its expiration date.

(In thousands) Payments Due by Period
Off-balance sheet Less More
obligations as of than 1to3 3toS than
March 31, 2008 Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Trade receivables

securitization § 360,000 & — $ 360,000 3 — 3 —
Estimated discount

on securitization 21,600 10,800 10,800 — —
Totzl off-balance

sheet obligations  § 381,600 § 10,800 $ 370,800 3§ — § —

Accounting Pronouncements Issued But Not Yet Adopted
Business Combinations

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
{“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
{“SFAS”) No. 141R, Business Combinations, (“SFAS 141R™), which
replaces SFAS 141, SFAS 141R will significantly change the way the
Company accounts for business combinations. The more significant
changes under SFAS 141R included the treatment of contingent con-
sideration, preacquisition contingencies, transaction costs, in-process
research and development and restructuring costs, The standard also
requires more assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured
at fair value as of the acquisition date and contingent liabilities
assumed will be measured at fair value in each subsequent reporting
period. The Company will be required to adopt SFAS 141R for
acquisitions completed after April 1, 2009 and is currently assessing
the impact of SFAS 141R on the consolidated financial statements.
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Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements, (“SFAS 157”)., This standard defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
expands disclosure about fair value measurements. This
pronouncement applies to the fair value requirements as
applicable in other accounting standards that require or permit
fair value measurements. Accordingly, this statement does not
require any new fair value measurement. In February 2008, the
FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 157-2, Effective Date of FASB
Starement No. 157, which delays the effective date of SFAS 157
until January 1, 2009 for all non-financial assets and liabilities,
except those that are recognized and disctosed at fair value in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 for financial assets
and liabilities as well as non-financial assets and liabilities
excluded from the deferral above. The Company is currently
evaluating the requirements of SFAS 157 and has not yet
determined the impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value Option

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, (“SFAS 1597),
which provides companies with an option to report selected
financial assets and liabilities at fair value in an attempt to reduce
both complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the
volatility in earnings caused by measuring related assets and
liabilities differently. SFAS 159 is effective as of the beginning of an
entity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007. The
Company is currently evaluating the requirements of SFAS 159
and has not yet determined the impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Non-controlling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, (“SFAS 160”), which
amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51. SFAS 160 establishes
accounting and reporting standards that require 1) non-
controlling interests held by non-parent parties be clearly
identified and presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separate from the parent’s equity and 2) the
amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and
to the non-controlling interest be clearly presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of income. SFAS 160 also requires
consistent reporting of any changes to the parent’s ownership
while retaining a controlling financial interest, as well as specific
guidelines over how to treat the deconsolidation of controlling
interests and any applicable gains or loses. This statement is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008; earlier adoption is
prohibited. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this
statement on the consolidated financial statements.
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Disclosures about Derivatlive Instruments and Hedging Activities
In March 2008, the FASB %ssued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about
Derivatives and Hedging Activities, (“SFAS 161"), which enhances
the requirements under SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivatives and
Hedging Activities. SFAS 161 requires enhanced disclosures about
an entity’s derivatives and hedging activities and how they affect

an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash
flows. This statement will be effective for fiscal years and interim
periods beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company is
currently assessing the imbact to the consolidated financial
statements.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains statements that are forward looking within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements
regarding: the Company’s focus on strategic products to diversify
against traditional industrial cyclicality; the Company’s belief that
its focus on marketing an}i selling strategic products will help to
mitigate the impact of a slowing economic environment; the
Company’s belief that strategic products will grow at a faster rate
than the overall industrial economy; successful implementation of
pricing actions to stay ahead of the cost curve; generating sales and
profit growth in excess ofjhistorical performance; the Company’s
belief that it will c:ontinuei to keep its customers supplied by
constantly evaluating and improving product sourcing strategies
and utilizing internal prog uction capacity and alternative supplies
in the event of a terminatjon of a major supply agreement;
production at the Deer Park plant beginning by January 2009;
future purchases under the Company's stock repurchase plan; the
Company’s continued success with the hospital, physician and
dental care markets and the expectation that all have strong future
growth prospects; the CO{npany’s expectation that the bio-tech,
life sciences, research, zalndI environmental monitoring markets will
continue to propel speciallty gas sales growth in the future; the
Cempany’s estimate that for every 25 basis point increase in
LIBOR, annual interest expense will increase approximately $3
million; the future declaration and payment of dividends; the
Company’s ability and intention to refinance principal payments
under the term loans with borrowings under its long-term
revolving credit line; the Company’s ability to identify acquisition
opportunities and expand its business; the Company’s expectation
as to the contribution to fiscal 2009 sales growth by fiscal 2008
acquisitions; the Companly’s belief that it could obtain financing at
reasonable terms if its requirements exceed amounts available
under the Credit Facility;'the ability of the Company to manage its
exposure to interest rate risk through participation in interest rate
swap agreements; the performance of counterparties under
interest rate swap agreements; the Company’s belief that future
goodwill impairment would not result from changes in the
assumptions utilized in the annual impairment analysis; the
estimated ultimate loss related to the Company’s self-insured
retention; the estimate of future interest and principal payments
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for financial instruments contained in “Contractual Obligations”;
and the Company's estimates of purchase commitments associated
with product supply agreements and the belief that the minimum
product purchases under the agreements are well within the
Company’s normal product purchases.

These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties.
Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those predicted in any forward-looking statement include, but are
not limited to: the Company's inability to diversify against
economic cyclicality; construction delays with regard to the Deer
Park plant; a lack of cash flow available to fund the Company's
stock repurchase plan; the inability to identify acquisition
candidates and consummate and successfully integrate
acquisitions; a downturn in the hospital, physician and dental care
markets and its effect on sales growth; the inability to raise prices
to keep pace with cost increases; higher than estimated interest
expense resulting from increases in LIBOR and/or changes in the
Company’s credit rating; the loss of customers, acquisition
integration problems and higher than expected expenses; an
economic downturn (including adverse changes in the specific
markets for the Company's products, including strategic
products); the inability to identify products that will grow at a
faster rate than the overall economy; rising product costs and the
inability to pass those costs on to customers; customer acceplance
of price increases; the inability to obtain alternate supply sources
of hardgoods products; the inability to obtain alternative supply
sources to adequately meet customer demand and the effect on
sales and customer relationships; the Company’s inability to
control operating expenses and the potential impact of higher
operating expenses in future periods; adverse changes in customer
buying patterns; a lack of available cash flow and financing
necessary to pay future dividends and/or refinance term loan
principal payments; changes in the Company’s debt levels and/or
credit rating, which prevent the Company from arranging
additional financing; the inability to manage interest rate
exposure; defaults by counterparties under interest rate swap
agreements; the effects of competition from independent
distributors and vertically integrated gas producers on products,
pricing and sales growth; future goodwill impairment due to
changes in assumptions used in the annual impairment analysis;
changes in actuarijal assumptions and their impact on the ultimate
loss related to the Company’s self-insured retention; changes in
customer demand and the impact on the Company’s ability to
meet minimum purchases under take-or-pay supply agreements;
uncertainties regarding accidents or litigation which may arise in
the ordinary course of business; and the effects of, and changes in,
the economy, monetary and fiscal policies, laws and regulations,
inflation and monetary fluctuations and fluctuations in interest
rates, both on a national and international basis. The Company
does not undertake to update any forward-looking statement
made herein or that may be made from time to time by or on
behalf of the Company.
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Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
prepared and is responsible for the consolidated financial
statements and related financial information in this Annual Report.
The statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. The financial statements reflect
management’s informed judgment and estimation as to the effect
of events and transactions that are accounted for or disclosed.

Management maintains a system of internal control, which
includes internal control over financial reporting, at each business
unit. The Company’s system of internal control is designed to
provide reasonable assurance that records are maintained in
reasonable detail to properly reflect transactions and permit the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles, that transactions are
executed in accordance with management’s and the Board of
Directors’ authorization, and that unauthorized transactions are
prevented or detected on a timely basis such that they could not
materially affect the financial statements. The Company also
maintains a staff of internal auditors who review and evaluate the
system of internal control on a continual basis. In determining the
extent of the system of internal control, management recognizes
that the cost should not exceed the benefits derived. The
evaluation of these factors requires judgment by management.
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Management evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting, as of March 31, 2008, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. KPMG LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing herein,
issued their opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2008 and an
opinion on the fair presentation of the financial pasition of the
Company as of March 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of the
Company's operations and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended March 31, 2008.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely of
independent Directors, meets regularly (jointly and separately) with
the independent registered public accounting firm, the internal
auditors and management to satisfy itself that they are properly
discharging their responsibilities. The independent registered public
accounting firm has direct access to the Audit Committee.

Airgas, Inc.

(B

Peter McCausland
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Robert M. McLaughlin
Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

May 29, 2008




Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries {the “Company™) is
responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system

of internal control over ﬁnalllcial reporting. Under the supervision
and with the participation olf the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial (Ii)fﬁcer, management conducted an

assessment of the Company's internal control over financial

reporting based on the framework established by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in

assessment, management co
Company’s internal control
KPMG LLP, an independent
stated in their report, has iss

March 31, 2008.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of March 31, 2008
and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of earnings,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended March 31, 2008. We also have audited the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March
31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission {COSO). Airgas, Inc.’s
management is responsible for these consolidated financial
statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the

| Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on

' our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the

| Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective
internal control aver financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial
statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. Qur audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reperting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
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are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2008 and 2007, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2008, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also in our opinion, Airgas, Inc. maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Company adopted the provisiens of Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes, effective April 1, 2007. As discussed in Note 15
and Note 2, effective April 1, 2006, the Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R,
Share-Based Payment, using the modified prospective transition
method, and Securities and Exchange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements.

KPMe P

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
May 29, 2008




Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(In thousands, except per share amount

Years Ended March 31,

s)

Airgas, Inc. PRIk

Net Sales

Cost and Expenses

Cost of products soid (excludin

g depreciation expense)

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses

Depreciation
Amortization (Note 8)

Total costs and expenses

Operating Income

Interest expense, net (Note 36
Dliscount on securitization of t
Loss on the extinguishment of

Other income, net

Earnings from continuing operations befare income taxes,

ade receivables {Note 4)
debt (Note 10)

minority interest and change in accounting principle

Income taxes {Note 6)

Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate (Note 13)
Income from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of

a change in accounting principle

Loss from discontinued operat
Cumulative effect of a change,

Net Earnings

ons, net of tax (Note 3)

Net Earnings per Commeon Share (Note 17)

Basic

Earnings from continuing op

a change in accounting pri
Loss from discontinued oper
Curnulative effect of a chanc

Net earnings per share

Diluted

Earnings from continuing op

a change in accounting pri
Loss from discontinued oper
Cumulative effect of a chang

Net earnings per share

Weighted average shares outs

Basic
Diluted

Comprehensive Income

erations before the cumulative effect of
nciple
atigns

e in accounting principle

erations before the cumulative effect of
nciple
ations

e in accounting principle

anding:

in accounting principle, net of tax (Note 2}

2008 2007 2006
$ 4,017,024 $ 3.205,051 $ 2,829,610
1,926,426 1,567,090 1,401,978
1,424,677 1,149,166 1,031,332
175,802 138,818 122,396
13,973 8,525 5,146
3,540,878 2,863,599 2,560,852
476,146 341,452 268,758
(89,860) (60,180} (53.812)
(17,031) (13,630 {9,371)
— (12,099) —
1,507 1,601 2,462
370,762 257,144 208,037
(144,184) (99,883) (77,866)
(3,230) (2,845) {2,656)
223,348 154,416 127,515
— — {1,424)
— — {2,540}
$ 223,348 $ 154,416 $ 123,551
$ 2.74 $ 1.98 $ 1.66
o — (0.02}
— — (0.03)
$ 2.74 $ 1.98 3 1.61
$ 2.66 $ 1.92 3 1.62
— — (0.02)
— — (0.03}
3 2.66 $ 1.92 3 1.57
81,402 78,025 76,624
84,235 82,566 81,152
$ 214,452 $ 153,848 $ 125,693

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(Ir thousands, except per share amounts)

March 31, 2008 2007
Assets
Current Assets
Cash 3 43,048 3 25,931
Trade receivables, less allowances for doubtful accounis of $22,624 in 2008
and $15,692 in 2007 (Note 4) 183,569 193,664
Inventories, net (Note 5} 330,732 250,308
Deferred income tax asset, net {Note &) 22,258 21,004
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 59,107 48,592
Total current assets 638,714 549,499
Plant and equipment at cost {Note 7} 3,232,673 2,755,747
Less accumulated depreciation (1,037,803) (890,329)
Plant and equipment, net 2,194,870 1,865,418
Goodwill (Note 8) 969,059 832,162
Other intangible assets, net (Note 8) 148,998 62,935
Other non-current assets 27,620 23,443
Total assets 3§ 3,979,261 $ 3,333,457

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable, trade $ 185,111 $ 146,385
Accrued expenses and other current fiabilities (Note 8} 220,880 241,275
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) 40,400 40,296

Total current liabilities 506,391 427,956
Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 1,539,648 1,309,719
Deferred income tax liability, net (Note 6) 439,782 373,246
Other non-current liabilities 80,104 39,963
Minority interest in affiliate (Note 13) — 57,191

Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)

Stockholders' Equity {Note 14}
Preferred stock, no par value, 20,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or

outstanding in 2008 and 2007 — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 200,000 shares authorized,

84,076 and 79,960 shares issued at 2008 and 2007, respectively 841 799
Capital in excess of par value 468,302 341,101
Retained earnings 983,663 792,433
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) {4,713) 4,183
Treasury stock, 1,788 and 1,292 common shares at cost at 2008 and 2007,

respectively (34,757) (13,134)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,413,336 1,125,382
Total liabilities and stackholders’ equity $ 3,979,261 $ 3,333,457

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Airgas, In¢. and Subsidiaries

Years Ended March 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006

Airgas, Inc. ik

Shares of
Common
Stock $0.01

(In thousands) Par Value

Commen
Stock

Accumulated
Capital in Other
Excess of Retained Comprehensive Treasury
Par Value Earnings  Income (Loss) Stock

Employes

Benefits Comprehensive

Trust

Income

Balance — March 31, 2005 77467

Net garnings

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Shares issued in connection with
stock options exercised (Note 15 570

Purchase of treasury stock (Note 14)

Dividends paid on common stock
($0.24 per share} (Note 14)

Tax benefit associated with the exerc
of stock options

Shares issued in connection with the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 15) 532

Net change in fair value of interest lrate swap
agreements (Note 12)

Met change in fair value of Mational Welders’
interest rate swap agreement

Net tax expense of comprehensive Income items

€

$775

$ 257,042 $ 560,056 $ 2609 3 (3.765)

123,551
1,012

14,136 3,402
(12,771

{18.449)
7,891
10,529
867

885
(622}

$

(2,545)

2,545

$ 123,551
1,012

867

885
(622)

Balance — March 31, 2006 78,569

Cumulative adjustment to retained earnings for
adoption of SAB 108, net of tax (Note 2)
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Shares issued in connection with
stock options exercised {Note 15) 960
Dividends paid en common stock
($0.28 per share) (Note 14)
Tax benefit associated with the exercise
of stock options
Shares issued in connection with the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (N'ote 15) 431
Expense related 10 stock-based conl\pensation
(Note 15)
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreements (Note 12}
Net change in fair value of Nationa] Welders®
interest rate swap agreement
Net tax benefit of comprehensive income items

$ 786

10

$ 289,598 $ 665,158 $ 4751 $ (13,134)

(5,161)
154,416

15,097

{21,980
9,013
11,948
15,445

{1,222}

372
280

$ 125,693

$ 154,416
2

(1,222)

372
280

Ealance — March 31, 2007 79,960

Cumulative adjustment to retained earnings for
adoption of FIN 48 {Note &)
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustrnent
Shares issued in connection with
stock options exercised (Note 15) 1,238
Dividends paid on common stock
($0.39 per share} {Note 14}
Tax benefit associated with the exercise
of stock options .
Shares issued in connection with the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 15) 407
Expense related 1o stock-based compensation
(Note 15) :
Purchase of treasury stock (Note 14)
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreements (Note 12) '
National Welders exchange transaction (Note 13) 2,471
Net tax benefit of comprehensive income items

$ 799

13

25

$341,101 $792,433 § 4,183 $ (13,134)

(290)
223,348
4,738
20,368
(31.828)
13,327

14,087

15,587
{21,623)

(20,956)
63,832
7.322

$ 153,848

§223,348
4,738

(20,956)

7,322

Balance — March 31, 2008 84,076

$ 841

$ 468,302 $ 983,663 3 4713) 3 (34.757)

3

$214,452

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements,
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(Int thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net earnings 4 223,348 $ 154,416 $ 123,551
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Depreciation 175,802 138,818 122,396
Amortization 13,973 8,525 5,146
Deferred income taxes 74,725 51,911 47,148
Lass on divestiture _ — 1,900
Loss {gain) on sales of plant and equipment 714 39 (1,330
Minority interest in earnings 3,230 2,845 2,656
Stack-based compensation expense 16,629 15,445 —
Loss on debt extinguishment — 12,099 —
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — 2,540

Changes in assets and fiabilities, excluding effects of business
acquisitions and divestitures:

Securitization of trade receivables 95,600 20,200 54,300
Trade receivables, net (23,308) (37.687) (17,021}
Inventories, net (37.679) (1,491) (14,087}
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,693 (23,326) 12,603
Accounts payable, trage 8,053 (15,163) {4,057}
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (749} 266 9,323
Other non-current assets 81 1,809 3,340
Cther non-current liabilities (2,624) (2,363) (2,363)

Net cash provided by operating activities 549,926 326,343 346,045

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (267,378) (238,274} (208,603)
Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 9,345 8,685 8,202
Proceeds from divestitures — — 14,562
Business acquisitions and holdback settlements (480,096) (687,892} {153,428)
Qther, net {1,316) (474) 17Q

Net cash used in investing activities {739,445) (917,955) {339,097)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 1,162,452 1,577,967 568,379
Repayment of debt (953,749) (1,008,186) (606,532)
Purchase of treasury stock {17,010 — (12,771)
Financing costs — (5,103} —
Premium paid on call of senior subordinated notes — (10,267) —
Minority interest in earnings 711) (2,845) {2,656}
Minority stockholder note prepayment — — 21,000
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 20,381 15,107 19,707
Stock issued for the employee stock purchase plan 14,091 11,951 10,534
Tax benefit realized from the exercise of stock options 13,327 9,013 —
Dividends paid to stockholders (31,828) {21,980) (18,449)
Change in cash overdraft (317) 16,901 16,185
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 206,636 582,558 (4,603)
Change in Cash '$ 17,117 $ (9,054) $ 2,345
Cash — Beginning of year 25,931 34,985 32,640
Cash — End of year $ 43,048 b3 25,931 % 34,985

For supplemental cash flow disclosures, see Note 22,
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

I\:Iote 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

{a) Description of the Busin?ss

Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Airgas” or the “Company”} became
a'publicly traded company 01:1 the New York Stock Exchange in
1986. Since its inception, the Company has made close to 375
acquisitions to become the largest U.S. distributor of industrial,
medical, and specialty gases {delivered in “packaged” or cylinder
form), and hardgeods, such as welding equipment and supplies.
Airgas is also one of the largest U.S. distributors of safety products,
the largest U.S. producer of nitrous oxide and dry ice, the largest
liquid carbon dioxide producer in the Southeast, the fifth largest
producer of atmospheric merchant gases in North America, and a
leading distributor of process chemicals, refrigerants, and ammeo-
nia products. The Company markets its products to its diversified
customer base through multiple sales channels including branch-
based sales representatives, retail stores, strategic customer account
programs, telesales, catalogs, eBusiness and independent distribu-
tors. More than 14,500 employees work in over 1,100 locations
including branches, retail stores, packaged gas fill plants, specialty
gas labs, production facilities; and distribution centers.

(b) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts

of Airgas. On July 3, 2007, the Company’s previously consolidated
affiliate, National Welders Supply Company (“National
Welders”), became a 100% owned subsidiary of Airgas (see Note
13). Intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated

in consolidation.

The Company has made estimates and assumptions relating to the
reporting of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities to prepa}e these statements in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted élccounting principles (“GAAP”).
Estimates are used for, but not limited to, determining the net
carrying value of trade receivables, vendor rebates, inventories,
plant and equipment, goodwill, other intangible assets, asset
retirement obligations, business and health insurance reserves, loss
contingencies and deferred tax assets. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

{c) Reclassifications and Prior Period Adjustments

Certain line items of the fiscal 2007 disclosure of accrued expenses
and other current liabilities (see Note 9} were reclassified to
conform with the current présentation. Certain adjustments were
made to the Consolidated St?tement of Cash Flows for the years
énded March 31, 2007 and 2006. The adjustments were made to
reflect the purchase of welding equipment through a vendor
sponsored financing program as a non-cash investing and
financing activity. The impact on fiscal 2007 was to increase cash
flows from operating activities by $8.2 million, reduce capital
expenditures by $5.3 million|and reduce proceeds from
Borrowings by $13.5 million! The impact on fiscal 2006 was to
reduce cash flows from operating activities by $5.6 million and
reduce capital expenditures l|)y $5.6 million. The Company does

Airgas, Inc.

not consider these adjustments to be material to its financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.

{d) Cash and Cash Overdraft

On a daily basis, all available funds are swept from depository
accounts into a concentration account and used to repay debt
under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. Cash principally
represents the balance of customer checks that have not yet cleared
through the banking system and become available to be swept into
the concentration account, and deposits made subsequent to the
daily cash sweep. The Company does not fund its disbursement
accounts for checks it has written until the checks are presented to
the bank for payment. Cash overdrafts represent the balance of
outstanding checks and are classified with other current liabilities.
There are no compensating balance requirements or other
restrictions on the transfer of cash associated with the Company’s
depository accounts.

(e) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts,
which includes sales returns, sales allowances, and bad debts. The
allowance adjusts the carrying value of trade receivables to fair
value based on estimates of accounts that will ultimately not be
collected. An allowance for doubtful accounts is generally
established as trade receivables age beyond their due date. As past
due balances age, higher valuation allowances are established
lowering the net carrying value of receivables. The amount of
valuation allowance established for each past due period reflects
the Company’s historical collections experience and current
economic conditions and trends. The Company also establishes
valuation allowances for specific problem accounts and
bankruptcies. The amounts ultimately collected on past due trade
receivables are subject to numerous factors including general
economic conditions, the condition of the receivable portfolio
assumed in acquisitions, the financial condition of individual
customers, and the terms of reorganization for accounts exiting
bankruptcy. Changes in these conditions impact the Company’s
collection experience and may result in the recognition of higher
or lower valuation allowances.

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for
approximately 85% of the inventories at March 31, 2008 and 2007.
Cost for the remainder of inventories is determined using the last
in, first out (LIFO) method.

{g) Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. Depreciation is
computed using the straight line method based on the estimated
useful lives of the related assets. The carrying values of long-lived
assets, including plant and equipment, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
recorded value cannot be recovered from the undiscounted future
cash flows. When the book value of an asset exceeds the associated
undiscounted expected future cash flows, it is considered to be
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

impaired and is written down to fair value, which is determined
based on either discounted future cash flows or appraised values.
The Company also leases property, plant and equipment, princi-
pally under operating leases. Rent expense for operating leases,
which may have escalating rentals or rent holidays over the term of
the lease, is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h} Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Deferred

Financing Costs
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired
entity over the amounts assigned to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. Gooedwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually. The
Company has elected to perform its annual tests for indications of
goodwill impairment as of October 31 of each year.

Other intangible assets primarily include nen-competition
agreements and customer lists resulting from business
acquisitions. Both non-competition agreements and customer lists
are recorded based on their acquisition date fair value. Non-
competition agreements are amortized using the straight-line
method over the term of the agreement. Customer lists are
amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, which range from 7 to 17 years. The Company assesses
the recoverability of other intangible assets by determining
whether the carrying value of the intangible asset can be recovered
through projected undiscounted future cash flows of the related
business/reporting unit.

Financing costs related to the issuance of long term debt are
deferred and recognized in other long-term assets. Deferred
financing costs are amortized as interest expense over the term of
the related debt instrument,

(i) Asset Retirement Obligations

The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is rec-
ognized in the period when the asset is placed in service. The fair
value of the liability is estimated using projected discounted cash
flows. In subsequent periods, the retirement obligation is accreted
to its future value, which is the estimate of the obligation at the
asset retirement date. When the asset is placed in service, a corre-
sponding retirement asset equal to the fair value of the retirement
obligation is also recorded as part of the carrying amount of the
related long-lived asset and depreciated over the asset’s useful life.
The Company’s asset retirement obligations totaled $9.3 million
and $6.4 million at March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(j) Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments,
litigation and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a
liability has been incurred and the amount of the claim,
assessment or damages can be reasonably estimated.

The Company maintains business insurance programs with self-
insured retention, which covers workers’ compensation, business
automobile and general liability claims. The Company accrues
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estimated losses using actuarial models and assumptions based on
historical loss experience. The actuarial calculations used to
estimate business insurance reserves are based on numerous
assumptions, some of which are subjective. The Company will
adjust its business insurance reserves, if necessary, in the event
future loss experience differs from historical loss patterns.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which
provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under the
plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not
reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an
estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,
some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-
insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience
changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan
participants and an aging employee base.

(k) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability
method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases and operating loss carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences and operating loss carryforwards are
expected to be recovered, settled or utilized, The effect on deferred
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation
allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when it is
more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.

The Company recognizes the benefit of an income tax position
only if it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that the tax
position will be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on
the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise, no benefit is
recognized. The tax benefits recognized are measured based on the
largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being
realized upon ultimate settlement. Additionally, the Company
accrues interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax
exposures for which reserves have been established consistent with
jurisdictional tax laws. Interest and penalties are classified as
income tax expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

() Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is
the applicable local currency. The translation of foreign currencies
into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using
current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for
revenue and expense accounts using average exchange rates during
each reporting period. The gains or losses resulting from such
translations are included in stockholders’ equity as a component of
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).” Gains and
losses arising from foreign currency transactions are reflected in
the consolidated statements of earnings as incurred.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(m) Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade
receivables, Concentrations of credit risk are limited due to the
Company’s large number of customers and their dispersion across
many industries throughout North America. Credit terms granted
to customiers are generally net 30 days.

(n} Financial Instruments

In managing interest rate risk exposure, the Company enters into
interest rate swap agreements, An interest rate swap is a
contractual exchange of interest payments between two parties. A
standard interest rate swap involves the payment of a fixed rate
times a notional amount by one party in exchange for a floating
rate times the same notional amount from the other party. As
interest rates change, the difference to be paid or received is
accrued and recognized as interest expense or income over the life
of the agreement. These instruments are not entered into for
trading purposes. Counterparties to the Company’s interest rate
swap agreements are major financial institutions, In accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No.
133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging
Activities, as amended, {“SFAS 133”), the Company recognizes
interest rate swap agrccmentsl on the balance sheet at fair value.
The interest rate swap agreements are marked to market with
changes in fair value recognized in either accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss){or in the carrying value of the
hedged portions of fixed rate debt, as applicable.

The carrying amounts for trade receivables and accounts payable
approximate fair value based on the short term maturity of these
financial instruments.

(o) Revenue Recognition
Revenue from sales of gases and hardgoods products is recognized
when the product is shipped, a sales price is fixed or determinable
and collectibility is reasonably assured. Rental fees on cylinders,
cryogenic liquid containers, bulk gas storage tanks and other
equipment are recognized when earned. For contracts that contain
multiple deliverables, principally product supply agreements for
gases and container rental, reyenue is recognized for each deliver-

able based on its objectively determinable fair value. For cylinder
lease agreements in which rental fees are collected in advance, rev-
enues are deferred and recognized over the term of the lease
agreement. Amounts billed for sales tax, value added tax or other
transactional taxes imposed on revenue producing transactions are
presented on a net basis and are not recognized as revenue.

{p) Cost of Products Sold
Cost of products sold for the Distribution business segment
principally consists of direct material costs and freight-in for bulk
gas purchases and hardgoods|(welding supplies and equipment,
safety products and supplies)} Maintenance costs associated with
cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers and bulk tanks are also
reflected in cost of products sold.
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Cost of products sold for the All Other Operations business
segment, which produce much of the gas sold, consists of direct
material costs, direct labor, manufacturing overhead, freight-in
and internal transfer costs associated with the production of
gas products.

(q) Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses consist of labor
and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing and
distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs associated
with a variety of administrative functions such as legal, treasury,
accounting and tax, and facility-related expenses.

(r) Depreciation

The Company determines depreciation expense using the straight-
line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
Company uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes
where appropriate. Depreciation expense is recognized on all of
the Company’s property, plant and equipment in the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings line item “Depreciation.”

(s) Shipping and Handling Fees and Distribution Costs

The Company recognizes delivery and freight charges to customers
as elements of net sales. Costs of third-party freight are recognized
as cost of products sold. The majority of the costs associated with
the distribution of the Company’s products, which include direct
labor and overhead associated with filling, warehousing and
delivery by Company vehicles, is reflected in selling, distribution
and administrative expenses and were $578 million, $444 million
and $395 million for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively. The Company conducts multiple
operations out of the same facilities and does not allocate facility-
related expenses to each operational function. Accordingly, there is
no facility-related expense in the distribution costs disclosed
above. Depreciation expense associated with the Company’s
delivery fleet of $15 million, $11 million and $9.4 million was
recognized in depreciation for the fiscal years ended March 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Note 2
Accounting and Disclosure Changes

{a} Accounting Pronouncements Adopted in Fiscal 2008

SFAS 155

Effective April 1, 2007 the Company adopted the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) SFAS No. 155, Accounting
for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments, (“SFAS 155”). 8FAS 155
addresses the application of SFAS 133 to beneficial interests in
securitized financial assets. The adoption of SFAS 155 did not have
a material impact on the Company’s results of operations,
financial position or liquidity.

SFAS 156
Effective April 1, 2007 the Company adopted SFAS No. 156,
Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets, (“SFAS 1567). SFAS 156
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requires that an entity recognize a servicing asset or liability each
| time it undertakes an obligation to service a financial asset by
| entering into a service contract under certain situations. The
adoption of SFAS 156 did not have a material impact on the
Company's results of operations, financial position or liquidity.

EITF 06-3

Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted Emerging Issues
Task Force (“EITF”) No. 06-3, How Tuxes Coflected from Customers
and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in
the Income Statement, (“EITF 06-3”). EITF 06-3 requires
companies to disclose the presentation of any tax assessed by a
governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-
producing transaction between a seller and a customer {e.g., sales
and use tax} as either gross or net in the accounting principles
included in the notes to the financial statements. See Note 1 for the
Company’s policy on the net presentation of taxes.

FIN 48

Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation
No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, (“FIN 487).
FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement
of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Tax
positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold
at the effective date in order to be recognized upon the adoption of
FIN 48 and in subsequent periods. FIN 48 also provides guidance
on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting
in interim periods, disclosure and transition. See Note 6 for the
additional disclosures required by FIN 48.

SAB 108

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of
Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Statements, (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides
interpretive guidance on how the effects of the carryover or
reversal of prior year misstatements should be considered in
quantifying a current year misstatement. Prior to SAB 108, either a
balance sheet approach (“iron curtain™) or an income statement
approach {“rollover”) was utilized to quantify the materiality of
misstatements. Although either approach could result in a
different conclusion about materiality, both approaches were
acceptable. Under SAB 108, both the balance sheet and the income
statement approach must be considered when evaluating the
materiality of misstatements.

The Company adopted SAB 108 as of March 31, 2007, as required.
Prior to adoption, the Company used the income statement
approach in which only the effect of misstatements on the current
year’s consolidated statement of earnings was considered. Thus,
the effect of correcting the balance sheet for misstatements that
originated in prior years was not considered. Upon adoption of
SAB 108, the Company applied both the balance sheet and income
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statement approaches to assess the effect of misstatements,
regardless of when they originated. As a result of this dual
approach, the Company corrected two cumulative misstatements,
which included accounting for real estate lease expense and
deferred cylinder rental income associated with cylinder leases
with a term of one year or less.

The adjustment for real estate lease expense was recorded to
change a non-GAAP accounting policy for rent expense that his-
torically was recognized as paid. Under SFAS No. 13, Accounting
for Leases, when a lease contains fixed rent escalation terms, rent
expense should be recorded using a straight-line method over the
term of the lease. This effectively spreads contractual rental escala-
tions stated in the lease agreements evenly over the lease term.,

The adjustment for deferred cylinder rental income was recorded
to change a non-GAAP accounting policy and establish a liability
for deferred cylinder rental revenue associated with rental agree-
ments with customers for periods of one year or less. Historically,
the Company recognized revenue from these agreements when
rent was billed rather than over the term of the agreement.

In accordance with SAB 108, the cumulative effect adjustment of
these accounting changes was recorded to beginning retained
earnings as of April I, 2006. The accounting changes are not
expected to have a material effect on future earnings. The table
below summarizes the effect on the Company’s April 1, 2006
balance sheet:

Beginning
Deferred Straight-line Retained
Cylinder  Real Estate Earnings
Rent Leases Balance
(In thousands) Dr {Cr) Dr {Cr) Dr (Cr)
Beginning retained earnings
as of April 1, 2006 $ (665,158)
Deferred tax asset $ 5,581 3 — (5,581)
Goodwill 5,351 — (5,351)
Accrued real estate leases — {(3,269) 3,269
Deferred cylinder
rental income (14,091} — 14,091
Leng-term portion of deferred
tax liability — 1,267 (1,267)
Cumulative adjustment to
beginning retained earnings 5,161
Adjusted beginning
retained earnings as of
April 1, 2006 $ (659,997)
FIN 47

Effective March 31, 2006, the Company adopted FASB
Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations, (“FIN 47"). FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional
asset retirement obligation refers to a legal obligation to perform an
asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of
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settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not
be within the control of the entity. The obligation to perform the
agset retirement activity is unconditional even though uncertainty
exists around the timing or nllethod of settlement. FIN 47 also
provides guidance on estimating an asset retirement obligation’s
fair value, as required under SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations, and clarifies when an entity has sufficient
information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset
retirement obligation.

Lir accordance with the adoption of FIN 47 at March 31, 2006, the
Company recognized a $6 million non-current liability for asset
retirement obligations and $1.9 million in capitalizable costs net of
accumulated depreciation. A charge of $2.5 million, net of a
deferred tax benefit of $1.6 million, was also recorded as the
cumulative effect of a change|in accounting principle, The
Company’s asset retirement obligations are primarily associated
with requirements to remove|bulk gas storage tanks from customer
locations upon the termination of gas supply contracts and from
leased facilities upon the termination of lease agreements. The
ohgoing expense on an annual basis resulting from the adoption of
FIN 47 is not material.

(b} Accounting Pronouncements Issued but Not Yet Adopted
SFAS 141R

In December 2007, the FASB Iissued SFAS No. 141R, Business
Combinations, (“SFAS 141R™), which replaces SFAS 141. SFAS
141R will significantly changé the way the Company accounts for
business combinations. The more significant changes under SFAS
141R included the treatment of contingent consideration,
preacquisition contingencies,(transaction costs, in-process research
and development and restructuring costs. The standard also
require more assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be
measured at fair value as of the acquisition date and contingent
liabilities assumed will be measured at fair value in each
subsequent reporting period.[The Company will be required to
adopt SFAS 141R for acquisitlons completed after April 1, 2009
and is currently assessing the impact of SFAS 141R on the
consolidated financial statements.

SFAS 157
In September 2006, the FASB|issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements, (“SFAS 157”),This standard defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
expands disclosure about fairjvalue measurements. This
pronouncement applies to the fair value requirements as
applicable in other accounting standards that require or permit
fair value measurements. Accordingly, this statement does not
re;quire any new fair value measurement. In February 2008, the
FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 157-2, Effective Date of FASB
Statement No. 157, which delays the effective date of SFAS 157
until January 1, 2009 for all non-financial assets and liabilities,
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except those that are recognized and disclosed at fair value in the
financial statements on a recurring basis. SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 for financial assets
and Habilities as well as non-financial assets and liabilities
excluded from the deferral above. The Company is currently
evaluating the requirements of SFAS 157 and has not yet
determined the impact on the consolidated financial statements.

S5FAS 159

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, (“SFAS 1597),
which provides companies with an option to report selected
financial assets and liabilities at fair value in an attempt to reduce
both complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the
volatility in earnings caused by measuring related assets and
liabilities differently. SFAS 159 is effective as of the beginning of an
entity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007, The
Company is currently evaluating the requirements of SFAS 159
and has not yet determined the impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

SFAS 160

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Non-controlling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, {“SFAS 160™), which
amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51. SFAS 160 establishes
accounting and reporting standards that require 1) non-
controlling interests held by non-parent parties be clearly
identified and presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separate from the parent’s equity and 2} the
amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and
to the non-controlling interest be clearly presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of income. SFAS 160 also requires
consistent reporting of any changes to the parent’s ownership
while retaining a controlling financial interest, as well as specific
guidelines over how to treat the deconsolidation of controlling
interests and any applicable gains or loses. This statement is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008; earlier adoption is
prohibited. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this
statement on the consolidated financial statements.

SFA5 161

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about
Derivatives and Hedging Activities, (“SFAS 1617), which enhances
the requirements under SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivatives and
Hedging Activities. SFAS 161 requires enhanced disclosures about
an entity’s derivatives and hedging activities and how they affect
an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash
flows. This statement will be effective for fiscal years and interim
periods beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company is
currently assessing the impact to the consolidated financial
statements,
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Note 3
Acquisitions and Divestitures

(a) Acquisitions

Acquisitions have been recorded using the purchase method of
accounting and, accordingly, results of their operations have been
included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since
the effective date of each respective acquisition.

Fiscal 2008

During fiscal 2008, the Company purchased 18 businesses,
including 15 associated with the distribution of packaged gases
and related hardgoods products. The largest of these acquisitions
was the June 30, 2007 acquisition of most of the U.S. packaged gas
opetations (“Linde Packaged Gas”) of Linde AG (“Linde”) for
$310 million in cash. The operations acquired included 130
locations in 18 states, with more than 1,400 employees, and
generated approximately $346 million in revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2006. Of the 130 locations acquired, 113
locations were merged into the operations of seven regional
operating companies in the Distribution business segment while
17 branches were merged into the operations of National Welders.
A total of $162 million in cash was paid for the 14 other acquired
packaged gas distributors and the settlement of holdback liabilities
related to prior year acquisitions. These packaged gas distributors
had aggregate annual revenues of approximately $150 million. The
remaining three acquisitions were purchased for $8 million in cash
and had combined annual revenues of approximately $13 million.
These acquisitions are included in the All Other Operations
business segment. The Company acquired the 18 businesses to
expand its geographic coverage and strengthen its national
network of branch stere locations.

Purchase Price Allocation

The aggregate cash paid for the fiscal 2008 acquisitions and the set-
tlement of holdback liabilities associated with certain prior year
acquisitions was $480 million. The Company negotiated the respec-
tive purchase prices of the businesses based on the expected cash
flows to be derived from their operations after integration into the
Company’s existing distribution network. The purchase price of each
acquired business was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the date of each
respective acquisition. Certain purchase price allocations continue to
be based on preliminary estimates of fair value and are subject to
revision as the Company finalizes appraisals and other analyses.

The table below summarizes the allocation of the purchase price of
all fiscal 2008 acquisitions by business segment as well as
adjustments related to prior year acquisitions. Information in the
Linde Acquisitions columns also includes adjustments to the
purchase price allocations between business segments related to
the Linde Packaged Gas acquisition and the March 9, 2007
acquisition of certain operations of Linde’s U.S. bulk gas business
(“Linde Bulk Gas”}.
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Linde Acquisitions Remaining Acquisitions

All Other All Other

Distribution Operations Distribution Operations
{In thousands) Segment  Segment  Segment  Segment Total
Current assets, net $ 69041 % 16186 % 31,171 § 1,341 $117,739
Property and equipment 160,940 {7,184) 68,132 4,723 226611
Goodwill 88330  {33,616) 18,444 1,049 134,207
Other intangible assets 61,584 12,025 23,123 3,768 100,500
Current liabilities (40,344) (6,969) (15,582 {2,214)  (65,109)
Long-term liabilities (7,336) (2.667) (22,903 {946)  (33,852)
Inter-segment transfers (78,707) 78,707 — — —
Total cash consideration § 253,508 § 56,482 $162385 § 7,721 $480,096

After giving effect to purchase price allocations between business
segments (i.e. Inter-segment transfers), the cash paid and allocation
of the combined purchase price of the Linde Bulk Gas and Linde
Packaged Gas businesses, by business segment, are summarized in
the table below. Transaction costs of approximately $10 million are
reflected in current liabilities in the table below. For income tax
purposes, Airgas and Linde have agreed on the purchase price allo-
cations. Goodwill associated with these acquisitions is deductible
for income tax purposes. Other intangible assets primarily consist
of value assigned to customer lists totaling $88 million, which are
being amortized over periods ranging from 14 to 17 years.

All Other
Distribution  Operations
(It thousands}) Segment Segment Total
Current assets, net $ 87.261 g 24,890 $ 112,151
Property and equipment 240,411 215,733 456,144
Goodwill 175,035 46,599 221,634
Gther intangible assets 74,299 16,010 90,309
Current liabilities {40,414} (23,153) (63,567)
Long-term liabilities (8,827) (3,044) {11,871)
Total cash consideration $ 527,765 $ 277,035 $ B04,800

At September 30, 2007, pursuant to the Company’s plan to integrate
the Linde Packaged Gas business into its regional company
structure, the Company recorded initial estimates related to the
integration plan. The costs expected to be incurred in connection
with this plan principally consist of one-time severance benefits to
employees of the acquired operations who are involuntarily
terminated and facility exit related costs associated with exiting
certain acquired facilities that overlap with the Company’s current
operations. The table below summarizes the liabilities established
through purchase accounting, adjustments to these liabilities based
on revisions to the Company’s integration plan and the related
payments made during fiscal 2008:

Facility Other Total

Severence Exit Integration Integration

(In thousands) Accruals Actruals Accruals Accruals
Amounts originally included

in purchase accounting $ 5265 % 5700 % — % 10,965

Payments (2,781) (873 {962} (4,616)

Adjustments 892 369 6,213 7474

March 31, 2008 Balance $ 3376 % 519 § 5251 % 13,823
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The Company recognized liabilities of $6.2 million for severance
related to employee terminations, $6.1 million for facility-related
e)i;it costs and $6.2 million for other integration obligations.
Through March 31, 2008, the Company has made significant
progress related to its integration plan and expects to substantially
complete the headcount reductlons and the exiting of former
Linde facilities by December 31 2008. The facility-related costs
principally reflect accruals associated with non-cancelable lease
obligations, the majority of which are associated with the former
Linde corporate headquarters. in connection with leased locations
that are closed, the Company will generally pursue a negotiated
early termination of the lease|or sublease the vacated locations
through the remaining lease term. Non-cancelable lease
obligations extend up to 10 years. Owned properties that are
closed will be held for sale. Oicr integration costs principally
reflect an estimated $4.1 million multi-employer pension plan
withdrawal liability associated with the exiting of union contracts.

Pro Forma Operating Results

The following represents unaudited pro forma operating results as
if the fiscal 2008 and 2007 acquisitions had occurred on April 1,
2006. The pro forma results were prepared from financial
information obtained from the sellers of the businesses as well as
information obtained duringjthe due diligence process associated
with the acquisitions. Pro forma adjustments to the historic
financial information of the businesses acquired were limited to
those related to the Company’s stepped-up basis in acquired assets,
assumed liabilities and adjustments to reflect the Company’s
borrowing and tax rates. The pro forma operating results do not
include benefits associated w1th anticipated synergies related to
combining the businesses or 1ntegrat10n costs. The pro forma
operating results were prepared for comparative purposes only and
do not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred had

the acquisitions been made as of April 1, 2006 or of results that
may occur in the future.
Unaudited

Years Ended March 31,
(In thousands, except per share amounis) 2008 2007
Net sales § 4205464  § 3,950,425
Net earnings 224,303 160,283
Diluted earnings per share $ 267 $ 1.99
Fiscal 2007

During fiscal 2007, the Company purchased 13 businesses. The
largest of the acquisitions was the U.S. bulk gas business of Linde,
purchased March 9, 2007. The acquisition included eight air
separation units and related bulk gas business with about 300
employees and approximate annual revenues of $176 million, net
of sales to the Company. The acquired business was renamed
“Airgas Merchant Gases” andinow manages production,
distribution and administrative functions for the air separation
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plants. In connection with the transaction, most of the acquired
bulk gas customers and related service equipment were transferred
to existing Distribution business units. Airgas Merchant Gases
operates principally as an internal supplier to the business units in
the Distribution business segment. The operations of Airgas
Merchant Gases have been included in the All Other Operations
business segment. Also included in the All Other Operations
business segment are the specialty gas business acquired from the
Union Industrial Gas Group and the refrigerant products and
services business acquired from CFC Refimax, LLC, with
combined annual revenues of approximately $27 million. The
acquisitions were integrated into the operations of Airgas Specialty
Gases and Airgas Specialty Products, respectively. The remaining
fiscal 2007 acquisitions, with annual revenues of approximately
$140 million, were assumed by regional operating companies in
the Distribution business segment. The Company acquired the
businesses to expand its geographic coverage and strengthen its
national network of branch store locations.

Purchase Price Allocation

The aggregate cash paid for the fiscal 2007 acquisitions and the
settlement of holdback liabilities associated with certain prior year
acquisitions was $688 million. The Company negotiated the
respective purchase prices of the businesses based on the expected
cash flows to be derived from their operations after integration
into the Company. The purchase price of each acquired business
was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on their estimated fair values as of the dates of each respective
acquisition. The purchase price allocations were based on
preliminary estimates of fair value and were subject to revision as
the Company finalized appraisals and other analyses. In addition,
the purchase agreement provides that for Federal income tax
purposes Linde and the Company had to agree on the purchase
price allocation within 180 days from the acquisition closing date.
Goodwill associated with the fiscal 2007 acquisitions is deductible
for income tax purposes. The table below summarizes the
allocation of purchase price of all fiscal 2007 acquisitions as well as
adjustments related to prior year acquisitions. Transaction costs of
approximately $5 million associated with the Linde Bulk Gas
acquisition are reflected in current liabilities below.

Linde Bulk Gas Remaining
Acquisition Acquisitions
All Other All Other
Distribution Qperations Distribution Operations
(In thousands) Segment  Segment  Segment  Segment Total

Current assets, net $ 18220 § 8704 § 26694 § 9745 % 63,363

Property and equipment 79,471 222,917 66,572 1,653 370,613
Goodwill 86,705 80,215 10,194 23,480 260,594
Cther intangible assets 12,715 3,985 20,400 7.442 44,542
Current liabilities (700 (16,184)  (23,303) 264 {39,293}
Long-term liabilities {1,491) {377 (5,682 4,377 {11,927}

Total cash consideration $ 195,550 §299,260 $154,875 § 38,207 $687,892
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Pro Forma Operating Results

The following presents unaudited pro forma operating results as if
the fiscal 2007 and 2006 acquisitions had occurred on April 1,
2005. The pro forma results were prepared from financial
informatton obtained during the due diligence process associated
with the acquisitions. Pro forma adjustments to the historic
financial information of businesses acquired were limited to those
related to the Company’s stepped-up basis in acquired assets,
assumed liabilities and adjustments to reflect the Company’s
borrowing and tax rates. The pro forma results have been prepared
for comparative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative
of what would have occurred had the acquisitions been made as of
April 1, 2005 or of results that may occur in the future.

Unaudited
Years Ended March 31,
i {In thousands, except per share amounts} 2007 2006
| Net sales $ 3,449,150 $ 3,188,787
| Net earnings 162,029 128,302
Diluted earnings per share S 2.0 3 1.63
Fiscal 2006

During fiscal 2006, the Company purchased 13 businesses (includ-
ing three businesses acquired by National Welders) associated with
the distribution of packaged gases and related hardgoods products,
dry ice, and anhydrous ammonia. The largest of the acquisitions
included that of the Industrial Products Division of LaRoche
Industries {“LaRoche™), a leading distributor of anhydrous ammo-
nia and related services in the U.S. The anhydrous ammonia
business acquired from LaRoche in June 2005 generated aggregate
annual revenues of approximately $65 million. The LaRoche oper-
ations were incorporated into a new business unit, “Airgas
Specialty Products,” that was added to the All Other Operations
business segment. The Company believes the bulk ammonia cus-
tomers served by LaRoche represent a cross selling opportunity for
the Company’s complimentary product lines. In addition to the
LaRoche business, three businesses were acquired with aggregate
annual revenues of approximately $17 million and were included
in the AH Other Operations business segment. The remaining nine
acquired businesses had aggregate annual revenues of $59 million
and were included in the Distribution business segment. The
Company acquired the businesses to expand its geographic cover-
age and strengthen its national network of branch store locations.
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Purchase Price Allocation

The aggregate cash paid for the fiscal 2006 acquisitions was $128
million. The Company negotiated the respective purchase prices of
the businesses based on the expected cash flows to be derived from
their operations after integration into the Company’s existing
distribution network. The purchase price of each acquired
business was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair vatues as of the dates of each
respective acquisition. Approximately $45 million of the purchase
price assigned to goodwill will be deductible for income taxes. The
table below summarizes the allocation of purchase price of all
acquisitions categorized by segment.

All Other
Distribution Operations
(In thousands) Segment Segment Total
Current assets, net $ 13,146 $ 17,045 $ 30,19
Property and equipment 23,668 23,757 47,425
Goodwill 21,409 32,723 54,132
Other intangible assets 7,328 7.519 14,847
Current liabilities (4,817} {6,926) (11,743)
Contingent consideration (6,286} {266) (6,552)
Total cash consideration $ 54,448 $ 73,852 $ 128,300

In addition, during fiscal 2006, the Company paid approximately
$25 million in acquisition-related holdback contingent payments.
The contingent payments included $20 million paid to The BOC
Group, Inc. (“BOC”) associated with the July 2004 purchase of
BOC’s U.S. packaged gas business. The contingent consideration
paid to BOC was determined based on the Company achieving
certain financial targets that were set forth in the asset purchase
agreement as well as other factors associated with the transaction.

(b} Divestitures

Fiscal 2006

On December 1, 2005, the Company sold its Rutland Tool &
Supply Co. (“Rutland Tool”) subsidiary. Rutland Tool distributed
metalworking tools, machine tools and maintenance, repair and
operating (“MRO”} supplies from seven locations and had
approximately 180 employees. Proceeds of the sale were
approximately $15 million. As a result of the divestiture, the
Company reflected the operating results of Rutland Tool as
“discontinued operations” and recognized a loss of approximately
$3.1 million, $1.9 million after tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, on
the sale. The loss principally relates to the write-off of leasehold
improvements and lease termination costs for long-term lease
commitments that are not being assumed by the purchaser. No
portion of conselidated interest expense was allocated to the
discontinued operations. The operating results of Rutland Tool
were previously reflected in the Distribution business segment.

The net sales and loss before income taxes of Rutland Tool
(including the loss on sale) for the year ended March 31, 2006,
which were segregated and reported as discontinued operations,
were $32.7 million and $2.4 million, respectively.
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Note 4

Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with three
commercial banks to which it sells qualifying trade receivables on a
revolving basis. In December, 2007, the Company amended the
agreement adding its 100% awned subsidiaries, National Welders
and Airgas Merchant Gases, LLC, as originators of trade receiv-
ables and expanded the size of the facility to $360 million. The
agreement will expire in March 2010, but may be renewed subject
to renewal provisions contained in the agreement. During year
ended March 31, 2008, the Company sold $3.75 billion of trade
receivables and remitted to bank conduits, pursuant to a servicing
agreement, $3.65 billion in collecnons on those receivables. The
amount of receivables sold ulllder the agreement was $360 million
at March 31, 2008 and $264 million at March 31, 2007,

The transaction has been accloumed for as a sale under the
provisions of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Linbilities. Under the
securitization agreement, trade receivables are sold to bank
conduits through a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity,
which is consolidated for financial reporting purposes. The
difference between the proceeds from the sale and the carrying
value of the receivables is recognized as “Discount on
securitization of trade recelvables in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Earmngs and varies on a monthly
basis depending on the amount of receivables sold and market
rates. The Company retains a'subordinated interest in the
receivables sold, which is recorded at the receivables’ previous
carrying value.

Subordinated retained interest of approximately $164 million, net
of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $22 million, and $141
million, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $14 million,
are included in “Trade receivables” in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets ]at March 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. On a monthly balsis, management measures the fair
value of the retained interest at management’s best estimate of the
undiscounted expected future cash collections on the transferred
recelvables Changes in the falr value are recognized as bad debt
expense. Actual cash collections may differ from these estimates
and would directly affect the fair value of the retained interest. In

accordance with a servicing agreement, the Company continues to
service, administer and collect the trade receivables on behalf of

the bank conduits. The servicing fees charged to the bank conduits
approximate the costs of collections. Accordingly, the net servicing
aéset is immaterial.
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Note 5
Inventories, Net

Inventories, net, consist of:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2008 2007

Hardgoods $ 275,611 $ 218,348

Gases 55121 31,960
$ 330,732 $ 250,308

Hardgoods inventories determined by the LIFO inventory method
totaled $50 million at March 31, 2008 and $37 million at March
31, 2007. The balance of the hardgoods inventories is valued using
the FIFO inventory method. If the FIFO inventory method had
been used for all of the Company’s hardgoods inventories, the
carrying value of the inventory would have been $8.5 miilion and
$7.5 million higher at March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Substantially alt of the inventories are finished goods.

Note 6
income Taxes

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes,
minority interest and change in accounting principle were derived
from the following sources:

{In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006
United States $ 358,381 $ 246,699 $ 200,039
Foreign 12,381 10,445 7,998

% 370,762 $ 257.144 $ 208,037

Income tax expense from continuing operations consists of:

{In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006
Current:

Federal 3 60,221 § 41,760 $ 26,551
Foreign 3,718 2,725 2,673
State 5,520 3,487 1,494
69,458 47,972 30,718

Deferred:
Federal 62,351 46,440 43,672
Foreign 484 491 98
State 11,890 4,980 3,378
74,725 51,911 47,148
$ 144,184 $ 99,883 $ 77,866
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Significant differences between taxes computed at the federal
statutory rate and the provision for income taxes were:

Years Ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006
Taxes at U.5. federal
statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase {decrease) in
income taxes resulting from:
State income taxes,
net of federal benefit 3.3% 2.9% 2.2%
Stock-based compensation
expense 0.3% 0.5% —
Change in state tax law (0.3%) (0.8%) —
Other, net 0.6% 1.2% 0.2%
38.9% 38.8% 37.4%

The tax effects of cumulative temporary differences and carry-
forwards that gave rise to the significant portions of the deferred
tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

{In thousands)

March 31, 2008 2007
Deferred Tax Assets:

inventories $ 10,881 $ 9,177
Deferred renta! income 14,480 12,468
Insurance reserves 9,864 10,466
Litigation settlement and other reserves 1,634 2,745
Asset retirement obligations 3,513 792
Net cperating loss carryforwards 20,424 20,217
Stock-based compensation 8,801 4,263
Other 16,011 10,204
Valuation allowance (5,098) {5,432)
80,510 64,900

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Accounts receivable (1,379) (2,683)
Plant and equipment (414,961) {338,431)
Intangible assets (66,211} (49,323)
Other (15,483) {16,705)
{498,034) (407,142)
Net deferred tax liability $ {417,524) $ (342,242)

Current deferred tax assets and current deferred tax liabilities
have been netted for presentation purposes. Non-current deferred
tax assets and non-current deferred tax liabilities have also

been netted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets as follows:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2008 2007
Current deferred tax asset, net $ 22,258 $ 31,004
Non-current deferred tax liability, net {(439,782) {373,246)
Net deferred tax liability $ (417,524) $ (342,242)

The Company has recorded tax benefits amounting to

$13.3 million, $9.0 million, and $7.9 million in fiscal 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively, resulting from the exercise of stock options.
This benefit has been recorded in capital in excess of par value.
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The Company has recorded deferred tax assets related to the
expected future tax benefits of net operating losses of $20.4 million
in fiscal 2008 and $20.2 million in fiscal 2007, All federal loss carry-
forwards recognized in fiscal years 2005 and 2006 were utilized in
2007. State loss carryforwards expire at various times through 2028,

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management
considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation
of future taxable income during the periods in which these
temporary differences and carryforward deferred tax assets become
deductible or utilized. Management considers the reversal of
deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable income in
making this assessment.

Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for
future taxable income over the periods which the deferred tax assets
reverse, at March 31, 2008 management believes it is more likely than
not that the Company will realize the benefits of these deferred tax
assets, net of the existing valuation allowances. Valuation allowances
primarily relate to certain state net operating loss carryforwards.

In fiscal 2008, the Company revised its estimates of the realizability
of certain tax benefits associated with state net operating loss
carryforwards. Those revisions, along with changes due to the uti-
lization and expiration of net operating loss carryforwards, resulted
in a $334 thousand reduction in the related valuation allowances.

Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted FIN 48, which
provides guidance on how a company should recognize, measure
and disclose in its financial statements uncertain income tax
positions that a company has taken or expects to take on a tax
return. Unrecognized tax benefits represent income tax positions
taken on income tax returns that have not been recognized in the
consolidated financial statements. The adoption of FIN 48 resulted
in the Company recording a $290 thousand incremental liability
for unrecognized tax benefits and a corresponding reduction in
retained earnings.

As of March 31, 2008, the Company has unrecognized tax benefits
of approximately $10 million, which has been recorded as a2 non-
current liability, and a related $3 million tax asset recorded in other
non-current assets, If recognized, all of the unrecognized tax
benefits and related interest and penalties would reduce tax expense.
The Company does not anticipate significant changes in the amount
of unrecognized income tax benefits over the next year.

(In thousands}

Unrecognized income tax benefits as of April 1, 2007 $ 7,040
Additions for tax positions of prior years 276
Additions for current year tax positions 402
Reductions for settiements with taxing authcrities (399}
Reductions as a resutt of expirations of applicable

statutes of limitations (356)
Unrecognized income tax benefits as of March 31, 2008 $ 6,963
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i Interest and penalties of $100ithousand were recognized for the year

| ended March 31, 2008 and welre classified as income tax expense in

| the consolidated financial statements. Consistent with past practice,
the Company will continue to record interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and
foreign jurisdictions. The Company also files income tax returns in
every state which imposes corporate income tax. The Company is
currently under audit by the lIRS for the year ended March 31, 2006
and is not under examination in any significant foreign and state
and local tax jurisdictions. With limited exceptions, the Company is
no longer subject to U.S. fedelral, state and local, or foreign income
tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2003.

Note 7
Plant and Equipment

The major classes of plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows:

(In thousands) Depreciable
March 31, Lives (Yrs) 2008 2007
Land and land improvements — § 1nam9 4 89,522
Buildings and leasehold

improvements 25 306,308 265,146
Cylinders 30 1,218,959 972,487
Bulk tank stations 10 to 30 (Average 21) 402,352 365,630
Rental equipment 3to 10 199,794 154,240
Machinery and equipment 71010 593,758 581,805
Computers, furniture

and fixtures 3to 10 146,387 130,755
Transporiation equipment 3015 200,892 178,152
Construction in progress — 46,204 18,010

§ 3232673 § 2,755,747

Note B
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2008 and
2007 were as follows:

All Other

Distribution  Operations
(In thousands) Segment Segment Total
Balance at March 31, 2006 $402,582 $ 163,492 $ 566,074
Acquisitions 156,899 103,695 260,594
Other adjustmenis (157) 300 143
SAB 108 adjustments 5,351 — 5,351
Balance at March 31, 2007 §,564,675 $ 267,487 $ 832,162
Acquisitions 171,274 (37,030) 134,184
Other adjustments . 2,602 11 2,713
$]738,551 § 230,508 $ 969,059

Balance at March 31, 2008

Airgas, Inc.

The valuations of other intangible assets and the resulting
goodwill of certain recent acquisitions are based on preliminary
estimates of fair value and are subject to revision as the Company
finalizes appraisals and other analyses. The fiscal 2008 reduction of
goodwill in the All Other Operations business segment primarily
refates to the completion of the purchase accounting for the

Linde transactions.

SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, requires the
Company to perform an assessment at least annually of the
carrying value of goodwill associated with each of its reporting
units. The Company elected 1o perform its annual assessment as of
October 31 of each year. As of October 31, 2007, the Company
determined the implied fair value of each of its reporting units
using discounted cash flow analyses and compared such values to
the carrying value of each of the respective reporting units, This
annual assessment indicated that the Company’s carrying value of
goodwill was not impaired.

Other intangible assets that are not fully amortized amounted to
$149 million and $63 million, net of accumulated amortization of
$28 million and $27 million at March 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. These intangible assets primarily consist of acquired
customer lists that are amortized over 7 to 17 vears and non-
compete agreements entered into in connection with business
combinations that are amortized over the term of the agreements.
There are ne expected residual values related to these intangible
assets. [ntangible assets also include trade names with indefinite
useful lives valued at $1.3 million. Estimated future amortization
expense by fiscal year is as follows: 2009 — $16.5 million; 2¢10 —
$15.9 million; 2011 - $15.4 million; 2012 — $14.2 million; 2013 -
$13.5 million and $73.5 million thereafter,

Note 9
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities include:

{In thousands)

March 31, 2008 2007
Accrued payroll and employee benefits $ 86,490 $ 71,685
Business insurance reserves 29,430 26,390
Deferred rental revenue 22,641 19,797
Taxes other than income taxes 22,628 14,771
Cash overdraft 56,739 57.056

Other accrued expenses and
curzent liabilities 62,952 51,576
$ 280,880 $ 241,275
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Note 10
Indebtedness

Long-term debt consists of:

(In thousands}

March 31, 2008 2007
Revolving credit borrowings $ 883,291 § 489,398
Term loans 487,500 577,500
Money market loans 30,000 30,000
Senior subordinated notes 150,000 150,000
Acquisition and other notes 29,257 17,440
National Welders debt — 85,677
Total long-term debt 1,580,048 1,350,015
Less current partion of long-term debt (40,400) {40,296)

Long-term debt, excluding current portion  $ 1,539,648 $ 1,309,719

Senior Credit Facility

The Company maintains a senior credit facility with a syndicate of
lenders. The $1.7 billion senior unsecured credit facility (the
“Credit Facility”) permits the Company to borrow up to $1,066
millicn under a U.S. dollar revolving credit line, up to C$40
millien (U.S. $39 million) under a Canadian dollar revolving
credit line and up to $600 million under two or more term loans.
The Company used borrowings under the term loan provision of
the Credit Facility to finance the $100 million maturity of its
7.75% medium-term notes on September 15, 2006. The remaining
$500 million term loan was used to finance the Linde Bulk Gas
acquisition that closed on March 9, 2007, The Credit Facility will
mature on July 25, 2011.

As of March 31, 2008, the Company had approximately $1,371
million of borrowings under the Credit Facility: $859 million under
the U.S. dollar revolver, C$25 million (U.S. $24 million) under the
Canadian dollar revolver and $488 million under the term loans.
The term loans are repayable in quarterly installments of $22.5
million through June 30, 2010. The quarterly installments then
increase to $71.2 million from September 30, 2010 to June 30, 2011.
Principal payments due in fiscal 2009 on the term loans are
classified as “Long-term debt” in the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets based on the Company’s ability and intention to
refinance the payments with borrowings under its long-term
revolving credit facilities. The Company also had outstanding letters
of credit of $35 million issued under the Credit Facility. The U.S.
dollar borrowings and the term loans bear interest at London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 75 basis points and the
Canadian dollar borrowings bear interest at the Canadian Bankers’
Acceptance Rate plus 75 basis points. As of March 31, 2008, the
average effective interest rates on the U.S. dollar borrowings, the
term loans and the average Canadian dollar borrowings were 3.62%,
3.45% and 4.50%, respectively.

As of March 31, 2008, approximately $171 million remained unused
under the U.S. dollar revolving credit line and approximately C$15
million (U.S. $15 million) remained unused under the Canadian
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dollar revolving credit line. As of March 31, 2008, the financial
covenants of the Credit Facility do not limit the Company’s ability
to borrow on the unused portion of the Credit Facility, The Credit
Facility contains customary events of default, including nonpay-
ment and breach covenants. In the event of default, repayment of
borrowings under the Credit Facility may be accelerated.

The Company’s domestic subsidiaries, exclusive of a bankruptcy
remote special purpose entity {the “domestic subsidiaries™),
guarantee the U.S. and Canadian borrowings. The Canadian
borrowings are also guaranteed by the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries. The guarantees are full and unconditional and are
made on a joint and several basis. The Company has pledged 100%
of the stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its
foreign subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under the Credit
Facility. The Credit Facility provides for the release of the
guarantees and collateral if the Company attains an investment
grade credit rating and a similar release on all other debt,

Money Market Loans

The Company has an agreement with a financial institution that
provides access to short-term advances not to exceed $30 million
for a maximum term of three months. The agreement expires on
June 30, 2008, but may be extended subject to renewal provisions
contained in the agreement. The amount, term and interest rate of
an advance are established through mutual agreement with the
financial institution when the Company requests such an advance.
At March 31, 2008, the Company had outstanding advances under
the agreement of $30 million, which bears interest at 3.32%.

The Company also entered into an agreement with another
financial institution that prevides access to short-term advances
not to exceed $35 million. The advances are generally for overnight
or up to seven days. The amount, term and interest rate of an
advance are established through mutual agreement with the
financial institution when the Company requests such an advance.
At March 31, 2008, there were no short-term advances outstanding
under this agreement.

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2008, the Company had $150 million of senior
subordinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) outstanding with a
maturity date of July 15, 2014, The 2004 Notes bear interest at a
fixed annual rate of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15
and July 15 of each year. The 2004 Notes have an optional
redemption provision, which permits the Company, at its option,
to call the 2004 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. The first
scheduled optional redemption date is July 15, 2009 at a price of
103.125% of the principal amount.

The 2004 Notes contain covenants that could restrict the payment
of dividends, the repurchase of common stock, the issuance of
preferred stock, and the incurrence of additional indebtedness and
liens. The 2004 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed
jointly and severally, on a subordinated basis, by each of the wholly
owned domestic guarantors under the Credit Facility.
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On QOctober 27, 2006, the Company redeemed its $225 million
9.125% senior subordinated|notes in full at a premium of
104.563% of the principal amount with proceeds from the
Company’s Credit Facility. In conjunction with the redemption of
the notes, the Company recagnized a charge on the early
extinguishment of debt of approximately $12.1 million ($7.9
million after tax) in October 2006. The charge relates to the
redemption premium and the write-off of unamortized debt
issuance costs.

Acquisition and Other Nottlas

The Company’s long-term dlebt also included acquisition and
other notes principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of
businesses acquired and arejrepayable in periodic installments. At
March 31, 2008, acquisition|and other notes totaled $29.3 million
with an average interest rate of approximately 6% and an average
maturity of approximately 2 years.

Refinancing of National Welders Debt

[Effective July 3, 2007, the C(:)mpany amended its Credit Facility to
increase the size of its U.S. dollar revolving credit line by $100
million to $1,066 million. As discussed in Note 13, National
Welders became a 100% owlned subsidiary of the Company on July
3,2007. Concurrently, Natic’mal Welders’ debt of $87.5 million was
refinanced by the Company under the expanded U.S. dollar
revolving credit line.

Aggregate Long-term Deblt Maturities
The aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

{In thousands)
Years Ending March 31,

2009® % 40,400
2010 100,137
2011 241,559
2012 1,045,977
;3 718
Thereafter 151,257
371.580.048_

{1} The Company has the ability and intention of zefinancing current mazurities related to the term
loans under its Credit Facility with|its long-term revolving credi line. Therefore, principat pay-
ments due in fiscal 2009 an the teym loans have been reflected as long term in the aggregate
maturity schedule.

Note 11

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Summarized below are the carrying and fair values of the
Company’s financial instruments at March 31, 2008 and 2007.

The fair value of the Company’s publicly traded financial instru-
ments is based on market pricing. The fair value of other
non-publicly traded financial instruments is based on estimates
using standard pricing maodels that take into account the present
value of future cash flows as of the balance sheet date. The compu-
tation of fair values of these instruments is generally performed by
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the Company. The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet
for trade receivables and payables, accrued liabilities, accrued
income taxes, and short-term borrowings approximate fair value
due to the short-term nature of these instruments. Accordingly,
these items have been excluded from the following table:

2008 2008 2007 2007
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair
(In thousands) Value Value value Value
Financial Instruments:
Revolving credit borrowings $883,291 $883,29t $483,398 § 489,398
Term loans 487,500 487,500 577,500 577,500
Money market loans 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
Senior subordinated notes 150,000 148,125 150,000 146,250
Acquisition and other notes 29,257 29,662 17,440 17,440
Mational Welders debt —_ — 85,677 85,677
Interest rate swap agreements:
Cash flow hedge (asset) libility 20,850 20,850 (106} {106)

Note 12
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest
rates. The Company's involvement with derivative instruments is
limited to highly effective fixed interest rate swap agreements used
to manage well-defined interest rate risk exposures. The Company
monitors its positions and credit ratings of its counterparties and
does not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties. Interest
rate swap agreements are not entered into for trading purposes.

At March 31, 2008, the Company had 19 fixed interest rate swap
agreements with a notional amount of $602 million, These swaps
effectively convert $602 million of variable interest rate debt
associated with the Company’s Credit Facility to fixed rate debt. At
March 31, 2008, these swap agreements required the Company to
make fixed interest payments based on a weighted average effective
rate of 4.94% and receive variable interest payments from the
counterparties based on a weighted average variable rate of 2.90%.
The remaining terms of each of these swap agreements range from
2 to 30 months. During fiscal 2008, the fair value of the fixed
interest rate swap agreements declined, and the Company recorded
a corresponding decrease to accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) of $20.9 million. A net loss related to the
ineffectiveness of the hedging relationship was recognized as
interest expense and was insignificant.

A majority of the Company’s variable rate debt is based on a
spread over LIBOR. Based on the Company's fixed to variable
interest rate ratio at March 31, 2008, for every 25 basis point
increase in LIBOR, the Company estimates that its annual interest
expense would increase by approximately $3 million.
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Note 13
National Welders Exchange Transaction

Since June 1996, the Company had an interest in a joint venture,
National Welders, a preducer and distributor of industrial gases
based in Charlotte, North Carolina. Ownership interests in
National Welders consisted of voting common stock and voting
redeemable preferred stock with a 5% annual dividend. The
Company owned 100% of the joint venture’s common stock,
which represented a 50% voting interest. The payment of
dividends on the common stock was subordinate to the payment
of a 5% dividend on the preferred stock. Additionally, the common
stock dividends had to be declared by a vote of the joint venture’s
board of directors. A family held approximately 3.2 million shares
of redeemable preferred stock and controlled the balance of the
voting interest. Through June 30, 2009, the preferred stockholders
had the option to redeem their preferred shares for cash at a price
of $17.78 per share or to tender them to the joint venture in
exchange for approximately 2.3 million shares of Airgas common
stock. The common stock and cash redemption options were
equivalent when Airgas’ common stock’s market value was $24.45
per share.

Since the December 2003 adoption of FASB Interpretation No.
46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, the Company’s
National Welders joint venture was consolidated with the
operations of the Company. As a consolidated entity, the assets and
liabilities of the joint venture were included with the Company’s
assets and liabilities and the preferred stockholders’ interest in
those assets and liabilities was reflected as “Minority interest in
affiliate” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. Likewise,
the operating results of the joint venture were reflected broadly
across the Consolidated Statement of Earnings with the preferred
stockholders’ proportionate share of the joint venture’s operating
results reflected, net of tax, as “Minority interest in earnings of
conseclidated affiliate”

On July 3, 2007, the preferred stockholders of the National Welders
joint venture exchanged their preferred stock for commeoen stock of
Airgas (the “National Welders Exchange Transaction”). The
Company issued 2.471 million shares of Airgas common stock to
the preferred stockholders in exchange for all 3.2 million preferred
shares of National Welders. As part of the negotiated exchange, in
addition to the shares of Airgas common stock the preferred
stockholders had the option to acquire, the Company issued an
additional 144 thousand Airgas common shares {included in the
2.471 million shares) to the preferred stockholders, which resulted
in a one-time net after-tax charge of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per
diluted share. The net after-tax charge was reflected in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings as “Minority interest in
earnings of consolidated affiliate” and consisted of $7 million
related to the additional shares issued net of the reversal of a
deferred tax liability related to the undistributed earnings of the
National Welders joint venture of $4.5 million, Upon the
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exchange, National Welders became a 100% owned subsidiary of

Airgas, the Minority interest in affiliate of $57.2 million at March
31, 2007 was relieved and Common stock and Capital in excess of
par value were increased by approximately $64 million.

Note 14
Stockholders’ Equity

{a) Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 200 million shares of
common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. At March 31,
2008, the number of shares of commeon stock outstanding was 82.3
million, excluding 1.8 million shares of common stock held as
treasury stock. At March 31, 2007, the number of shares of
common stock outstanding was 78.7 million, excluding 1.3 million
shares of common stock held as treasury stock.

(b) Preferred Stock and Redeemable Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 20 million shares of
preferred stock. Of the 20 million shares autherized, 200 thousand
shares have been designated as Series A junior Participating
Preferred Stock, 200 thousand shares have been designated as
Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock and 200 thousand
shares have been designated as Series C Junior Participating
Preferred Stock (see Stockholder Rights Plan below). At March 31,
2008 and 2007, no shares of the preferred stock were issued or
outstanding. The preferred stock may be issued from time to time
by the Company’s Board of Directors in one or more series. The
Board of Directors is authorized to fix the dividend rights and
terms, conversion rights, voting rights, rights and terms of
redemption, liquidation preferences, and any other rights,
preferences, privileges and restrictions of any series of preferred
steck, and the number of shares censtituting such series and
designation thereof.

Additionally, the Company is authorized 10 issue 30 thousand shares
of redeemable preferred stock. At March 31, 2008 and 2007, no
shares of redeemable preferred stock were issued or outstanding.

(c) Dividends

The Company paid its stockholders quarterly cash dividends of
$0.09 per share at the end of each of the first three quarters of
fiscal 2008. In March 2008, the Company paid a regular quarterly
cash dividend of $0.12 per share, representing a 33% increase from
the previous quarterly dividend. During fiscal 2007 and 2006, the
Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of
$0.07 and $0.06 per share, respectively. Future dividend
declarations and associated amounts paid will depend upon the
Company'’s €arnings, financial condition, loan covenants, capital
requirements and other factors deemed relevant by management
and the Company’s Board of Directors.
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{d) Stockholder Rights Plan
Effective May 8, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a
stockholder rights plan (the 12007 Rights Plan™). Pursuant to the
2007 Rights Plan, the Board of Directors declared a dividend
distribution of one right for each share of common stock. Each
right entitles the holder to plllrchase from the Company one ten-
thousandth of a share of Series C Junior Participating Preferred
Stock at an initial exercise pr'ice of $230 per share. The 2007 Rights
Plan is intended to assure that all of the Company’s stockholders
receive fair and equal treatmlent in the event of any proposed
takeover of the Company and to protect stockholders’ interests in
the event the Company is confronted with partial tender offers or
other coercive or unfair takebver tactics.

Rights become exercisable after 10 days following the acquisition
by a person or group of 15% (or 20% in the case of Peter
McCausland and certain of his affiliates) or more of the
Company’s cutstanding commeon stock, or 10 business days {or
later if determined by the Board of Directors in accordance with
the plan) after the announcement of a tender offer or exchange
offer to acquire 15% (or 20% in the case of Peter McCausland and
certain of his affiliates) or more of the outstanding commen stock.
If such a person or group acquires 15% or more (or 20% or more,
as the case may be} of the common stock, each right (other than
such person’s or group’s rights, which will become void} will
entitle the holder to purchase, at the exercise price, common stock
having a market value equal to twice the exercise price. In certain
circumstances, the rights may be redeemed by the Company at an
initial redemption price of $0.0001 per right. If not redeemed, the
rights will expire on May 8, 2017,

(e) Stock Repurchase Plan

In November 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a
stock repurchase plan (the "f{epurchase Plan”) that provided the
Company with the authorization to repurchase up to $150 million
of its common stock. The Repurchase Plan was suspended in July
2006 while the Company consummated its acquisitions of Linde
AG’s U.S. bulk and packagedI gas assets. In March 2008, the
Company announced the reinstatement of its Repurchase Plan and
496 thousand shares of Company common stock were repurchased
for $21.6 million. Since inception, a total of 865 thousand shares
have been repurchased under the plan for $34 million and $116
million of the original $150 million authorization remains
available for future common stock purchases.

{f) Employee Benefits Trust

The Company maintained an Employee Benefits Trust to fund
obligations of the Company:s employee benefit and compensation
plans. Shares were purchased by the Employee Benefits Trust from

the Company at fair market value and were reflected as a reduction
of stockholders’ equity. Shares were transferred from the Employee
Benefits Trust to fund compensation and employee benefit
obligations based on the original cost of the shares to the trust.
The satisfaction of compensation and employee benefit plan

Airgas, Inc. AN

obligations was based on the fair value of shares transferred.
Differences between the original cost of the shares to the Employee
Benefits Trust and the fair market value of shares transferred were
charged or credited to capital in excess of par value, During fiscal
2006, the remaining shares held in the Employee Benefits Trust
were used for employee stock option exercises and the Employee
Benefits Trust was terminated.

Note 15
Stock-Based Compensation

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment,
(“SFAS 123R™}, effective April 1, 2006 using the modified prospec-
tive method. Under the modified prospective method, stock-based
compensation recognized since the date of adoption includes: (a)
any share-based payments granted subsequent to the date of adop-
tion; and (b) any portien of share-based payments granted prior
to the date of adoption that vests subsequent to the date of adop-
tion. Based on the effective date of the adoption of SFAS 123R, no
stock-based compensation expense was recognized in fiscal 2006.

{In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2008 2007

Stock-based compensation
expense related to:

Stock option plans $ 12660 § 12,164
Employee Stock Purchase Plan —
aptions to purchase stock 3,969 3,281
16,629 15,445
Tax benefit (5,282) (4,589)
Stock-based compensation expense,
net of tax $ 11,347 $ 10,856

Prior Period Pro Forma Earnings

The following table presents the effect on net earnings and
earnings per share as if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, in fiscal 2006:

{frt thousands, except per share antounts)

Year Ended March 31, 2006
Net earnings, as reported $ 123,551
Deduct: Total stock-based ernployee compensation expense
determined under fair value based methods for all awards,
net of related tax effects (8.035)
Pro forma net earnings $ 115,516
Earnings per share:
Basic — as reported $ 1.61
Basic — pro forma 3 1,51
Diluted — as reported $ 1.57
Diluted — pro forma $ 1.47
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2006 Equity Incentive Plan

At the Company’s August 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
the stockhoiders approved the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2006 Equity Plan”). The 2006 Equity Plan replaced both the
Company’s 1997 Stock Option Plan for employees and the 1997
Directors’ Stock Option Plan. Shares subject to outstanding stock
options that terminate, expire or are canceled without having been
exercised and stock options available for grant under the prior
stock option plans were carried forward to the 2006 Equity Plan.
Future grants of stock options to employees and directors will only
be issued from the 2006 Equity Plan to the extent that shares are
available for issuance. At March 31, 2008, a total of 11.8 million
shares were authorized under the 2006 Equity Plan and
predecessor plans, of which 3.5 million shares of common stock
were available for issuance under the 2006 Equity Plan.

Stock options granted prior to fiscal 2007 vest 25% annually and
have a maximum term of ten years. Stock options granted in fiscal
2007 and 2008 alse vest 25% annually and have a maximum term
of eight years.

Fair Value

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing medel to
determine the fair value of stock options under SFAS 123R, which
is consistent with that used for pro forma disclosures in prior
periods. The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock
options granted during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006 was $15.27, $13.75 and $%.35, respectively. The following
assumptions were used by the Company in valuing the stock
optien grants issued in each fiscal year:

Fiscal 2008  Fiscal 2007  Fiscal 2006
Expected volatility 30.8% 36.2% 35.3%
Expected dividend yield 0.82% 0.80% 0.83%
Expected term 5.6 years 5.4 years 6.4 years
Risk-free interest rate 4.7% 5.0% 3.9%

The expected volatility assumption used in valuing stock options
was determined based on anticipated changes in the underlying
stock price over the expected term using historical daily changes of
the Company’s closing stock price. The expected dividend yield
was based on the Company’s history and expectation of future
dividend payouts. The expected term represents the period of time
that the options are expected to be outstanding prior to exercise or
forfeiture. The expected term was determined based on historical
exercise patterns. The risk-free interest rate was based on U.S.
Treasury rates in effect at the time of grant commensurate with the
expected term.
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Summary of Stock Option Activity
The following table surmmarizes the stock option activity during
the three years ended March 31, 2008:

Weighted-
Average  Aggregate
Number of Exercise Intrinsic
Stock Price Value
Options Per Share  (in thousands)
Quistanding at March 31, 2005 7,363,301 $ 1495
Granted 1,063,200 $ 2430
Exercised (1,337,944) $ 1473
Forfeited (94,739) 3 17.86
Cuistanding at March 31, 2006 6,993,818 § 16.37 § 158,900
Granted 991,440 $ 36.19
Exercised {967,590)" § 1591
Forfeited {134,694) $ 26.09
Outstanding at March 31, 2007 6,882,974 $ 19.12 § 158,515
Granted 1,082,550 $ 4394
Exercised {1,238,457) $ 16.46
Forfeited (94,364) $ 3218
QOutstanding at March 31, 2008 6,632,703 § 2352 § 145,588
Vested or expected to vest as of
March 31, 2008 6,062,291 $ 2352 % 133,067
Exercisable as of
March 31, 2008 4,325,724 $ 1717 5122418

{1) Actual shares issued associated with stack oplion exercises was 960 thousand due to a net
share issue exercise.

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the
Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of each fiscal
year and the weighted-average exercise price multiplied by the
number of stock options outstanding as of that date. The total
intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended
March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $37 million, $22.7 million and
$19.5 million, respectively. The weighted-average remaining
contractual term of stock options outstanding as of March 31,
2008 was 5.13 years. In fiscal 2008 and 2007, the Company issued
new shares of common stock to satis{y stock option exercises. In
fiscal 2006, a combinatton of new shares and treasury stock was
used to satisfy stock option exercises. Common stock to be issued
in conjunction with future stock option exercises will be obtained
from either new shares or shares from treasury stock. Common
stock held as treasury stock may be funded from time to time
through stock purchases under the Company’s Repurchase Plan
(see Note 14(e)).

As of March 31, 2008, 520 million of total unrecognized
compensation expense related to non-vested stock options is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average vesting peried
of 1.7 years.
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The Company’s Employee St
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an
ock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP™)

encourages and assists employees in acquiring an equity interest in
the Company. The ESPP is authorized to issue up to 3.5 million

, shares of Company common
were available for issuance a

Under the terms of the ESPP,
to 15% of their annual gross

stock, of which 1.4 million shares
March 31, 2008.

eligible employees may elect to have up
earnings withheld to purchase commen

Airgas, Inc. L

Note 16
Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, consists of:

stock at 85% of the market value. Employee purchases are limited in
any calendar year to an aggregate market value of $25,000. Market
value under the ESPP is defined as cither the closing share price on
the New York Stock Exchange as of an employee’s enrollment date or
the closing price on the first l?usiness day of a fiscal quarter when
the shares are purchased, whichever is lower. An employee may lock-
in a purchase price for up to 12 months. The ESPP effectively

resets at the beginning of each fiscal year at which time employees
are re-enrolled in the plan and a new 12-month purchase price is
established. The ESPP is desiéned to comply with the requirements
of Sections 421 and 423 of the Internal Revenue Code,

Compensation expense under SFAS 123R is measured based on the
fair value of the employees’ option to purchase shares of common
stock at the grant date and is recognized over the future periods in
which the related employee service is rendered. The fair value per
share of optiens granted umlier the ESPP in fiscal 2008, 2007 and
2006 was $9.61, $8.30 and $5.57, respectively. The fair value of the
employees’ option to purchase shares of common stock was
estimated using the Black-Scholes model. The following
assumptions were used by the Company in valuing the employees’

option to purchase shares ofjcommon stock under the ESPP:

Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2006

T
Expected volatility ;23‘6% 30.8% 27.1%
Expected dividend yield D.86% 0.73% 0.90%
Expected term 31012 months 2 to 8 months 3 to 12 months
Risk-free interest rate | 5.00% 5.0% 3.1%

The following table summarizes the activity of the ESPP during
the three years ended March|31, 2008:

Weighted-
Average  Aggregate
Number of Exercise Intrinsic
Purchase Price Value

Options Per Share  (In thousands)

Quistanding at March 31, 2005 136,358 % 18.45
Granted 533,245 § 20.33
Exercised (531,916) § 19.80

Outstanding at March 31, 2006 137,687 3 2050 § 2,560
Granted 395,587 3 31.10

\ Exercised (430,519) § 27.76

Qutstanding at March 31, 2007 102,755 § 3086 % 1,160
Granted 412,917 % 36.00
Exercised (407,038) § 34.62

Qutstanding at March 31, 2008 108,634 § 36.21 % 1,006

{In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006
Interest expense § 92,584 $ 62,095 $ 55,740
Interest and finance charge
{income) (2,724) (1,915 {1,928)
$ 89,860 $ 60,180 $ 53,812

Note 17
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings by
the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s common
stock outstanding during the period. Qutstanding shares consist of
issued shares less treasury stock. Diluted earnings per share is cal-
culated by dividing net earnings by the weighted average common
shares outstanding adjusted for the dilutive effect of common
stock equivalents related to stock options. For periods prior to the
July 3, 2007 National Welders Exchange Transaction, the calcula-
tion of diluted earnings per share assumed the conversion of
National Welders’ preferred stock to Airgas common stock.

Outstanding stock options that are anti-dilutive are excluded from
the Company’s diluted computation. There were approximately 1.3
million, 780 thousand and 3 thousand outstanding stock options
that were not dilutive at March 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.
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The table below presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:

(Tnt thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006 |

Basic Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 223,348 $ 154416 $ 127,515
Loss from discontinued operations — — (1,424)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — (2,540)
Net earnings g 223,348 % 154,416 £ 123,551
Denominator:
Basic shares outstanding 81,402 78,025 76,624
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 274 $ 1.98 $ 1.66
Basic loss per share from discontinued operations — — (0.02)
Basic loss from the cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle _ — {0.03)
Basic net earnings per share 5 2.74 $ 1.98 $ 1.61
Years Ended March 3%, 2008 @ 20074 2006

Diluted Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 223,348 $ 154,416 $ 127,515
Plus: Preferred stock dividends 711 2,845 2,845
Plus: Income taxes on earnings of National Welders 245 1,166 730
Income from continuing operations assuming preferred

stock conversion 224,304 158,427 131,090
Loss from discontinued operations — — (1,424)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — (2,540)
Net earnings assuming preferred stock conversion $ 224,304 5 158,427 $ 127,126
Denominator:
Basic shares outstanding 81,402 78,025 76,624
Incremental shares from assumed conversians;

Stock options 2,242 2,214 2,201
Preferred stock of National Welders 591 2,327 2,327

Diluted shares cutstanding 84,235 82,566 81,152
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 2.66 3 1.92 $ 1.62
Diluted loss per share from discontinued operations e e (0.02)
Diluted loss from the cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle — — (0.03)
Diluted net earnings per share 3 2.66 $ 1.92 $ 1.57

{1} Prior to the July 3, 2007 National Welders Exchange Transaction, the preferred stockholders of National Welders had the option to exchange their 3.2 million preferred shares of Naticnal Welders either
for cash at a price of $17.78 per share or for approximately 2.3 million shares of Airgas common stock. If Airgas common stock had a markez value of $24.45 per share or greater, exchange of the pre-
ferred stock was assumed because it provided greater value to the preferrad stockholders. Based on the assumed exchange of the preferred stock for Airgas common stock, the 2.3 million shares were
included in the diluted shares outstanding.

The National Welders preferred stockholders earned a 5% dividend, recognized as “Minority interest in earnings of consclidated affiliate.” Upon the exchange of the preferred stock for Airgas comman
stock, the dividend would no longer be paid 10 the preferred stockholders, resulting in additional net earnings for Airgas. Far the periods In which the exchange was assumed, the 5% preferred stock div-
idend was added back to net eamings in the diluted earnings per share computation.
For periods prior to the Naticnal Welders Exchange Transaction, the earnings of National Welders for tax purposes were treated as a deemed dividend to Airgas, net of an 80% dividend exclusion. Upon
the exchange of National Welders preferred stock for Airgas comman stock, National Wetders would become a 100% owned subsidiary of Airgas. As a 100% cwned subsidiary, the net earnings of
National Welders would not be subject to additional tax at the Airgas level. For periods in which the exchange was assumed, the additional tax was added back to net earnings in the diluted earnings per
share computation.

{2} The diluted eamings per share computation for the year ended March 31, 2008 incluges the effect of the items described in (1) above, weighted to reflect the impact of the National Welders Exchange
Transaction.
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Note 18
Leases

The Company leases certain distribution facilities, fleet vehicles
and equipment under long term operating leases with varying
terms. Most leases contain renewal options and in some instances,
purchase options. Rentals under these long term leases for the years
ended March 31, 2008, 2007,£and 2006, amounted to approximately
$88 million, $71 million, and $68 million, respectively. Certain
operating facilities are leased!at market rates from employees of the
Company who were previous owners of businesses acquired.
QOutstanding capital lease oblligations and the related capital assets
are not material to the consolidated balance sheets at March 31,
2008 and 2007, Associated with the fleet vehicle operating leases,
the Company guarantees a residual value of $29 million,
representing approximately 17% of the original cost.

At March 31, 2008, future minimum lease payments under non-
cancelable operating leases were as follows:

(In thousands)

Years Ending March 31,

2009 $ 76,530

2010 62,950

201 66,177

2012 39,302

2013 23,444

Thereafter 24,385
$ 292,799

Airgas, Inc. EXg

Note 19
Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Legal

The Company is involved in various legal and regulatory
proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business
and have not been fully adjudicated. These actions, when
ultimately concluded and determined, will not, in the opinion of
management, have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

(b) Insurance Coverage

The Company has established insurance programs to cover
workers’ compensation, business automobile, and general liability
claims. During fiscal 2008 and 2007, these programs had self-
insured retention of $1 million per occurrence. During fiscal 2006,
the Company’s self-insured retention was $500 thousand per
occurrence with an additional aggregate retention of $2.2 million
for claims in excess of $500 thousand. For fiscal 2009, the self-
insured retention will remain $1 million per occurrence with no
additional aggregate retention. The Company believes its
insurance reserves are adequate. The Company accrues estimated
losses using actuarial models and assumptions based on historical
loss experience. The nature of the Company’s business may subject
it to product and general liability lawsuits, To the extent that the
Company is subject te claims that exceed its liability insurance
coverage, such suits could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which
provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under the
plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not
reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an
estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,
same of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-
insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience
changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan
participants and an aging employee base.

(<) Supply Agreements

The Company purchases bulk quantities of industrial gases under
long-term take-or-pay supply agreements. The Company is a party
to a long-term take-or-pay supply agreement, in effect through
August 2017, under which Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. ("Air
Products”) will supply the Company with bulk nitrogen, oxygen
and argon. Additionally, the Company has commitments to pur-
chase helium and hydrogen from Air Products under the terms of
the take-or-pay supply agreement. The Company is committed to
purchase approximately $50 million annually in bulk gases under
the Air Products supply agreement. The Company also has long-
term take-or-pay supply agreements with Linde to purchase
oxygen, nitrogen, argon, helium and acetylene. The agreements
expire at various dates through July 2019 and represent almost $30
million in annual butk gas purchases. Additionally, the Company
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has long-term take-or-pay supply agreements to purchase oxygen,
nitrogen and argon from other major producers. Annual purchases
under these contracts are approximately $16 million and they
expire at various dates through 2024, The annual purchase com-
mitments above reflect estimates based on fiscal 2008 purchases.

The Company also purchases liquid carbon dioxide and ammonia
under take-or-pay supply agreements. The Company is a party to
long-term tzke-or-pay supply agreements for the purchase of
liquid carbon dioxide with approximately 15 suppliers that expire
at various dates through 2044 and represent approximately $17
million in annual purchases. The Company purchases ammonia
from a variety of sources. With one of those sources, the Company
has an open minimum purchase commitment of approximately
$22 million under a supply agreement. The term of the agreement
is through December 31, 2008 and automatically renews for
successive one-year terms unless terminated by either party upon
180 days written notice. The annual purchase commitments reflect
estimates based on fiscal 2008 purchases.

The supply agreements noted above contain periodic pricing
adjustments based on certain economic indices and market analy-
ses. The Company believes the minimum product purchases under
the agreements are well within the Company’s normal product pur-
chases. Actual purchases in future periods under the supply
agreements could differ materially from those presented above due
to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying sales lev-
els as well as changes in economic conditions. The Company
believes that, if a long-term supply agreement with a major supplier
of gases or other raw materials was terminated, it would look to
utilize excess internal production capacity and to locate alternative
sources of supply to meet customer requirements. The Company
purchases hardgoods from major manufacturers and suppliers. For
certain products, the Company has negotiated national purchasing
arrangements. The Company believes that if an arrangement with
any supplier of hardgoods was terminated, it would be able to
negotiate comparable alternative supply arrangements.

{d) Construction Commitments

At March 31, 2008, the Company’s remaining construction
commitments totaled approximately $47 million. Construction
commitments represent outstanding commitments to customers
to build and operate air separation plants in New Carlisle, IN and
Carrollton, KY, and construct a beverage grade liquid carbon
dioxide plant in Deer Park, TX, which is expected to be completed
in early calendar year 2009.

{e) Letters of Credit

At March 31, 2008, the Company had outstanding letters of credit
of approximately $35 million. Letters of credit are guarantees of
payment to third parties. The Company’s letters of credit
principally back obligations associated with the Company’s self-
insured retention on workers’ compensation, automobile and
general liability claims. The letters of credit are supported by the
Company’s Credit Facility.
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Note 20
Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “401(k)
plan”) covering substantially all full time employees. Under the
terms of the 401(k) plan, the Company makes matching
contributions up to two percent of participant’s wages. Amounts
expensed under the 401(k) plan for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006
were $6.9 million, $5.8 million and $5.5 million, respectively.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in multi employer
pension and post-retirement plans, which provide defined benefits
to union employees. Contributions are made to the plans in
accordance with negotiated labor contracts. If the Company
elected to withdraw from these plans at March 31, 2008, the
withdrawal liability would have been approximately $8.7 million.
Amounts expensed under the pension plans for fiscal 2008, 2007
and 2006 were $1.3 million, $1.2 million and $1.3 million,
respectively.

Note 21
Related Parties

The Company purchases and sells goods and services in the
ordinary course of business with certain corporations in which
some of its directors are officers. The Company also leases certain
operating facilities from employees who were previous owners of
businesses acquired. The amounts of these transactions are not
material to the Company.

Minority Stockholder Note Prepayment

In the first quarter of fiscal 2006, National Welders, a consolidated
affiliate in fiscal 2006, entered into an agreement with its preferred
stockholders under which the preferred stockholders prepaid their
$21 million note payable owed to National Welders. National
Welders used the proceeds from the prepayment of the preferred
stockhelders’ note to repay its $21 million term loan, which had
been collateralized by the preferred stockholders’ note.
Additionally, the term loan was subject to an interest rate swap
agreement, which was terminated in conjunction with the debt
repayment. The fee of $700 thousand to unwind the interest rate
swap agreement was reimbursed to National Welders by the

preferred stockholders.
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Note 22
Supplemental Cash Flow|Information

Cash Paid for Interest and Taxes
Cash paid for interest and income taxes was as follows:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006
Interest paid $) 93450 § 72,418 § 56,361
Discount on securitization | 17,031 13,630 9,371
tncome taxes {net of refunds) : 52,254 50,021 21,641

Significant Non-cash Investing and Financing Transactions

In connection with the National Welders Exchange Transaction (see
Note 13), the Company issued 2.471 million shares of commen
stock valued at approximately|$64 million in a non-cash transaction
in exchange for the preferred stock of National Welders.

In an acquisition consummated during fiscal year 2008, a seller of
a business provided direct ﬁnlancing in the form of a $5 million
note payable by the Compan)? Payment of the note will be
reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows when the
cash is paid. In addition, the Company assumed capital lease
obligations of $1.8 million inlconnection with an acquisition.

in March 2008, the Companyjexecuted a $4.6 million purchase

transaction of its common stock under its Repurchase Plan (see
Note 14(e)) that settled in Aplril 2008. The purchase was a non-

cash financing transaction that was recognized in treasury stock
and as an accrued lability on|the March 31, 2008 Consolidated

Balance Sheet.

During fiscal year 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company purchased
$13.7 million, $5.3 million and $5.6 million, respectively of rental
welders, which were financed directly by a vendor. The vendor
financing was reflected as debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Future cash payments in settlr.l’.ment of the debt will be reflected in
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows when paid.
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Note 23
Summary by Business Segment

The Company aggregates its operations, based on products and
services, into two reportable business segments, Distribution and
All Other Operations. The Distribution business segment’s princi-
pal products include industrial, medical and specialty gases sold in
packaged and less than truck load bulk quantities. Business units
in the Distribution business segment also recognize rental revenue
and distribute hardgoods. Gas sales include nitrogen, oxygen,
argon, helium, hydrogen, welding and fuel gases such as acetylene,
propylene and propane, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, ultra high
purity grades, special application blends and process chernicals.
Rent is derived from gas cylinders, ¢ryogenic liquid containers,
bulk storage tanks, tube trailers and through the rental of welding
and welding related equipment. Gas and rent represented 54%,
52% and 52% of the Distribution business segment’s sales in each
of the fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Hardgoods
consist of welding consumables and equipment, safety products,
and MRO supplies. In each of the fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006,
hardgoods sales represented 46%, 48% and 48%, respectively, of
the Distribution business segment’s sales. During fiscal years 2008,
2007 and 2006, the Distribution business segment accounted for
approximately 84% of consolidated sales.

The All Other Operations business segment consists of the
Company’s Gas Operations Division, the newly formed Airgas
Merchant Gases and National Welders. The Gas Operations
Division produces and distributes certain gas products, principally
carbon dioxide, dry ice, nitrous oxide, anhydrous ammeonia,
refrigerants, and specialty gases. Airgas Merchant Gases produces
oxygen, nitrogen, and argon, most of which is supplied to business
units in the Distribution business segment. National Welders
produces and distributes industrial, medical and specialty gases
and hardgoods primarily throughout North and South Carolina.
The business units reflected in the All Other Operations business
segment individually are not material enough to meet the
thresholds to be reported as separate business segments. The
elimination entries represent intercompany sales from the
Company’s All Other Operations business segment Lo its
Distribution business segment.

The Company’s operations are predominantly in the United States.
However, the Company does conduct operations outside of the
United States, principally in Canada and to a lesser extent Mexico,
Russia and Dubai. Revenues derived from foreign countries are
based on the point of sale and were $63 million, $51 million and
$45 million in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively. Long-lived assets attributable to the Company’s
foreign operations represent less than 2.5% of the consolidated
total long-lived assets and were $74 million, $56 million, and $49
million at March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
Company’s customer base is diverse with no single customer
accounting for more than 0.5% of total net sales.
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The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those All Other

described in the Summary OfSigniﬁcant Accounting Policies {Int thousands) Distribution  Operations  Eliminations Combined
(Note 1). Additionally, corporate operating expenses are allocated Fiscal 2006

to each segment based on sales dollars. Corporate assets have been Gas and remt $1,238,612 § 415,560 § (54,242} $1,599,930
alfocated to the Distribution segment, intercompany sales are Hardgoods 1,157,326 77.870 {5.516) 1,229,680

recorded on the same basis as sales to third parties, and Total net sales 2.395.938 493430 (59.758) 2,823,610

intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. See

. A . Cost of products
Note 3 for the impact of acquisitions and divestitures on the

. , sold, excluding
operating results of each business segment. deprec, expense 1,223,435 238,304 (59,758) 1,401,978
Selling, distribution

Management utilizes more than one measurement and multiple S
and administrative

views of data to measure segment performance and to allocate

expenses B64,192 167,140 — 1,031,332
resources to the segments. However, the dominant measurements Depreciation 95,615 26,781 — 122,39
are consistent with the Company’s consolidated financial Amortization 4,230 516 — 5.146
statements and, accordingly, are reported on the same basis below. Operating income $ 208466 $ 60,292 3 — $ 268,758
All Other Assets $1,931,205 § 543,207 $2.474,412
{In thousands) Distribution  Operations  Eliminations Combined Capital expenditures $ 170,429 $ 38,174 { 208,603
Fiscal 2008
Gas and rent $1,807,663 $ 724,059 § (159,293) 32,372,429
Hardgoods 1,536,401 115,698 {7,504) 1,644,595
Total net sales 3,344,064 839,757 (166,797) 4,017,024

Cost of products

sold, excluding

deprec. expense 1,672,181 421,042 (166,797} 1,926,426
Selling, distribution

and administrative

expenses 1,141,032 283,645 —  1,4248677
Depreciation 132,300 43,502 — 175,802
Amortization 10,451 3,522 _— 13,973
Operating income $ 383,100 3 88046 % — § 476,146
Assets $2,992,018 $ 987,243 $3,979,261
Capital expenditures $ 186445 § 80,933 $ 267,378
All Other
(In thousands) Distribution  Operations  Eliminations Combined
Fiscal 2007
| Gas and rent $1,399,186 § 485,209 § (60,934) $1,823,461
Hardgoods 1,292,628 94,462 {5,500) 1,381,590
Total net sales 2,691,814 579,671 (66,434) 3,205,051

|

|

| Cost of products

| sold, excluding

| deprec. expense 1,355,367 278,157 (66,434} 1,567,090
| Selling, distribution

| and administrative

expenses 953,858 195,308 — 1,149,166

Depreciation 109,455 29,363 - 138,818
Amortizaticn 6,426 2,009 — 8,525
Operating income $ 2656708 § 74,744 % — $ 341,452
Assets $2,401,500 § 931,957 $3,333,457
Capital expenditures § 191,260 § 47,014 § 238274
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Management's Discussion and Analysis continued

Airgas, 'nc. and Subsidiaries

Note 24

" Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

This table summarizes the unaudited results of operations for each
quarter of fiscal 2008 and 2007:

(In thousands, except

per share amounts) First Second Third Fourth
2008 |
- Met sales 3 9]5,099 $1,007,283 $1,008,045 $1,086,597
‘ Operating income 1 1|1,237 115,389 118,475 131,045
Net earnings® 51,720 50,609 56,806 64,213
. Basic earnings |
per share ™ $ '065 % 0.62 § 069 % 0.78
" Diluted earnings i
" pershare®® s loess o608 0678 076
2007
Net sales $ 7'[3,036 $ 790,747 % 787,407 $ 853,861
Cperating income 71‘8,906 84,263 85,330 92,953
Net earnings © 38,652 39,547 32,483 43,734
Basic earnings
per share @ $ 050 § 0.51 % 042 % 0.56
Diluted earnings
per share ® $ 0.48 § 049 % 040 $ 0.54

a) Earnings per share calculations fur each of the quarters are based on the weighted average
number of shares outstanding in each guarter. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings per
share does not necessarily equal thie full year earnings per share disclosed on the Censolidated
Statement of Earnings.

b)  The quarterly results for fiscal 2008 include a ene-time, non-cash expense in the second fiscal
quanter of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted share, refated to the National Welders Exchange
Transaction through which the joint venture became a 100% owned subsidiary and a tax ben-
efit in the third fiscal quarter of $1.3 million, or $0.01 per diluted share, related to a change in
Texas state income {ax law.

¢} The quarterly results for fiscal 2007 include a tax benefit in the first fiscal quarter of $1.8 mil-
tion, or $0.02 per diluted share, related to a change in the Texas state income tax law and a
charge of $12,1 million (57.9 million after tax), or approximately $0.10 per dltuted share, in the
fiscal third quarter for the early extinguishment of debt.

Airgas, Inc. AL

Note 25
Subsequent Event

On May 20, 2008 the Company announced that its Board of
Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.12 per
share. The dividend is payable June 30, 2008 to stockholders of
record as of June 12, 2008.

Note 26
Condensed Consolidating Financial Information
of Subsidiary Guarantors

The obligations of the Company under its 2004 Notes are
guaranteed by the Company’s domestic subsidiaries (the
“Guarantors”). The guarantees are made fully and unconditionally
on a joint and several basis. The Company’s foreign holdings and
bankruptcy remote special purpose entity (the “Non-guarantors”)
are not guarantors of the 2004 Notes. The claims of creditors of
Non-guarantor subsidiaries have priority over the rights of the
Company to receive dividends or distributions from such
subsidiaries.

Presented below is supplementary condensed consolidating finan-
cial information for the Company, the Guarantors and the
Non-guarantors as of March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007 and for
each of the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. The
accounting policies of the subsidiary guarantors are the same as
those described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(see Note 1). As disclosed in Note 13, National Welders, which was
previously classified as a Non-guarantor in the condensed consoli-
dating financial information, became a 100% owned subsidiary of
the Company and, with the October 31, 2007 execution of a sup-
plemental indenture to the 2004 Notes, National Welders became a
guarantor. Accordingly, the March 31, 2008 balance sheet, state-
ment of earnings and cash flows of National Welders are reflected
with the Guarantors in the condensed consolidating financial
information below. Additionally, the condensed consolidating
information for periods prior to Qctober 31, 2007 has been
restated to also reflect the balance sheet, statement of earnings and
cash flows of National Welders as a Guarantor. On the Condensed
Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended

March 31, 2007 and 2006, “Advances to subsidiaries,” previously
reflected as cash used by financing activities in “Changes in due
toffrom parent,” have been adjusted to be reflected as cash used in
investing activities. The adjustment had no impact on the liquidity
available to support the 2004 Notes,
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Airgas, Inc. LIk

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

Airgas, In¢. and Subsidiaries

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2008 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
Assets
Current Assets
Cash $ — $ 40,397 $ 2,651 ) — $ 43,048
Trade receivables, net — 11,405 172,164 — 183,569
Intercompany receivable {payable) — (2,385) 2,385 — —
Inventories, net — 322,090 8,642 —_ 330,732
Deferred income tax asset, net 11,399 12,995 (2,136) — 22,258
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 17,092 40,408 1,607 — 59,107
Total current assets 28,491 424,910 185,313 — 638,714
Plant and equipment, net 15,213 2,135,949 43,708 — 2,194,870
Goodwill — 951,650 17,409 — 969,059
Other intangible assets, net — 148,105 893 — 148,998
Investments in subsidiaries 2,992,576 - — (2,992,576) —
Other non-current assets 16,121 9,181 2,318 — 27,620
Total assets $3,052,401 $ 3,669,795 $ 249,641 ${2,992,576) $3,979,261

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable, trade $ 5,740 $ 174,498 $ 4,873 $ — $ 185111
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 103,533 174,813 2,534 — 280,880
Current portion of long-term debt 30,000 9,162 1,238 — 40,400

Total current liabilities 139,273 358,473 8,645 — 506,391
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,497,000 16,953 25,695 — 1,539,648
Deferred income tax liability, net (33,481) 462,857 10,406 — 439,782
Intercompany (receivable) payable 450 106,971 (107,421) — —
Other non-current liabilities 35,823 39,400 4,881 — 80,104

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, no par value — — — — _

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share 841 — — — 841
Capital in excess of par value 468,302 1,502,919 8,224 (1,511,143) 468,302
Retained earnings 983,663 1,180,816 292,065 (1,472,881) 983,663
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (4,713) 1,776 7,146 (8,922) (4,713)
Treasury stock (34,757) (370} — 370 (34,757
Total stockholders' equity 1,413,336 2,685,141 307,435 (2,992,576) 1,413,336
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $3,052,401% $ 3,669,795 $ 249,641 $(2,992,576) $ 3,979,261
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Airgas, Inc. Ak

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2007 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
Assets
Current Assets
Cash b — $ 25249 b 682 $ — $ 25931
Trade receivables, net — 35,799 157,865 — 193,664
Intercompany receivable {payable) — 1,177 (1,177) — —
Inventories, net — 243,222 7,086 — 250,308
Deferred income tax asset, net 22,342 12,621 (3,959) — 31,004
Prepaid expenses and other|current assets 17,878 30,876 {162) —_— 48,592
Total current assets 40,220 348,944 160,335 — 549,49%
Plant and equipment, net 15,990 1,817,558 31,870 — 1,865,418
Goodwill — 818,117 14,045 — 832,162
Other intangible assets, net — 62,664 27 —_ 62,935
tnvestments in subsidiaries 2,558,871 — — (2,558,871) —
Other non-current assets 8,408 14,962 73 — 23,443
Total assets $2,623,489 $3,062,245 $ 206,594 ${2,558,871} $3,333.457
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable, trade 3 849 $ 141,361 $ 4,175 $ — § 146,385
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 89,651 145,671 5,953 —_ 241,275
Current portion of long-term debt 30,000 9,567 729 — 40,296
Total current liabilities 120,500 296,599 10,857 — 427,956
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,198,400 91,935 14,384 — 1,308,719
Deferred income tax liability, net {3,704} 370,212 6,738 — 373,246
Intercompany {receivable) payable 176,448 (93,268) (83,180) — —
QOther non-current liabilities 6,463 29,966 3,534 —_ 39,963
Minority interest in affiliate -— 57,191 — — 57,191
Commitments and contingencies
Stockhalders’ Equity
Preferred stock, no par value — — — — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share 799 — — - 799
Capital in excess of par value 341,101 1,358,547 8221 {1,366,768) 341,101
Retained earnings 792,433 950,952 237,466 (1,188,458) 792,433
Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,183 4413 3,574 (4,015) 4,183
Treasury stock (13,134) (370} — 370 {13,134)
Total stockholders’ equity 1,125,382 2,309,610 249,261 (2,558,871) 1,125,382
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $2,623,489 $3,062,245 $ 206,594 $(2,558,871) $3,333,457
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Airgas, Inc. ]

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(In thousands) Mon- Elimination
March 31, 2008 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
Net Sales 3 — $3,972,305 $ 44719 $ — $4,017,024

Costs and Expenses
Cost of products sold

{excluding depreciation) — 1,914,414 12,012 — 1,926,426
Selling, distribution and

administrative expenses 2N 1,393,594 32,812 — 1,424,677
Depreciation 4,685 167,196 3,921 — 175,802
Amortization 16 13,927 30 — 13,973

Operating Income (Loss) (4,972} 485,174 (4,056) — 476,146

Interest expense, net (88,363} (332} (1,165) — (89,860)
(Discount) gain on securitization

of trade receivables _— (104,174) 87,143 — (17,031}
Other income {expense), net (380) (120) 2,007 —_ 1,507
Earnings {loss) before income

taxes and minority interest (93,715) 380,548 83,929 — 370,762
Income tax benefit (expense) 35,195 (150,051) (29,328} — (144,184)
Minarity interest in earnings of

consolidated affiliate (2,519) (711) — —_ (3,230
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 284,387 — — {(284,387) —

Net Earnings § 223,348 § 229,786 $ 54,601 $ (284,387) $ 223,348

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2007 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
Net Sales 3 — $3,168,232 $ 36819 $ — $3,205.051

Costs and Expenses
Cost of products sold

(excluding depreciation) — 1,556,110 10,980 — 1,567,090
Selling, distribution and
administrative expenses 6,593 1,117,928 24,645 — 1,149,166
Depreciation 6,074 129,656 3,088 — 138,818
Amortization — 8,525 — — 8,525
Operating Income {Loss) (12,667) 356,013 (1,894) — 341,452
Interest (expense) income, net (74,369) 15,315 (1,126} — (60,180}
{Discount} gain on securitization
of trade receivables —_ (81,487) 67,857 — (13,630)
Loss on the extinguishment of debt (12,099) — -_ — (12,099)
Other income (expense), net (82) {688) 2.31 — 1,601
Earnings (toss) before income
taxes and minority interest (99,217) 289,153 67,208 — 257,144
Income tax benefit (expense) 34,555 (110,978) (23,460) — (99,883)
Minority interest in earnings of
consolidated affiliate — (2,845) o — {2,845}
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 219,078 — — (219,078} —
Net Earnings § 154,416 $ 175,330 $ 43,748 $ (219,078} $ 154,416
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Airgas, Inc. ALK

) (In thousands) Non- Elimination
~ March 31, 2006 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
« Net Sales $ — $2,796,460 $ 33,150 $ — $2,829,610
Costs and Expenses
Cost of products sold
(excluding depreciation) — 1,392,632 9,346 — 1,401,978
Selling, distribution and
administrative expenses 24,135 980,187 27,010 — 1,031,332
Depreciation 7,518 111,904 2,974 — 122,396
Amortization — 5,146 — — 5,146
Operating Income (Loss} {31,653) 306,591 (6,180) — 268,758
Interest (expense) income, net (72,767} 19,749 (794) — {53,812)
(Discount) gain on securitization
of trade receivables — (73,990} 64,619 — (9,371)
Other inceme (expense), net 19,784 (17,101) (221} — 2,462
tarnings (loss) before income
taxes and minority interest (84,636) 235,249 57,424 — 208,037
Income tax benefit (expense) 29,623 (87,3%0) {20,099} - (77,866}
Minority interest in earnings of
consolidated affiliate — (2,656) — — (2,656}
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 178,564 — — (178,564) —
Loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax — (1,424} — — (1,424)
Cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle, net of tax — (2,540} — — (2,540)
Net Earnings $ 123,551 $ 141,239 $ 37,325 $ (178,564) $ 123,551
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Airgas, Inc. il
Condensed Consclidating Statement of Cash flows
Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2008 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in}
operating activities $(33,482) $ 547,867 $ 35,50 $ — $ 549,926

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (3,910) (255,264) (8,204) e (267,378)
Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 6 8,592 747 — 9,345
Business acquisitions and holdback settlements — {480,096} — — {480,096)
Other, net {18} 7,398 (8,696) — (1,316)
Advances to subsidiaries, net (262,684} — — 262,684 —
Net cash used in investing activities (266,606} (719,370) {16,153) 262,684 (739,445}

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 1,132,610 19,565 10,277 — 1,162,452
Repayment of debt (831,166) {119,127) (3,456) — (953,749)
Purchase of treasury stock (17,010 — — — {17,010)
Minority interest in earnings — (717} — — (711)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 20,381 — — — 20,381
Stock issued for the employee stock

purchase plan 14,091 — — — 14,091
Tax benefit realized from

the exercise of stock options 13,327 — — — 13,327
Dividends paid to stockhelders {31,828) — — — (31,828)
Change in cash overdraft (317) — . — (317)
Changes in due to/from parent — 286,923 (24,239 (262,684) —
Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities 300,088 186,650 (17,418) (262,684) 206,636
Change in Cash 3 — $ 15,147 $ 1,970 $ — 17,117
Cash — Beginning of period — 25,250 681 — 25,931
Cash — End of period $ = $ 40,397 $ 2,651 $ — $ 43,048

68




Airgas, Inc. [HSE

" Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(In thousands} Non- Elimination
March 31, 2007 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities 3 (102,808) $ 432,677 3 {3,526) 3 — $ 326,343

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures {4,012} (228,672) (5,590) — (238,274)
Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 177 8,349 159 — 8,685
Business acquisitions and holdback settlements — (687,892) — — (687,892)
Other, net (572} 58 40 — (474)
Advances to subsidiaries, nat (462,564) — — 462,564 —
Net cash used in investing activities {466,971) (908,157) {5,391) 462,564 (917.955)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 1,480,984 95,149 1,834 — 1,577,967
Repayment of debt (926,827) (79,215) (2,144) — (1,008,186)
Financing costs (5,103) - — — {5,103)
Prerium paid on call of senior

subordinated notes (10,267) — — — (10,267}
Minority interest in earnings — (2,845) — — (2,845)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 15,107 - — — 15,107
Stock issued for the employee stock

purchase plan 11,951 — — — 11,951
Tax benefit realized from

the exercise of stock options 9,013 — — -— 9,013
Dividends paid to stockholders (21,980) — — — {21,980)
Change in cash overdraft 16,901 — —_ — 16,901
Changes in due to/from parent — 457,458 5,106 {462,564) —
Net cash provided by financing activities 569,779 470,547 4,796 (462,564) 582,558
Change in Cash $ — $ {4,933 $ {4121) 3 — $  (9,054)
Cash — Beginning of period — 30,183 4,802 — 34,985
Cash — End of period $ — § 25,250 $ 681 b3 — $ 25931
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Airgas, Inc. EQIE

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

{In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2006 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by {used in)
i operating activities §  (13,484) $ 279,525 ¢ 80,004 $ — $ 346,045

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (3,161} (199,423} (6,.019) — (208,603}
| Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 104 5,671 2,427 — 8,202
Proceeds from divestiture — 14,562 — — 14,562
Business acquisitions and holdback settlements - (153,428) — - (153,428}
Other, net 749 (498) (81) - 170
Advances to subsidiaries, net 34,111 — —_ (34,111) —
Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities 31,803 {(333,116) (3,673) (34,111) (339,097)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 478,848 87,991 1,540 - 568,379
Repayment of debt (512,718) (88,706) (5,108) o (606,532)
Purchase of treasury stock (12,771) — — — (12,771}
Minority interest in earnings — (2,656} — - (2,656)
Minority stockholder note repayment — 21,000 _ — 21,000
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 19,707 —_ —_ — 19,707
Stock issued for the employee stock

purchase plan 10,534 — — — 10,534
Dividends paid to stockholders {18,449) — — — (18,449)
Change in cash overdraft 16,530 {(345) — — 16,185
Changes in due to/from parent — 36,206 (70,317) 34,111 —
Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities {18,319) 53,490 (73,885) 34,111 (4,603)
Change in Cash % - S (101) $ 2,446 $ — $ 2,345
Cash — Beginning of period -— 30,284 2,356 — 32,640
Cash — End of period $ — $ 30,183 ) 4,802 $ — $ 34,985
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Airgas, Inc. [k

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures
{Unaudited)

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Free Cash Flow

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 203,790 $ 212,410 $ 346,045 $ 326,343 3 549,926
Plus: Proceeds from sale of plant
and equipment 5,347 5,361 8,202 8,685 9,345
Operating lease buyauts 4,011 24,130 14,558 9,509 879
Stock issued for employee stock
purchase plan 6,889 9,907 10,534 11,951 14,091
Tax benefit realized from exercise
of stock options — — — 9,013 13,327
Less: Cash provided by the securitization
of trade receivables (3,700) {27,300) (54,300) (20,200) (95,600)
Capital expenditures {93,749) (167.977) {208,603) (238,274) (267,378)
Free Cash Flow $ 122,588 $ 56,531 $ 116,436 $ 107,027 $224,690

With the July 3, 2007 Nationa! Welders Exchange Transaction, the Free Cash Flow metric was modified to include the cash flows of National Welders in aff periods for a more meaningfut presentation.

The Company believes that free cash flow provides investors meaningful insight into the Company's ability to generate cash from operations, which can be used az management’s discretion for acquisitions,
the prepayment of debt or 1o support other investing and financing activities.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures
{Unaudited)

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Reconciliation and Computation of Return on Capital

Airgas, Inc. 4k

(I thousands) :
Years Ending March 31, 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 .
Operating Income $ 168,544 $ 202,454 $ 268,758 $ 341,452 $ 476,146 !
Less: Special charge {recovery), net (776) — — —_ — I
Adjusted Operating Income $ 167,768 $ 202,454 $ 268,758 $ 341,452 $ 476,146
Five quarter average of total assets $1,776,185 $2,112,504 $2,378,324 $2,679,575 $3,710,066
Five quarter average of

securitized trade receivables 157,400 183,300 216,360 246,240 310,880
five quarter average of

current liabilities {exclusive of debt) (216,081) (269,975) {326,618) {354,623) (423,266}
Five quarter average of

investment in unconsolidated affiliates (39,793) —_ — — —
Five Quarter Average Capital Employed $1,677,711 $2,025,829 $ 2,268,066 $2,571,192 $ 3,597,680
Return on Capital 10.0% 10.0% 11.8% 13.3% 13.2%
The Cempany believes this return on capita! computation helps investers assess how effectively the Company uses the capital invested in its operations.
Quarterly averages used in the computation of return on capital above reflect the impact of material acquisitions as of their acquisition date.
Twenty Year Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted EBITDA to Cash from Operations
(In thousands}
Years Ended March 31, 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996
Operating Income $ 15958 $ 23221 $ 17,280 $ 26,316 % 34,367 $ 48667 $ 72,600 % 92,987
Add:
Depreciation & amortization 11,147 17,387 21,158 23,420 28,042 30,571 36,868 45,762
Adjusted EBITDA 27,105 40,608 38,444 49,736 62,409 79,238 109,468 138,749
{Uses)/sources of cash excluded from

Adjusted EBITDA, included in Cash
from Operations:

Interest expense, net (12,245) {16,198} (15,179) (12,838) (11,403) (12,486) (17,625) (24,862}
Discount on securitization of receivables —_ — — — — — — —
Current income taxes 404 1,700 (599) (3.591)  (5,653) (7,838y {12,345) (17,654)
Cther income, net 215 157 870 214 546 453 1,607 781
Equity in earnings of Elkem joint venture 1,415 1,435 2,009 2,019 (897) (1,258) (840) (1,428)
{Gains¥losses on divestitures — — — — - — (560) —
{Gains¥losses on sale of PP&E {32) 2 (715) (76) (292) (63} 110 (12)
Stock-based compensation expense _ - _ — — — — —
Income (loss} on discontinued operations — — — — — — — —
Other non-cash charges 260 308 252 250 — — — —
Cash provided {used) by working capital 4,379 702 6,712 15,968 13,608 6,752 (2,030) {6,948)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 21,501 § 28,714 3 31,794 § 51,682 % 58318 § 64,798 $ 77,785 § BB.626

and financial obligations.
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Cenain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements te conform to the current presentation,

The Company believes Adjusted EBITDA provides investors meaningful insight into the Company's ability 1o generate cash from operations to suppert required working capital, capital expenditures




Airgas, Inc. PLURLS

Reconciliation of Noan-GAAP Financial Measures

{Unaudited)

Airgas, Inc. and Swvbsidiaries

1997 1998 1989 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
$ 80,480 $111,709 §112/607 3105461 $106,728 §124,938 3156,336 3168,644 3202454 3268,758 $341,452 $§476,146
64,428 82,227 83,839 85,262 82,756 71,757 79,279 87,447 111,078 127,542 147,343 189,775
144,908 193,936 196]446 190,723 189,524 196,695 235615 255991 313,532 396,300 488,795 665,921
(39.367) (52,603) (59,677) (56,879) (59,5500 (46,775} (46,374) (42,357} (51,245 (53,812) (60,180} (89,860)
— — — — (1,303) (4,846} (3,326 (3,264} 4711 (9,371) {13,630y {(17,031)
(20,012) (16,502) (17,244) (16,902) (13,402) 4,546  (33174) (24,623) (22,622) (30,718) (47,972} (69,459)
1,695 9,811 29,f191 18,625 1,324 5,087 2,132 1,472 1,129 2,462 1,601 1,507
(1,356) (1,478) (|869) — — —_ — - _— — _— -
— (1,452) (25,{168) (7.2 (1.173) (5.548) 241 — (360 1,900 — —
616 (504) {222} (915) 302 405 (257) (837) (321} (1,330 39 714
— — - - — — — — — — 15,445 16,629
478 (635) (871} (335) (400} (3,529} (1,776) {457) 464 (1,424) — —
3,930 11,422 — 458 2,281 1,068 — - - — —_ -
(14,801) (13,548) (25,273) (22.686) 78,329 95,691 33,931 17,865  (23,456) 42,038  (57,755) 41,505

$ 76,091 $128447 $ 96313 § 94377 $196,132 $243,604 $187,002 $203790 $212,410 $346,045 $326,343 $549,926
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Corporate Information

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Corporate Office

259 North Radnor-Chester Road
Radnor, PA 19087-5283
Telephone: 800 255-2165

Fax; 610 687-1052

WwWw.,airgas.com
Annual Meeting

The 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Airgas, Inc, will be
held on Tuesday, August 5, 2008, at 11:00 a.m., Eastern Daylight
Time, at the Independence Seaport Museum, 211 South Columbus
Beulevard and Walnut Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106,

Financial Information

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly

Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any
amendments to those reports filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission are available free of charge
on the Company’s website (www.airgas.com) under the “Investors”
section or upon request. Requests for copies of Airgas’ publicly
filed documents and other stockholder inquiries should be
directed to:

Investor Relations Department
Airgas, Inc.

259 North Radnor-Chester Road
Radnor, PA 19087-5283
Telephone: 610 902-6206

Fax: 610 225-3271

E-mail: investor@airgas.com

Quarterly Stock Information

Dividend
High Low Per Share
Fiscal 2008
First Quarter $ 4823 $ 4149 $ 009
Second Quarter 52.05 42.31 0.09
Third Quarter 55.27 45 85 0.09
Fourth Quarter 51.01 40.24 0.12
Fiscal 2007
First Quarter 3 41.41 $ 3379 $ 007
Second Quarter 38.12 3411 0.07
Third Quarter 42.91 36.05 0.07
Fourth Quarter 42,72 39.31 0.07

Common Stock

Airgas’ common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange
under the ticker symbol: ARG. As of May 28, 2008, there were
approximately 15,200 beneficial stockholders of the Company’s
common stock, of which approximately 1,200 were stockholders
of record.
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Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

KPMG LLP
1601 Market Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103

Transfer Agent

The Bank of New York Mellon
480 Washington Boulevard
Jersey City, NJ 07310-1900

Equal Opportunity at Airgas

Airgas is committed to providing equal opportunities in the
workplace.

Forward-Looking Statements

All forward-locking statements are based on current expectations
regarding important risk factors, which include, but are not
limited to, the factors described in “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
contained in this Annual Report.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
applicable to its employees, officers and directors. The Code of
Ethics and Business Conduct is available on the Company’s
website under “Company Information.” Amendments to and
waivers from the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct will also be
disclosed promptly on the website. In addition, stockholders may
request a printed copy of the Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct, free of charge, by contacting the Company’s Investor
Relations department.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Company has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines as
well as charters for its Audit Committee and Governance and
Compensation Committee. These documents are available on the
Company’s website under “Company Information.” Stockholders
may also request a copy of these documents, free of charge, by
contacting the Company’s Investor Relations department.

Certifications

The certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
required by Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange
Listed Company Manual relating to the Company’s compliance
with the New York Stock Exchange’s Corporate Governance Listing
Standards was submitted to the New York Stock Exchange on
September 4, 2007. The Company also filed certifications of its
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to its
Annual Report on Form 10-K for each of the years ended

March 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.
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Boar%ctors ;

{from left to Right}

Richard C. 111 (3}
President and CEO
Triumph Group, Inc.

John C. van Roden, Jr. {2){4)
Former EVP and Chief Financial Qfficer
PH. Glatfelter Company

Paula A. Sneed (2)

Former EVP Global Marketing
Resources & Initiatives

Kraft Foods

William 0. Albertini (2)
Former EVP and Chief Financial Officer
Bell Atlantic Global Wireless, Inc.

Lee M. Thomas (3)
Chairman, President and CEQ
Rayonier, inc.

Peter McCausland {1}
Chairman and CEQ
Airgas, Inc.

W. Thacher Brown (1){4)
Former Chairman and President
1838 Investment Advisors, LLC

James W. Hovey (4)
President
The Fox Companies

David M. Stout (1){3)
Farmer President, Pharmaceuticals
GlaxaSmithKline

(1] Executive Commities

12) Audit Commities

3) Governance and Compensation Commitiee
14) Finance Committea
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259 North Radnor-Chester Road
Radnor, PA 19087-5283
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